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THE EARL OF DUFFERIN.

F all the many personages who have.

been sent over from Great Britain to
administer the Government in this country,
since Canada first became an appendage of
the British Crown, none has achieved so
wide a popularity as Lord Dufferin. None
of his predecessors succeeded in creating so
wide a circle of pérsonal friends, and sone
has left so many pleasant remembrances be-
hind him. Lord Dorchester was a popular
Governor, but the area over which his sway
extended was very small as compared with
the vast Dominion embraced within the pur-
view of Lord Dufferin ;. and the inhabitants
in his day were chiefly composed of the rep-
resentatives of a single nationality. Lord
Elgin was popular, but the exigencies of his
position compelled him to make bitter ene-
mies ; and while every one, at the present
day, acknowledges his great capacity and
sterling worth, there was a time yvhen'he
was subjected to grievous contumely and
shameful indignity. Lord Dufferin, on the

" other hand, won golden opinions from the

time of his first arrival in Canada, and\when

he left our shores he carried with him\sub- .

stantial tokens of the affection and goodwill
of the inhabitants. One single episode in his
administration threatened, for a brief space,

to interfere with the cordial relations be- i

tween himself and one section of the people.
His own prudence and tact, combined with
the liberality and good sense of those who

- differed from him, enabled him to tide over

mr—2

1

the critical time; and long before his de-
parture from among us he could number
most of the latter among his warm personal
friends. His Vice-Regal progresses made the
lines of his face and the tones of his voice
familiar to the inhabitants of every. Province.
Wherever he went he increased the num-
ber of his well-wishers, and won additional
respect for his personal attainments. He
identified himself with the popular sympa-
thies, and entered with a keen zest into
every question affecting the public welfare.

_He 'will long live in the memory of the ,

Canadian people as a wise administrator, an
accomplished statesman, a brilliant orator,
a genial companion, and a sincere friend
of the land which he was called upon to
govern.

. Heis descended on the paternal side, from
a Scottish gentleman named John Black--
wood, who went over from his native country
to Ireland, and settled in the county Down,
towards the close of the sixteenth century.
The family has ever since resided in that
county, and has played a not unimportant
part in the political history of Ireland. In
1763 a baronetcy was conferred upon the
then chief representative of the family, who
was conspicuous in his day and generation
ds a vehement supporter of the Whig side
in politics. In 1800 the head of the family
was, created an Irish peer, with the title of
Ba.ron Dufferin and Clandeboye. The fa-
ther of the present representative was Price,

. r,
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2 - THE EARL OF DUFFERIN.

fourth Baron, who succeeded to the title in
1839. Fourteen years prior to his accession
to the title—that is to say, in the year 1825

—this gentleman married Miss'Helen Selina-

Sheridan, a granddaughter of the Right
Hon. Richard Brinsley Sheridan. The dis-
tinguished orator and dramatist, as all the
world knows, had a son named Thomas
Sheridan, who inherited no inconsiderable
shareof his father’s wit and genius. Thomas
—better known as Tom-—Sheridan, had
three daughters, all of whom were promi-
nent members of English society, and were
conspicuous alike for personal beauty and
the brilliancy of their intellectual accom-
plishments. * One of them was the beauti-
ful Lady Seymour, afterwards Duchess of
Somerset, who presided as Queen of Beauty
at the famous tournament held at the Earl
of Eglinton’s seat in Scotland, in the month
of August, 1839. Another daughter, the
Hon. Mrs. Caroline Norton, won distinction
by her poetical effusions, and by several
novels, one of which, “Stuart of Dunleath,”
is a work exhibiting a high degree of mental
power. This lady, whose domestic misfor-
tunes formed at one time an absorbing topic
of discussion in England, survived until
1877, having some months before her death

-been married to the late Sir W. Stirling

Maxwell. The remaining daughter, Har-

. riet Selina, was the eldest of the three. She,

as 'we have seen, married Captain Price
Blackwood, and subsequently became Lady
Dufferin upon her husband’s accession o
the title in 1839. She also won a name in
literature by numerous popular songs and
ballads, the best known of. which is “The
Irish Emigrant’s Lament” She was left a
widow in 1841, and twenty-one years later,
by a second marriage, became Countess of
Gifford. She died in 1867. Her only son,
Frederick Temple, the subject of this sketch,

. was born at Florence, in Italy, on the 21st

of June, 1826,
He received his early education at Eton

fifteenth year, his father’s death took place

College, and subsequently at Christ Church,
Oxford. He passed through the curriculum
with eredit, but, left the University without
taking a degree. In the month of July,
1841, when he had only just completed his
and he thus succeeded to the family titles
six years before attaining his majority. Du-
ring the first Administration of Lord John
Russell he officiated as one of the Lords-in-
Waiting to Her Majesty; and again filled a
similar position for a short time a few years .

" later.

One of the most memorable passages in
his early career was a visit paid by him to
Ireland during the terrible famine which
broke out there in 1846. Deriving his titles
from Ireland, where the greater part of his
property is situated, and being desirous of
doing -his duty by his tenantry, he had
almost from boyhood paid a good deal of-
attention-to the question of land-tenure in
that country. With a view to extending
his knowledge by personal observation, he
set out from Oxford, accompanied. by his

friend, the Hon. Mr. Boyle, and went over,
literally, to spy out the nakedness of the

famine-stricken land. They for the first
time-in their lives found themselves face-to-
face with misery in one of its most appalling

“é‘hapes. They were young, kind-hearted and

enerous, and the scenes wherewith they
were daily brought into contact made an
impression upon their minds that has never
been effaced. They published an account
of their travels under the title of “ A Nar-
rative of a Journey from Oxford to Skib-
bereen, during the year of the Irish Famine,”
and devoted the proceeds of the sale of the
narrative to the relief of the starving suf-
ferers of Skibbereen. The realms of fiction
may be ransacked in vain for anything more
truly pathetic and heart-rending in its terri-
ble, vigorous realism, than is this truthful
picture of human privation and suffering.
Upon one oceasion, having bought a huge
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_basket of bread for distribution among the

most needy, they were completely besieged
as soon as their intention became known.
“Something like an orderly distribution
was attempted,” says the narrative, “but

and touching humour, which attracted the
attention of every statesman in the king-
dom. Twenty years before Mr. Gladstone’s
Irish Land Act was passed, its provisions
had been anticipated by Lord Dufferin, and

the dreadful hunger and impatience of the

poor people by whom the donors were sur-

rounded rendered this absolutely impossible,
and the bread was thrown out, loaf by loaf,

from a window, the struggles of the famished

women over the insufficient supply being
dreadful to witness.” Of course, all they
could do to alleviate the sufferings in the
district was of little avail, but they gave to
the extent of their ability, and the poor,
famishing creatures were warmly touched
by their unfeigned and tearful sympathy.
When the. two gentlemen left the town,
their carriage was followed beyond the out-

skirts by ecrowds of suffering poor who im-"

plored the Divine blessing upon their heads.
The publication of the- “ Narrative,” more-
over, aroused a general feeling of philan-
thropy throughout the whole of England
and Scotland, and liberal contributions were
sent over for the benefit of those who stood
most in 1y need of assistance.

‘The practical knowledge of the condltlon
of the Irish people acquired by Lord Duf-
ferin during this visit was such as the most
diligent study of blue-books could not have
1mparted From this time forward he gave
more attention than ever to the Irish ques-

tion. It was a question in which he might

well take a deep interest, for he was de-
pendent upon” the rent of his estates in
county Down for the bulk of his income.
His unselfishness, however, was signally
proved by the stand he took, which was on
the side of tenant-right. He has written
and speken much on the subject, and has
contributed more than his share towards en-
abling the world to arrive at a just conclu-
sion respecting it. His public utterances dis-
played a genuine philanthropy and breadth
of view, mingled, at times, with a quaint

- Y ‘

urged upon the attention of the House of

Tords. In an eloquent and elaborate speech .

delivered before that Body in 1854 he sug-
gested and outlined nearly every important
legislative reform with reference to Irish
Land Tenure which has since been brought
about. A work on “Irish Emigration, and
the Tenure of Land.in Ireland,” gave still
wider currency to his views on the subject,
and it began to be perceived that the bril-
liant young Irish peer had ideas well worthy
of the consideration of Parliament. He was
created an English baron in -1850, by the
title of Baron Cla,ndeboye

In politics he was a moderate th The
leading members of his party recocrmzed his
high a.bilities and thought it desirable to
enhst them in the public service. An oppor-

tunity soon presented itself. In the month

of February, 1855, Lord John Russell was

appointed as British Plenipotentiary to the -

conference to be held at Vienna for the pur-
pose of settling the terms of peace between
Russia and Turkey. Lord John invited
Lord Dufferin to accompany him on the
mission as a special attaché. The invitation
was accepted, and Lord Dufferin repaired

to the Austrian capital, where he remained

until the close of the ineffectual conference.
Soon after his return to England he deter-

‘mined upon a long yachting tour in the far

northern seas, and in the early summer of
1856 he started on his adventurous voyage.

The chronicle of this expedition, written -

with graphic force and humour “by the pen
of Lord Dufferin, himself, has long been be-
fore the world under the title of “Letters
from High Latitudes.” The voyage, which
lasted several months, was made in the
schooner-yacht Foam, and included Iceland,
Jan, Meyen and Spitzbergen in its scope.

pry
-
i
3




LN

]

._A_<,‘ .A_.,_w_._
A S 1 el § )

4 ' THE EARL OF DUFFERIN.

There is no necessity for extended comment
upon a book that has been read by pretty |
nearly everybody in Canada. Who is there]|

among us who has not laughed over the

missioner on behalf of Great Britain. He
went out to-Syria, where he remained some
%oriths. He proved himself admirably
qualified to discharge a delicate diplomatic

secournt of that marvellous bitd that, as the
nights became shorter and shorter, never
slept for more than five minutes at a stretch,
without waking up in a state of nervous
agitation lest it .might be cock-crow; that
was troubled by low spirits, owing to the
mysterious manner in which a fresh mem-
ber of his harem used to disappear daily ;
and that finally, overburdened by contem-

‘plation, went melancholy mad and commit-

ted suicide? Or over that extraordinary
dog-Latin after-dinner speech made by Lord
Dufferin - during his stay in the Icelandic
capital, as veraciously recorded in Letter VI.?
And who among us has failed to recognize
the graphic power of description displayed
in the account of the Geysers? Or the wierd
poetic force of “The Black Death of Ber-
gen”? In all these various kinds of compo-
sition the author showed great natural apti-

tude, and his book, as a whole, is one of the .

most interesting chronicles of travel in our
language. »

In 1860 Lord Dufferin was for the first
time despatched abroad as the head of an
important diplomatic missign. In the sum-
mer of that year, Great Britain, France,
Russia and other European powers united

. in sending an expedition to Syria to protect

the lives and property of Europeans, and to
arrest the further effusion of blood in the
threatened conflicts between the Druses and
the Maronites. The immediate occasion of
the expedition was a shocking massacre of
Syrian Christians that had recently taken
place, and a recurrence of which was con-
sidered highly probable. Turkey professed
inability to deal effectively with the mgt-
ter, and it became necessary that the lead-
ing European powers should interfere in
the cause of humanity. Lord Dufferin was
appointed by Lord Palmerston as Com-

mission, and by his tact, good-nature and
popular manners, no less than by his prac-
tical wisdom and good sense, succeeded in
effecting a satisfactory settlement of the
matter, As a testimony of the Govern-
ment’s appreciation of his services he imme-
diately after his return received the Order
of a Knight Commander of the Bath (Civil
Division). Another result of his mission
was the publication, in 1867, of “ Notes on
Ancient Syria,” a work which, as its title
imports, smacks more of reading than of
observation. —

It fell to Lord Dufferin’s lot, in December,
1861, to move the address in the House of
Lords, in answer to Her Majesty’s Speech
from the Throne, referring to the death of
the Prince Consort. The occasion was one
upon which the speaker might be expected
to do his best, and the speech made by him
on that occasion drew tears from eyes which
had long been unaccustomed to. weep. A
perusal of it makes one regret that Lord
Dufferin’s legitimate place was not “in’the
other House, where his talent for oratory
would have had an opportunity of growing,
and where he would unquestionably have
gained a high reputation as a parliamentary
speaker. . It is a simple matter of fact that
in the dull, lifeless atmosphere of the House
of Lords, Lord Dufferin’s tai,lents were almost
thrown away. In the Commons he would
have made a figure, with a hg,tion for his
audience.

On the 23rd of October, 1862, he mar-
ried Harriot Georgina, eldest daughter of
the late Archibald Rowan Hamilton, of Kil-
lyleagh Castle, county Down. This lady,

to Canadians as are those of His Lordship,
still survives, and is the happy mother of a
numerous family. In 1863 Lord Dufferin

whose lineaments are almost as well known _
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became a Knight of St. Pa,tnck and in the
following year he was a.ppomted Lord Lieu-
tenant of the county Down. About the
same time he was offered the position of

(}enei'al, and was sworn in as a Member of
Her Majesty’s. Privy Council. In November,
1871, he was made an Earl and Viscount
of the United Kingdom, under the titles of

Under-Secretary of State for India, which
he accepted. In 1865 he was subjected to a
searching examination respecting his views
on the Irish Land question, before a Select
Committee of the House of Commons. His
examination lasted four days, and his evi-
dence proved of incalculable value in the
framing of the Act of Parliament which
was passed before the close of the session.
Several years later he put forth a vigorous
pamphlet entitled, “ An Examination of Mr.
Mill'’s Plan for the Pacification of Ireland,”
in which he criticised John Stuart Mill’s
- proposal that the landed estates of Irish
landlords should be brought to a forced sale.

Lord Dufferin’s thorough knowledge of his.

subject, added to the fact that his views
were sound, proved too much, even for the
Master of Logic, who had made his proposal
without due consideration of the subject,
and on an incomplete statement of the facts.

Lord Dufferin continued to fill the post
of Secretary of State for India until early
in 1866, when he was offered the Governor-
ship of Bombay. The state of his mother’s
health—she had already begun to sink under
the malady to which she finally succumbed
a year later—was such as to forbid her ac-
companying him to India, and Lord Duf-
ferin was too affectionate a son to leave her
‘behind. He was accordingly compelled to
decline the appointment. He accepted in-
stead the post of Under-Secretary to the
War Depa&rtment which he, retained until
the close of Earl Russell's Administration,
in June, 1866. Upon the return of .the
Liberal Party to power under Mr. Glad-
stone, in the end of 1868, Lord Dufferin be-

came Chancellor of the Duchy of Lancaster,.

a position which he retained up to the time
of his being appointed Governor-General of
Canada. He was also appointed Paymaster-

'

Earl of Dufferin and Viscount Clandeboye.

The successive dignities thus heaped upon
him are sufficient evidence of the rising fa-
vour with which he was regarded by the
Members of the Government ; and as matter
of fact he had made great progress.fn the
esteem of the leading members of his Party
generally. On the 22nd of May, 1872, he
received the appointment which was des-
tined to give Canadians a special interest in
his career—that of Governor-General of the
Dominion of Canada. )

By the great mass of Canadians the news
of this appointment was received with a
feeling very much akin to indifference. The
fact is that, except among reading men, and-
persons intimately familiar with the diplo-
matic history of Great Britain during the
preceding twenty years, the name of Lord

" Dufferin was entirely unknown in this coun-

try. A few middle-aged and elderly persons
remembered that an Irish peer named Lord
Dufferin had made an eloquent speech on
thes death of the Prince Comsort. Others
remembered that a peer of that name had
done something noteworthy in Syria. A
few had read or heard of “ Letters from High
Latitudes;” but not one of us suspected that

the new Governor-General was destined to ...

be the most popular representative of Great
Britain known to Canadian history. It was
not suspected that, for the first time during’
many years, we were to have at the head
of our Administration a statesman of deep -
sympathies and enlarged views ; a nobleman
combining elegant learning and brilliant
powers of oratory with a tact and bonkomie
which would win for him the friendship and
respect of Canadians of all social ranks, and
of all grades of political opinion. By many,
of us the office of a Governor-General in
Canada had come to be looked upon as a
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sort of sinecure; as a part which any man
not absolutely a dunce is capable of playing.
We régarded the Governor-General merely
as the Royal representative; as a figure-
head whose duties consist of doing as he is
bid. He has responsible advisers who pre-
scribe for him a certain line of action, and
all he has to do is to obey. When his Cab-
inet loses the confidence of Parliament, he
either sends them about their business or
accepts their resignation. The successors
selected for him by the dominant majority

=
A

are accepted as a matter of course, and
everything goes on d« capo. This, or some-
thing like this, was the way we had learned
% estnﬁate e. the powers and, functions which |
Lord Dufferu;c- Wwas coming among us to dis-
charge. It was reserved for him to give us
a juster appreciation of the position of a
Canadian Governor-General. The- lesson
learned by us during the six years of his
residence among us is one_that Canadians
will not soon forget. The learning of it has
perhaps made us unduly exacting, and it

) ';would have been most unfortunate had

~ his successor been chosen from the ranks
.“of respectable medlocnty whence Colonial
Governors are not unfrequently selected.
Ha.ppﬂy the choice fell upon a gentleman
whose character and attainments bear some
affinity to those of his predecessor, and the
dignity and respect due to the Governor-

. General are not likely to suffer depreciation

while the office remains in his hands.
There was one circumstance which led
many Canadians to look upon the appoint-

““ment of Lord Dufferin with no friendly eyes.
- He had been appointed by the Gladstone

Government, and the Gladstone Government
had manifested a disposition to treat Canada
rather cavalierly. Canadian interests had
not been very efficiently cared for at the
negotiation of the Treaty of Washington,
and there had been a good deal of diplo-
matic corréspondence between the Canadian
and Imperial Governments, in which the

latter had pretty clearly intimated that
Canada’s separation from the Mother Coun-
try would not be regarded as an irreparable -
loss to the Empire at large:
Times openly advocated such a separation,
and it was known to speak the sentiments
of persons high in power. It was even con-
jectured by some of the more suspicious that
Lord Dufferin had been appointed for the
express purpose of carrying out an Imperial
project fora separation between Canada and
Great Britain. Had His Lordship been a
weak or commonplace man he would most
probably . have had a very uncomfortable
time of it in Canada. He was, nelthe.r weak
| nor commonpla.ce, however, and he began
to be popular -from the very hour of hls
arrival in the country. =By the time he had
been six months among us-everyone spoke
well of him; and long before his adminis-
tration came to an end he had gained a firm
hold on the hearts of the people throughout
the length and breadth of our land.

He arrived at Quebec on the 25th of June,
1872. During the same day he was sworn -

in as Governor-General, and two days later - |

reached his seat of Government at Ottawa.
There is no need to describe in minute de-
tail the various events which characterized
his administration. Those events are still
fresh in all our memories, and have been
recorded at full length by two Canadian -
authors—Mr. Stewart and Mr. Leggo—in
works to which everyone has access. For -
these reasons it is considered unnecessary
to give more than a brief summa.ry in these
pages.

During the summer of 1872 Lord Dufferin
made the first of his memorable Vlce-Rega.l
tours, visiting Toronto, Hamilton, London,
Niagara Falls, and other places of interest
in the Province of Ontario. To say that he
made a marvellously favourable impression
wherever he went is simply to say what
everybody knows, and what might equally
be said of all his subsequent progresses

The London .
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through the Dominion. There was a gen-
eral election during the summer and autumn
of this year, and an opportunity was thus
afforded His Excellency for observing the
working of our pohtxca.l institutions at such
4 time. v

The result of the elections was a majority
in favour of Sir John A. Macdonald’s Minis-
try. Parliament met in the following March,
and on the 2nd of” April Mr. Huntington
made his serious, and now historic, charge
against the Government, in connection with
the granting of the Pacific Railway Charter,
and the corrupt sale to Sir Hugh Allan. A

motion was made for a committee of Investi-

gation, but was voted down as a motion of
want of confidence in the Government. A
few days later, Sir John, knowing that a
policy of reticence could not long be avail-
able, himself moved for a committee. The
motion was passed, and the committee was
appointed, but was unable to proceed, owing
to its inability to take evidence on odth. A
Bill was introduced into the House to give
the committee the power required, and was
passed without opposition, but was subse-
quently disallowed by the Imperial Govern-
ment as being ultra vires. Meanwhile the
inquiry was proceeded with; but on the
5th of May, owing to the absence from the
country of three important witnesses—Sir
George E. Cartier, Sir Hugh Allan and the
Hon. J.J. C. Abbott—the committee deemed
it advisable to adjourn to the 2nd of July.
The ordinary Parliamentary business had
been got through with, and there was no
necessity for the House remaining in ses-
sion ; but, as the committee had no authority
to sit during recess, it was thought desirable
that there should be an adjournment of Par-
liament instead of a prorogation, until the
committee should be prepared with its re-

_port. Accordingly, on the 23rd of May, Par-

liament adjourned to the 13th of August,
when it was agreed that it should meet
expressly for the purpose of receiving the

committee’s report, and not for the despatch
of ordinary legislative business. It would
thus be unnecessary for the Governor-Gen-
eral to be present at the formal reassem-
bling, and soon after the adjournment His
Excellency, with his family, started on a
projected tour through the Maritime Prov-
inces. On the 27th of June, while on his
travels, he received a telegrain from Lord
Kimberley, Secretary for the Colonies in
the Home Government, announcing the dis-
allowance of the “Oaths Bill,” as it was
called, viz., the Act authorizing Parliament-
ary committees to examine witnesses under
oath. He at once gave notice of the dis-
allowance to the Premier, Sir John A. Mac-
donald, who made it known to the com-
mittee. The committee was composed of
five members, three of whom were support-
ers of the Government, and the remaining
two of the Opposition. The Government
supporters were the Hon. J. G. Blanchet,
the Hon. James Macdonald (of Pictou), and
the Hon. John Hillyard Cameron. The
Opposition members were the Hon. Edward
Blake and the Hon. A. A. Dorion. On the
1st of July a proclamation was issued giv-
ing public notice of the disallowance of the
Oaths Bill. The Premier offered to issue.a
Royal Commlssmn to the committee, which
would enable it to take evidence under oath,
and to demand the production of persons,
papers and records. The proposal was re-
jected. by Messrs. Blake and Dorion, who

wrote to the Premler pointing out to him.

that the inquiry was undertaken by the
House; that the appointment of a Royal
Commission by a Government to investigate
charges against that Government would be
an unheard-of and most unbecoming pro-
ceeding ; and that the House did not expect

-the Crown or anyone else to obstruct the

inquiry.

When the Parha,me:nt met, pursua.nt to ad-
Jjournment, on the 13th of August, the com-
mittee, having been prevented from taking

»
o
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evidence, was unable to report, A numer-
ously signed memorial was presented to His
Excellency praying that there might be no
prorogation of Parliament untll the charges
against the emstmg Govemment had been
subjected to mv.estxga.tlon His Excellency,
however, replied that he felt bound to act
on the advice of his Ministry. His Ministry
advised him to prorogue Parliament, and
prorogued it accordingly was. Every Cana-

- dian remembers the tumultuous scene which

ensued—a scene almost without parallel in
modern Parliamentary history; a faint®re-
flex of that memorable episode which took
place in the English House of Commons two
hundred and- twenty years before.

The next act in the drama was the ap-
pointment by His Excellency of a Royal
Commission on his own authority. It was
issued to the Hon. C. D. Day, the Hon.
Antoine Polette, and James Robert Gowan,
three judges learnéd in the law.. The com-
mission met, and on the opening of the ses-
sion in the following October its report was
laid before Parliament. The contents are
familiar to every reader of these pages, and
do not-form an attractive subject for ex-
tended comment. There could no longer
be any doubt as to the course to be taken
by the Premier. A few days.afterwards
Sir John Macdonald’s Government resigned,
and Mr. Mackenzie was called upon to form
anew one. This he soon succeeded in doing,
and on the 7th of November the new Ad-
ministration took office. As was abundantly
proved at the ensuing elections, the new
Government had the confidence of the
country. ’

During tbe progress of these events, Lord
Dufferin was assailed with a good deal of
rancour by one section of the Canadian press.
The question now to be considered is: How

far were these assaults justifiable ? In other

words : ‘How fa.r if at all, was Lord Dufferin
to blame ?

The principal allegations ‘made against

him were, that his sympa.thles all through
this deplorable episode in our political hw-
tory were with Sir John Macdonald and his
colleagues ; that he assisted the latter to
postpone and evade investigation into their
conduct; that his partisanship was evinced
by his prompt transmission of the Oaths
Bill for Imperial consideration, and by his
subsequent prorogation of Parliament in de-
fiance of the wishes of a large body of the
members.

It must be borne in mind, in considering
these matters, that we at the present day
are_in a much better position to form a
correct opinion respecting them than Lord
Dufferin could possibly be in the summer
of 1873. He came to this country an utter
stranger to every man in Ca.lfadmn publie
life. Hefound atthe head of affairsa gentle-
man who had long held the reins of power ;
who had a very wide circle of warm personal
friends ; who was regarded with affectionate
loyalty by his Party, and whose Govern-
ment enjoyed an overwhelmmO support in
Parliament. With such a support at its
back, the Government might reasonably lay
claim to possessing the confidence of the
Canadian people, and, possessing such confi-
dence, it was entitled to the confidence of
Her Majesty’s Representative. There was,
moreover, a manifest disposition on the part
of some opponents of the Government to
make the most of any little shortcomings of
which Ministerialists might be guilty. One
of the most virulent of the Opposition, a
man whose own character could not be
said to be wholly above reproach, made cer-
tain wild charges against the Government.
These charges were so utterly monstrous and
incredible that any man of probity might
reasonably refuse to believe them until they
were proved to be true by the most irre-,
futable evidence. Such evidence was not
forthcoming. The head of the Government
hurled back the charges in the teeth of the
man who had made them; pronounced the
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latter a slanderous calumniator; protested
that his own hands were clean ; and called
upon his Maker to bear witness to the truth
. of his avowal. His conduct was not unlike
that of an honest man smarting under a
strong sense of injustice. He professed to
court inquiry, and while he treated Mr.
- Huntington’s motion as one of want of confi-
dence in the Government, and triumphantly
. voted it down, he himself came forward with
his motion for a committee. Both from his
place in the House, and to the Governor-
General in person, he continued to protest
‘before God that there was no shadow, of
foundation for the charges made against |
him. He spoke of his acquittal as a matter,
which did-not admit of a moment’s question.
Under these-circumstances, is it any wonder
if Lord Dufferin refused to believe vague
and unsubstantiated charges from such a
source ; charges which might well have ex-
cited incredulity by the very depth of their
blackness ? Is it to be wondered at, even if
His Lordship sympathized with those whom
he believed.to have been so shamefully
maligned, and who seemed so anxious to set
themselves right before the country ? Such
was the state of affairs when Parliament
was adjourned on the 23rd of May.

With regard to the prompt transmission
to England of the Oaths Bill, His Excellency
simply complied with his official instruc-
- tions, and with the Union Aect, which re-
quires the Governor-General to transmit
“by the earliest convenient opportunity ”
all Acts of Parliament to which he has as-
sented on Her. Majesty’s behalf. His Ex-
cellency’s despatch to the Imperial Secretary
of State for the Colonies, dated 15th August,
1873, puts this matter very clearly. Tt
shows that he understood and was prepared
to do his duty, no matter what might be
said by Opposition members, and no matter
how scurrilous might be the attacks of hos-
tile newspapers. “ Amongst other respects,”
says the despatch, “in which my conduct

Ini—s

1

has been criticised, the fact of my having
communicated to you by the first oppor-
tunity a certified copy of the Oaths Bill,
has been a very general point of attack. I
apprehend it will not be necessary to justify
myself to your Lordship in this particular.
My law-adviser had called my attention to
the possibility of the Bill being illegal. Had
perjured testimony been tendered under it,
no proceedings could have been taken against
the delinquent, and if, under these circum-
stances, I had wilfully withheld from the
Home Government all cognizance of the
Act, it would have been a gross dereliction
9f~duty To those in this country who have
“questioned my procedure it would be suffi--
cient to reply that I recognize no authonty
on this side of the Atla.ntm competent to in-
struct the Governor-General as to the nature
of his correspondencee ce- with Her Majesty’s
Secretary of State.” The assertion so often

made, to the effect that the Law Officers of -

the Crown in England were improperly in-
fluenced to advise a disallowance of the Bill,
is in itself utterly preposterous, and no
attempt, so far as we know, has ever been
made to bring forward any proof of it.
There remains for consideration the proro-

" gation of Parliament on the 13th of August.

Before the adjournment on the 23rd of
May, as we have seen, it had been under-
stood that Parliament should meet only to
receive the committee’s report, and not for
the despatch of ordinary business. It had
not even been considered necessary that His
Excellency should attend. During his ab-
sence in the Maritime Provmces however,
the famous McMullen correspondence had
appeared in print, and this, together with
other circumstances which had come to his
knowledge, had made him resolve to be
present at the reassembling-of Parliament.
The attendance of -Government supporters
was not large, very few, if any, being pres-

ent from outlying constituencies. The Op-

position on the other hand, was fully repre-

.....
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sented, and was eager for the battle, which
was regarded as inevitable. Itsoon appeared
that there was nothing to be done. Owing

to-the disallowance of the Qaths Bill there

was no report from the committee. - In the
estimation of His Excellency, to proceed with
the investigation, as the Opposition members
were desirous of doing, would under these
circumstances have been to place the Min-
istry at an unfair disadvantage. A consid-

‘erable number of its supporters were absent,_

whereas the Opposition was in full force. It
has been charged upon ‘the Ministry that
this was part of their tactics, and that the
absentees were acting under the orders of
their Chief in remaining at home. This is
another of those loose, sweeping assertions
which may be true, but the truth of which
has not been proved. That unhappy Min-
istry has enough to answer for at the Bar
of History, without being called upon: to
réfute eharges which have never been sub-
stantiated by evidence. In any case, no
fair-minded person will wish to hold the
Governor-General responsible for such tac-
tics. His position was one of no ordinary
difficulty. Very damnatory correspondence
had been given to the world, but it was not
in such a shape that the House could possi-
bly regard it as free from suspicion. The

most serious charges seemed to point rather

to the guilt of Sir Hugh Allan and McMullen
than to that of the Members of the Govern-
ment. The charges directly affecting the
Government were solemnly and emphatical-
ly repudiated by the Premier, who pledged
himself to explain the matter under oath to
the satisfaction of the whole world, gg soon
as a properly constituted tribunal should
be appointed, with authority to take evi-
dence under oath. Sir Hugh Allan pub-
lished a sworn affidavit, negativing McMul-
len’s charges, and McMullen himself had
subsequently admitted that his charges had
been hasty and inaccurate. The latter,
moreover, was evidently a' man whose char-

acter was not such as to inspire respect.
The Government could still coJ‘nma.nd a
majority of votes in the House. Under
such circumstances, can His Ex ‘\ llency be
blamed if he continued to act upon the ad-
vice of his constitutional advisers by pro-
roging Parliament? He was determined, -
however, that there should be no unneces-
sary delay, and exacted as a condition of
adopting that course that Parliament should
be convened with all imaginable expedition.
His reply to the memorial presented by the
Opposition is so.much to.the point that we
cannot do better than abridge a portion of
it. “You urge me,” says His Excellency,
“on grounds which are very fully and for-
cibly stated, to decline the advice which has
been unanimously tendered me by my re-
sponsible ministers, and to refuse to pro-
rogue Parliament. In other words, you
require me to dismiss them from my coun-
cils; for you must be aware that this would
be the necessary result of my assenting to
your recommendation. Upon what grounds
would I be justified in taking so grave a
step? What guarantee can you afford me
that the Parliament of the Dominion would
endorse such an act of personal interference
on my part 2° You yourselves do not form
an actual moiety of the House of Commons,
and I have no means of ascertaining that
the majority of that body subscribe to the
opinion you have enounced. . . It is true,
grave charges have been preferred. . . but
the truth of these remains untested. . . Is
the Governor-General, upon such evidence
as this, to drive from his presence gentlemen
who for years have filled the highest offices
of State, and in whom, during the recent
session, Parliament has repeatedly declared
its continued confidence 2 . . Certain docu-
ments of grave significance have lately been
published in the newspapers, but no proof
has been adduced which necessarily connects
them with the culpable transactions of which
it is asserted they formed a part. . . Under
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these circumstances, what right has the Gov-
ernor-General, on his personal regponsibility,
to proclaim that he believes his min-
isters guilty of the crimes alleged a.ga.mst
them ?” ¢

Such were the circumstarices under'whxch
the prorogation of the 13th of August, 1873,
took place. Looking back on it, in the light
of the seven years which have since elapsed,
it will be hard to arrive at any other con-
clusion than that Lord Dufferin did not de-
serve the animadversions which were heaped
upon him. As he himself observed in his
despatch to the Colonial Secretary two days
after the prorogation: “It is a favourite.

theory at this moment with ,ﬁna.ny Persons -

that when once grave charges of this nature
have been preferred against the Ministry
they become ¢pso facto unfit to counsel the
Crown. The practical application of this
principle. would prove very inconvenient,
and would leave not only the Governor-
General, but every Lieutenant-Governor in
the Dominion very thinly provided with
responsible advisers; for, as far as I have
been able to seize the spirit of political con-
troversy in Canada, there is scarcely an emi-
nent man in the country on either side
whose character or integrity has not been,
at one time or another, the subject of reck-
less attack by his opponents in the press.”
In a word, he acted on the well-established
principle that every man is to be adjudged
innocent until he has been proved guilty;
and in so acting he showed that he under-
stood the responsibilities of his position.
That his Ministers were culpable, as well as
unwise, in advising the prorogation, is cer-

tain; and when the next elections came on

they paid the penalty of their disingenuous-
ness.

The events of Lord Dufferin’s residence

-in-Canada subsequent to the fall of the

Macdonald Ministry, which has already been
reviewed,must be given in few words. The
political events by which his administration

.-

was characterized have been given at suffi-

-cient length in sketches to which they more

properly belong. The Mackenzie Adminis-
tration had not been long in power before
each individual member of it was onfriendly
terms with the Governor-General, and there
seems to have been a tacit. understa.ndmg
that all past differences of\ opinion should’
be forgotten. In the summer of 1874 His
Excellency and suite made a tour through
the Muskoka District, and thence westward
by steamer over lakes Huron, Superior and
Michigan. < The tourists' called at most of
the mterestmtr points on the route, inclu-
ding Chicago, where they disembarked, and
returned overland by Wa,b of Detroit. All
the most important towns in Ontario were
then visited, and the party returned home
toOttawa i in September, after an absence of
about two months. It was during his so-
journ in Toronto, while on his return-fr.

this expedition, that Lord Dufferin made
his famous speech at the Toronto Club,
which aroused the enthusiasm of the press
on both sides of the Atlantic.- A part of
the summer and autumn of each succeeding
year was spent by His Excellency in making
other “tours through the various Provinces
of the Dominion. "The last important one
was made in 1877, and consisted of a pil-
grimage through Manitoba and part of the
District of Keewatin. In 1875 he also vis-
ited Ireland, and in 1876 attended the Cen-
tennial Exhibition at Philadelphia. Wher-
ever he went, his visits were marked by a
continual round of ovations. Lady Dufferin
genera.l]y accompanied him on his excur-
sions, and contributed not a little by her
personal graces and accomplishments to the
popularity of her lord. Perhaps the most

'| marvellous thing about him is his ability to

make an eloquent speech on’any given topie,
without ever répeating himself, and without
descending to platitudes or commonplaces.
He has always something to say which is
appropriate to the particular occasion, and

SOSES— B
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the special circumstances in which he hap-
pens to be placed. The quick peréeption
and ready wit begotten of his Irish blood
never fail him. Each of his replies #o the
thousand-and-one addresses which at one
time and ‘another have been presented to
him has a merit of its own, has an applica-
tion purely local, and is unlike all the others.

- His more serious utterances are marked nbt
less by maturity of statesmanship than by
brilliancy of imagination. It would be faint
praise to say of him that as an orator he
stands alone on the long roll of Canadian
Governors.- There has “been no other who
is even worthy of being named as second to
him. It has been truly said of his speeches
that they are “ warm with the light of hope,
brimful of sympathy for the foiling and
the strugghng spa.rk.lmg w1th humour, and
moving with pathos.”

As the term of his residence among us
drew towards its close the Canadian people
began to realize how much they liked him.
Addresses poured in upon him from every
corner of the Dominion, many of which, at
léast, could only have had their origin in
sincere esteem and hearty goodwill. When,

on the 19th of October, 1878, he took his -
final departure from among us,

‘“ High hopes pursued him from the shore,
And prophesyings brave,”,

for it was felt that, if his life and health

iwere spared the record of his future would

not belie the record of his past. It was .
predicted that the man whose consummate
tact, noble courtesy and largeness of heart
bad done so much to strengthen the ties
between Great Britain and her Colonies
would render further important services to
his Sovereign and to the nation. That pre-
diction has already been fulfilled. The
effects of his mission to Russia have been
made apparent in improved relations be-
tween the courts of St. Petersburg and St.
James. In truth, no better antidote to the -
“gpirited Foreign policy ” of the late British
Government could have been devised than
the enrolment of Lord Dufferin in the dip-
lomatic service. .

Since his departure for Russia it is said
that ‘the Vice-royalty of Ireland and of

India have both been tendered to and de-
clined by him.




THE REV. ROBERT FERRIER BURNS.

DR. BURNS was born at Paisley, Scot-

land, on the-23rd of December, 1826.
After spending a term of four years at the
Public Grammar School of that town, he
was entered as a student at the Univetsity

fourteenth year.

of learning four sessions, during

achieved high standing in his class
carried off several prizes, including two in
Latin. He stood third in Greek, second in
Logic, and first in Moral Philosophy. While
attending the University he had for associ-
~ ates Principal McKnight, of Halifax, the
Rev. William Maclaren, of Blairlogie, and
the late Rev. John Maclaren, of Glasgow.
In 1844-5 he attended New College, Edin-
burgh, during the second session of its exis-
tence, and sat at the feet of Drs. Chalmers,
Cunningham and Duncan. He had mean-
while resolved on emigrating to Canada, and
on the 29th of March, 1845, he sailed from
Greenock for Quebec. He made his way to
Toronto, where he attended two sessions at
Knox College, having for his contemporaries
there Dr. Black, of Manitoba, and the late
Rev. James Nishet; of the Prince.Albert
Mission. During his collegiate career he

" acted as Student Catechist, and preached as

a volunteer at Proudfoot’s Mills, and also at
Oskville. During the summer of 1846 he
laboured to good purpose at Niagara. In
April, 1847, he was. licensed to preach by

the Presbytery of Toronto, and on the first
of July following he was ordained as first
pastor of Chalmers Church, Kingston. Du-

Ting his residence at Kingston he officiated

for a year as Chaplain to the Forty-first
Regiment of Highland Infantry.

On the 1st of July, 1852, he married Miss
Elizabeth Holden, a daughter of Dr. Rufus
Holden, of Belleville, and_a sister of the
wife of Professor Gregg, of. Toronto. By
this lady he now has a family of eight chil-
dren, consisting of four sons and four daugh-
ters. After a pastorate of exactly eight
years he left Kingston on the 5th of July,
1855, and. settled at St. Catharines as first
pastor of the United Church. He remained
there nearly twelve years, during eight of
which he also had charge of a congregation
at Port Dalhousie, four miles distant. Du-
ring his ministry at St. Catharines the new
church now known as Knox Church was
erected, and his congregation subsequently
worshipped there. In 1862 he took a con-
spicuous part in starting Sabbath - School
Conventions in this country, which have
since been attended. y many blessings to
the young. In th§ month of July, 1866,
the.degree of Dott¥wof. Divinity was con-
ferred upon him by-Hamilton College, near
Utica, in the State of New York, the lead-
ing literary ‘insgitution of the New School
of Presbyteridns in that State. On the -
20th of March, 1867, he became first pastor
of the First Scotch Presbyterian Church in .
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Chicago, which then and for some years
thereafter belonged to the Canadian Church.
During his incumbency of this charge he

received several calls from various churches,

all of which were declined. His Chicago
pastorate lasted three years, during which
the membership of his church trebled in
number, and a fine new church was erected
by the ‘é‘ongrégation on the corner of Adams

-and Sa.ga.more Streets. In October, 1867,

he accompanied the Rev. D. L. Moody, the
Evangelist, from Chicago to Toronto, on the
occasion of the first sitting of #he Young
Men’s Christian Association Convention in
the latter city. In the beginning of Ma.y,
- 1870, he returned to Canada, and was in-
" ducted into the pastorate of Cote Street
- Church, Montreal, where Dr. Fraser and the
“present Principal McVicar had previously
ministered. Here he remained five years,

On the 18th of March, 1875, he was
settled over Fort Massey Church, Halifax,
of which the Rev. J. K. Smith, of Galt, had
been for two years pastor. Here Dr. Burns
bas ever since remained. The congregation
has since its commencement discarded pew
rents, and has been conducted on the weekly
free-will-offering system, the offertory being
collected at the church door. Their annual
givings to church purposes are said to ex-
ceed $100 for each family. He was Moder-

" ator of the Synod of Montreal in 1873, and

alsoChairman of the Montreal College Board;
and on his removal to Halifax he was elec-

“ered special courses of lectures before the

'phlets, sermons;and short fugitive pieces.

ted to the same post there, which he still : :
fills. During the session of 1877 he deliv-

Montreal and Halifax students, and in 1878 ‘
these were followed up by a second special -
course in the Halifax College. In 1877 he
was associated with Principal Grant and
others in pushing forward the $100,000
College Endowment Fund. : .
Dr. Burns isalso known as an author. As
early as 1854 he contributed to the Anglo-
American Magazine, published in Toronto ;
and several years later to the Presbyterian
Magazine. In 1857 he published “The
Progress and Principles of Temperance Re-
form ;” and in 1865, in conjunction with the
Rev. Mr. Norton, of St. Catharines, “ Maple
Leaves for the Grave of Abraham Linccln.”
In 1872 he wrote and published his most vo-
luminous work, “ The Life and Times of Dr.
Robert Burns, of Toronto.” This work passed
through three editions, and was a decided
success. His other works are chiefly pam-

At the meeting of the General Assem-
bly held at Ottawa in 1879 Dr. Burns was
one of tiie eight clerical delegates elected to
attend the General Presbyterian Council, to
be held in Philadelphia during the pres-
ent year. Last summer he attended the =
Sunday School Celebration held in London, |
England, to commemorate the founding of
Sunday Schools by Robert Raikes, in Glou-
cester, a century ago. -
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THE HON. ALBERT NORTON RICHARDS,

LIE UTEN.;INTGO VERNOR OF BRITISH COLUMBIA.

R. RICHARDS is the youngest son of
the late Mr. Stephen Richards, of
Brockville, and a brother of the Hon. Wil-
liam Buell Richards, ex-Chief Justice of the

- Supreme Court of the Dominion, a sketch
of whose life appeared in the first volume of

this series. Some account” of the family
history is contained in the sketch- alluded
to. Albert Norton Richards was born at
Brockville, Upper Canada, on the 8th of
December, 1822. Like- his elder brothers,
William and Stephen, he received his early
education at the famous Johnstown District
Grammar School, and embraced the legal
profession as his calling in life. He studied
law in the office of his brother William,
with whom he enter®d into partnership after
his call to the Bar in Michaelmas Term, 1848.

Though perhaps somewhat less conspicuous-

at the Bar than his partner, he took a high
position, and was distinguished for the
acumen and soundness of judgment which

-seem to be inherent in every member of his

family. After his brother’s elevation to the
Bench, he himself continued to practise at
Brockville. His business was large and
profitable. He took a keen interest in poli-
ties, and was identified with the Reform

~ Party. He did not seek: Parliamentary

distinction, however, until the year 1861,
when he was an unsuccessful candidate for
the representation of South Leeds in the
Legislative Assembly of Canada—his suc-
cessful opponent being Mr. Benjamin Tett.

At the general election of 1863 he again
offered himself in opposmon- to the same
candidate, and on this occa.smh wagreturned
at the head of the poll. In the month of
December following he accepted office in
the Sandfield Macdonald-Dorion -Adminis-
tration, as Solicitor-General for theé Upper
Province. He was at the same time created
a Queen’s Counsel. Upon returning to his
constituents for reélection, after accepting
office, he was ‘compelled to encounter the
full strength of the Conservative Party.
The, Government of the day existed by a

mere thread, their majority averaging one,

two and three, and it was felt that if Mr.
Richards could be defeated the Government
must resigh. The constituency of South
Leeds was invaded by all the principal speak-
ers and agents of the Conservative Party,

headed by the Hon. John A. Maecdonald-and .

the late Mr. D’Arcy McGee, and no stone
was left unturnéd to defeat the new Sotici-
tor-General. The result was the defeat of
the latter by Mr. D. Ford Jones, the Con-

servative candidate, by a majority of five
votes. Mr. Richards, after the resignation '

of the Government, remained out of public
life until 1867, when he unsuccessfully con-
tested his old seat for the House of Commons
with the. late Lieutenant-Governor Craw-

ford, the latter being elected by a majority .

of thirty-nine. In 1869 Mr. Richards was
offered by the Government of Sir John Mae-
dona.ld the otﬁce of Attorney-General in the
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THE HON. ALBERT NORTON RICHARDS.

Provincial Government which Mr. Macdou-
_gall, as Lieutenant-Governor of the North-
west Territories, was about to establish at
Fort Garry. Mr. Richards accepted the
. office, and accompanied Mr. Macdougall on
his well-known journey, until stopped by
Louis Riel at Stinking River. In the fol-
lowing year he visited British Columbia on
public business, and in 1871 he again visited
that Province, this time for the benefit of
the health of his children, eight of whom
he had lost by death during his residence at
Brockville. At the general election of 1872,
Mr. Richards made another and a successful
appeal to the electors of South Leeds, and
was -returned to the House of Commons.
He held his seat until January, 1874 ; when,
being absent from the country, on a visit to
British Columbia, he was unable to return
‘in time to be nominated for his old constit-
uency, and §outh Leeds became lost to the

!

o

Reform Party. Mr. Rickards continued to
reside in British Columbia, and for several
years was the official Legal Agent of the Do-
minion Government in that Province. He
took an active part in endeavouring to bring
about various much-needed law reforms, as
to several of which he was ultimately suc-
cessful. On the 29th of July, 1875, he was
appointed Lieutenant-Governor of the Prov-

. ince, & position which he has ever since held.

His sterling qualities have obtained recog-
nition, and he has won great popularity. -

He has been twice married. His first
wife, whom he miarried on the 17th-of Octo-
ber, 1849, was Frances, daughter of the late
Benjamin Chaffey, formerly of Staffordshire,
England. This lady died in April, 1833.
On the 12th of August, 1854, he married
Ellen, daughter of the late John Cheslett,,
also of Staffordshire. Hjs second wife still
survives.
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THE RIGHT REV. JOHN TRAVERS LEWIS, LL.D,

~BISHOP OF ONTARIO.

ISHOP LEWIS is a son of the Rev.
John Lewis, M.A., who was formerly
Rector of St. Anne’s, Shandon, Cork, Ire-
land; and grandson of Mr. Richard Lewis,
who was an Inspector-General of Revenue
in the south of Ireland. He is himself an
Irishman by birth and eduecation, but has
passed the last thirty years of his life in
Canada. He was born in the county of
Cork, on the 20th of June, 1825. He re-
ceived private lessons from his father, and
afterwards obtained his more advanced edu-
cation at Trinity College, Dublin. He en-
joyed a somewhat brilliant career at the
University. He obtained honours both in
classics and mathematics during his course
as an undergraduate ; and upon graduating,
in 1846, he was gold medallist and senior
moderator in ethics and logic. His degree
of LLD. was received, we believe, from
his alma mater. He was intended for the
Church from boyhood, and was ordained
Deacon in 1848, at the Chapel of Christ’s
College, Cambridge, by the Lord Bishop of
Chester. He was soon afterwards ordained
Priest by the Lord Bishop of Down, and
became Curate of the parish of Newtown-
butler, celebrated in Irish annals for the
victory gained by the colonists over King
James's troops in 1689. He did not long
occupy thét position, but resigned it in
1850, and came over to this country, where,
soon after his arrival; he was appointéd by
the late Bishop Strachan to the parish of
. II—4

=

Hawkesbury, in the county of Pfescott.
Upon settling down in his parish he married
Miss Anne Harriet Margaret Sherwood, a

- daughter of the late Hon. Henry Sherwood,

a Canadian legislator who sat in the old As-
sembly from 1843 to 1854, and who held
office as Solicitor-General and Attorney-
General for Canada West, respectively, in
the Ministry of Mr: Draper, during the
regime of Sir Charles Metcalfe and Earl
Cathcart.

" After officiating in Hawkesbury for four

years, Mr. Lewis was appointed Rector of -
Brockville, where he remained until his

election, in 1861, to the position which he
now occupies. The seven years passed in
the rectory at Brockville must have beef
busy ones, as we find numerous published:
sermons and pamphlets from his pen during
this time. His sermons and writings gen-
erally are marked by much learning, and by
an evident fondness for dialectics. Some

of them have received high praise from the -

reviewers. One of them, entitled “ A . Plain

- Lecture to Enquirers into the meaning of

the Liturgy,” was thus characterized by the
American Quarterly Church Review: “As
an argument for Liturgical worship, and an
answer to popular objections to the Prayer-
book, this is one of the most valuable works
we have ever seen.” Other tracts of his
have also been highly praised by persons
whose praise is of value. The best known
of his writings are “ The Church of the New

Vo aan ST




18 ' THE RIGHT REV. JOHN TRAVERS LEWIS, LLD.

Testament ;” “ Does the Bible need re-trans-
lating ?” “The Popular Baptist Argument
Reviewed ;” and “ The Primitive Method of
electing Bishops;” the last-named produc-
tion being given to the world in the Journal
of Sacred Literature, published in London,
England. During his residence at Brock-
ville he interested himself actively in various
. local matters, sectarian and non-sectarian,
and contributed to build up several impor-
tant public institutions. He lectured before
the Brockville Library Association and Me-
chanics’ Institute, and did much to extend
its membership and beneficial influence..
The territorial division of the Diocese of
Toronto was a project which began to take
shape about the time when the subject of
this sketch first arrived in this country.
Up to that time the Diocese of Toronto
comprehended the whole extent of Upper
Canada, and was altogether too large to per-
mit of one man’s discharging” the duties of
the Bishopric with perfect efficiency, even

though that man were endowed with the

tremendous energy and vitality of the late
Bishop Strachan. The Diocese of Huron
was in due time set apart, and the late Rev.
Dr. Benjamin Cronyn was elected to the
Bishopric. In 1861 the eastern division
was also set apart as the Diocese of Ontario,
and at the meeting of the Synod held at
Kingston in the summer of that year Mr.
Lewis was elected to the office of Bishop.
He was then only thirty-six years of age,
and was probably the youngest Prelate in -
America. He soon afterwards removed to
Kingston, and thence to Ottawa, where he
now resides. .

It will thus be seen that the Bishop has -
had 2 remarkably successful career since his
arrival in Canada. He devotes himself as-
siduously to his official labours, and is held
in high veneration by many of the clergy-
men of his Diocese. He has a numerous
family, and a large circle of attached friends.
His pulpit oratory is marked by fluency and
smoothness of rhetoric, as well as by much
learning and depth of thought.




'CHARLES, LORD METCALFE.

N former sketches we have seen how Re-
sponsible Government, after being stren-
uously contended for during many years in
this country, and after its adoption had been
vigorously recommended.by Lord. Durham,
finally became an accomplished fact. We
have seen how Lord Sydenham was sent
over here as Governor-General for the pur-
pose of carrying out the new order of things,

and how, during his administration of affairs, -
the Union of the Provinces was finally

effected in 1841. The Canadian Adminis-

tration was carried on by both Lord Syden-.

ham and his successor, Sir Chg.r}es Bagot, in
accordance with the spirit of our new Con-
stitution. In 1841 the Impenal Mmlstry,
under whose auspices this Constitution had
been framed, was deposed, and a Tory Gov-
ernment succeeded to power. In this Gov-
ernment the late Lord Derby, then Lord
" Stanley, held the portfolio appertaining to
the office of Colonial Secretary. Soon af
Sir Charles Bagot’s resxo-na,tmn of the post
of Governor-Genera.l in the winter of 1842,
Sir Charles Metcalfe was selected as his suc-
cessor. The selection was made at the in-
stance of Lord Stanley, who had all along
been inimical to the scheme of Responsible
. Government in Canada, and there is reason
for believing that he entertained the design
of subverting it. His selection of Sir Charles
Metcalfe, and his stibsequent instructions
and general policy, certainly lend colour to
such a belief. The new Governor was a man

of excellent intentions, and of more than
average ability, but his previous training
and experience had been such as to render
him totally unfit for the post of a Constitu-
tional Governor. :

We can only afford space for a brief

bm’e/ gla,nce\wﬂl be sufficient to show how
flttle sympathy he could be expected to have
in coloma.l schemes of Responsible Govern-
mént. He W};ls born at Calcutta, on Sunday,
the 30th of January, 1785, a few days be-
fore Warren Hastings ceased to be Gov-
ernor-General of Indla His father, Major
- Theophilus”Metcalfe, of the Bengal army,
was a gentleman of ample fortune, and a Di-
rector in the East India Company.- Charles
was the second son of. his parents, and was
destined at an early age for the Company’s
service. He was educated first at a private
school at Bromley, in Middlesex, and after-
wards at Eton College, where he remained

until he had entered upon his sixteenth year,
\hen he returned to India. He was ap-
pointed to a writership in the service of the
Company, wherein for seven years he filled
various offices, and in 1808 was selected by
Lord Minto to take charge of a difficult
mission to the Court of Lahore, the object
of which was to secure the Sikh States, be-
tween the Sutlej and Jumna Rivers, from
the grasp of Runjeet Singh. In this mission

he fully succeeded, the treaty being con-

i

glance ab | his previous career, but even that’

cluded in 1809. He subsequently filled ,
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several other high offices of trust, and in -

1827 took his seat as a member of the
Supreme Council of India. " Both his father
and elder brother had- meanwhile- died; and
he had become Sir Charles Metcalfe. '~

In 1835, upon Lord W. Bentinck’s resigna-
tion, Sir Charles Metcalfe was provxslonally

‘appointed Govemor-Genera,l which office be

held until Lord Auckland’s arrival in the
year following. During this short period he
effected many bold and popular reforms, not
the least of which was the liberation of the
press of India from all restrictions. Under
his immediate predecessor, Lord William
Bentinck, the press had been as free as it is
in England ; but there were still certain laws
or orders of a.severe character, which at the
pleasure of any future Governor might be
called into operation. These Sir Charles
Metcalfe repealed. His doing so gave um-
brage to the Directors, and caused his resig-
pation and return to Europe, when he was

. appointed Governor of Jamaica. The diffi-

cult duties of this position—the emancipa-
tion of the negroes having but recently
occurred—were discharged by him to the
satisfaction of the Government and the
colonists. 'After over two years’ residence
the climate proved so unfavourable to his
health that he was compelled to resign.

~‘The-painful disease of which he afterwards

died—cancer of the cheek—had seized him
in a firm grip.  Years before this time, when
residing at Calcutta, a friend had one day
noticed a red spot upon his cheek, and under-
neath it a single drop of blood. The blood
was wiped away; the red spot remained.
For a long while it occasioned neither pain
nor anxiety. A little time after his depar-
ture from India, disquieting symptoms ap-
peared, and on his arrival in England he
had consulted Sir Benjamin Brodie; but it
was not till his return from Jamaica that it
received the attention it really demanded.
Then consultations of the most eminent
surgeons and physicians were held, and the

a.pplieatiﬂn of a severe caustic was deter-
mined on. When told that it would prob-
ably «destroy the cheek "through and -

‘through,” he only answered, “What you

determine shall be done at once;” and the
same afternoon the painful remedy was
applied. The physicians and surgeons of -
London did what they could for him, and
he retired into the country.’ The disorder
had not been eradicated, but merely checked.
About this time the ill-health of Sir Charles
Bagot had rendered that gentleman’s resig-
nation necessary, and the post of Governor-
General of Canada thus became vacant. It
was offered to, and accepted by, Sir Charles
Metealfe. No appointment could have been
found for him at that moment in the whole
political world the duties of which were
miore difficult, when the nature of his in-
structions and the peculiar position of the
colony are taken into consideration. Add
to this that his whole life had hitherto been
passed in administering governments which
were largely despotic in their character.
Responsible Government, as-we have seen,
had been conceded to Canada. Sir Charles
professed to approve of this concession, but
his conduct throughout the whole course of
his administration was at variance with his
professions, and showed that his sympathies
were not on the side of popular rights. He ;..
came over in the month of March, 1843, and" -
on the following day took charge of the
Administration. For the composition of the
Government and an account of the situation
of affairs in Canada at this time the reader
is referred to the life of Robert Baldwin
which has already appeared in these pages.
The circumstances under which the Gover-
nor contrived to embroil himself with the
leading members of the Administration are
there given in sufficient detail, and there is
1o necessity for repeating them at length in
this place. Sir Charles chose his associates
and advisers from among the members of
the defunct Family Compact. "He endeav-
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oured to circumseribe the power of the
Executive Council, which demanded that
no office should be filled, no appointment
madé, without its sanction. We are, argued
the members of Council, in the same relation
to the House of Assembly as Ministers in
England to the English Parliament. We
are responsible to it for the acts of Govern-
ment ; these acts must be ours, or the result
of our advice, otherwise we cannot be re-
sponsible for them. TUnless our demand
is complied with, there is no such thing
as Responsible Government. On the other
hand, Sir Charles contended that by relin-
quishing his patronage he should be surren-

dering the prerogatives of the Crown, and

should also incapacitate himself and all
future Governors from acting as moderator
between opposite factions. It was not long
before an appointment, made by Sir Charles,
brought the contest to an issue. Messrs.
Baldwin and " Lafontaine, the two leading
members of the Executive Council, urged
upon the Governor to retract this appoint-
ment, or to promise that no other should be
made without their advice. The Governor
was firm in his refusal. The Executive
Council resigned. To form a new Ministry
was, under these circumstances, a most diffi-
cult task. Office went begging; a Solicitor-
Generalship was offered to six individuals,
and perseveringly refused by all. But Sir
Charles was also persevering in his offers, and
at last a seventh was found, who accepted.
At last a weak Ministry was formed,and then
followed a general election. Parliament met
at Montreal on the 8th of November, 1844,
when, after a hard fight, Sir Allan Macnab
was elected Speaker of the Assembly by a
small majority of three. The debate on the
address, after strong opposition, was' carried
by a Tory majority of six. The session
dragged on without any change in the char-
acter of the Ministry, which was supported
by a small and feeble majority in the As-
sembly. The popular feeling against the

Governor rose to the highest pitch. Mean-
time Sir Charles’s terrible malady was
rapidly doing its work upon him. He had
lost the use of one eye, and the eye which
was still useful sympathized with that
which was destroyed; nor was there any
hope of the eradication of the cancer. "He
had now, to his great regret, to use the hand -
of another to write his letters and de-
spatches. He was racked by pains above the
eye and down the right side of the face as
far as the chin. The cheek towards the
nose and mouth was permanently swelled.
He could not open his mouth to its usual

" width, and it was with difficulty he inserted

and masticated food. He no longer looked
forward to a cure. His Canadian medi-
cal attendants hesitated to apply the power-
ful caustic recommended by Sir Benjamin
Brodie, and counselled him to return to
England. “I am tied to Canada by my
duty,” was his constant reply. Mr. George
Pollock, houge surgeon of St. George’s Hos-
pital, was despatched from England, to ex-
amine the case and apply the most approved
remedies. No aid which science could give
was wanting, but the disease was beyond
all medical control. Its ravages were now
most painful and distressing. So far as the
body was concerned, it was but the wreck
of a man that remained. On this wreck or
ruin, however, was to descend, as if in mock-
ery, the coronet of nobility. He was created
Baron Metealfe. Idle as the honour was in
itself to the childless invalid, it was still a
testimony that his services had been appre-
ciated. “But,” says his biographer, “he was
dying, no less surely for the strong will
that sustained him, and the vigorous intel-
lect which glowed in his shattered frame.
A little while and he might die at his post.
The winter was' setting in—the navigation
was closing. It was necessary at once to
decide ‘whether Metealfe should now prepare
to betake the suffering remnant of himself to
England, or to abide at Montreal, if spared,

B I LUl o
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till the coming spring. But he would not
trust himself to form the decision. He in-
vited the leading members of his Council to
attend him at Monklands; and there he
told themi that he left the issue in their
hands. was a scene never to be forgotten
by any who were present in the Governor-
General’s darkened room on this memorable
occasion. Some were dissolved in tears.
All were agitated by a strong emotion of
sorrow and sympa.thy, mingled with a sort
of wondering admiration bf the heroic con-
stancy of their chief. He told them that
if they desired his continuance at the head
of the Government—if they believed that
the cause for which they had fought ‘to-
gether so manfully would suffer by his
departure, and that they therefore coun-
selled him to remain at his post, he would
willingly abide by their decision.” What
their decision was need bardly be said.
Lord Metcalfe embarked for England quietly
and unostenta.tlously, as his suﬁ'erma state
compelled. He could not, from the nature
of the struggle in which he had been en-
gaged, -expect. to qult the shores of Canada.-
w1th the same unanimous approbation that
bad erected to his memory the “ Metcalfe
Hall” at Calcutta, or raised his statue in
Spanish Town, Jamaica. He returned to
England—returned to doctors and the dark-
ened room. He was in constant pain except
when under the influence of narcotics; but
he mdde no complaint, and endured his
sufferings with fortitude. He died on the
" 5th of September, 1816, and was interred in
a quiet, private and unostentatious manner
in the little parish church of Winkfield,
near Fern Hill. He had often expressed a
wish. that this should be his last resting
place. On a marble tablet in this church is
an epitaph written by Mr.—afterwards Lord
—Macaulay, who knew and had served with
him in India. " Thus it runs:— Near this
stone is laid CEARLES THEOPHILUS, first and

‘last LorD METCALFE, a Statesman tried in

many high posts and difficult conjunctures,
and found equal to all. The Three Greatest

Dependencies of the British Crown were -

successively intrusted to his care. In India

his fortitude, his wisdom, his probity, and

his moderation are held in honourable re-
membrance by men of many races, lan-
guages, and religions. In Jamaica, still
convulsed by a social revolution, he calmed
the evil passions which long suffering had
engendered in one class and long domination
in another. In Canada, not yet recovered
from the calamities of civil war, he recon-
ciled contending factions to each other and
to the Mother Country. Public esteem was
the just reward of his public virtue, but
those only who enjoyed the privilege of his
friendship eould appreciate the whole worth
of his gentle and noble nature. ., Costly
monuments in Asiatic and American cities

attest the gratitude of mations which’ he -

ruled; this tablet records the sorrow and
the pf{le with which his memory is cher-
islied by private Affection.”

Had it been his good fortune to die be-

fore receiving the appointment of Governor-
General of Canada, Sir Charles Metcalfe
would have left behind him a high reputa-
tion on all hands, and there would have been
nothing to detract from the praise which
would have been justly his due.- His tenure
of office in this country was a somewhat in-
glorious close to a long and useful public
career. As Governor of a colony to which
Responsible Government had been conceded
he was altogether out of his element. He
was simply’ unfit for the position, as well
by reason of his personal character as by
the training to which he had been subjected.
Good intentions were undoubtedly his, and
he acted up to the light that was in him;
but to this modicum of praise no Canadian
writer can justly a.dd much in the way of
commendation.




" at Madras College, St. Andrews.

THE HON. ALEXANDER MORRIS.

Mﬁ MORRIS is the eldest son of the late

Hon. William Morris, whose name is
prominently identified with the history of
the Clergy Reserve and School Land ques-
tions in this country; and a nephew of

‘the late Hon. James Morris, who held the

portfolio of Postmaster-General in the Bald-
win-Lafontaine Administration, and who
was subsequently Receiver-General in the
Administration organized under the leader-
ship of Messrs. John Sandfield Macdonald
and Louis Victor Sicotte. The chief points
of public interest connected with the family
history are outlined in the sketch of his
father’s life, which appears elsewhere in
these pages. The subject of the present
memoir was born at Perth, Upper Canada—
where his father then resided and carried
on business—on the 17th of March, 1826.
In boyhood he attended the local Grammar
School, which enjoyed a high reputation for
the efficiency of its educational training.
His father, who was desirous that his son
should enjoy higher scholastic advantages
than were then obtainable in this country,
sent him, while he was still in early youth,
to Scotland, where he entered as a student
After
spending about a year at that establishment
he was tra.nsferred to the University of
Glasgow, where another industrious year
was pa.ssed Returning to his native land,
he began to devote himself to the business
of life. He at this time was intended for

commercial pursuits, and spent three years

in the establishment of Messrs. Thorne &
Heward, commission merchants, at Montreal.
The knowledge and experience gained du-
ring these three years have since proved of
great service to him, although he was not
destmed to engage in commerma,l business
on his own behalf He had meanwhile
resolved to enter the legal profession in
Upper Canada, and was accordingly articled
as a clerk to Mr.—now the Hon. Sir—John
A. Macdonald, in the office of Messrs. Mac-
donald & Campbell, Barristers, of Kingston.
Here he studied with such asmdmty that
his health gave way, and he was compelled
to relinquish his studies for some months.
His father having previously removed to
Montreal, he returned to that city and re-
sumed his scholastic studies in the Univer-
sity of McGill College, where he took the
degrees successively of B.A., M.A.,, B.CL.,
and D.CL. He was the first graduate in
the Arts course of that institution, and
was subsequently elected by the gradu-
ates one of the first Fellows in Arts, and

thence was promoted to be one of the Gov- -

ernors of the University, which position
he held for several years. He entered the
office of the then Attorney-General Badgley,
who subsequently became a Judge of the
Court of Queen’s Bench in Quebec. He
completed his course of studies in the office
of Messrs. Badgley & Abbott, and then pro-
ceeded to Toronto, where he presented his
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credentials to the Benchers of the ﬁw Sa-
ciety and requested to be called to the Bar,
under the provisions of the law which en-
abled-any person who had been duly regis-
tered as a clerk or student during the neces-
sary period for the Bar of Lower Canada, to
be called to the Bar of Upper Canada, after
passing the necessary examination. He was
examined in due course by the Benchers of
Upper Canada,admitted to the degree of Bar-
rister-at-Law, and was thereafter sworn in as
an Attorney—both in Hilary Term of the
year 1851. He was then about to establish

himself in the practice of the law in the city"

of Toronto, having been offered a partner-
ship by the then Attorney-General, the late
Hon. John Ross, when family circumstances
led to his return to Montreal, where, having

. ¢ presented his diploma as a Barrister-at-Law

of Upper Canada, he was after examination
called to the Bar of Lower Canada as an
Advocate. In November of the same year
he married Miss Margaret Cline, daughter of
the late Mr. William Cline,.of Cornwall, and
niece of the late Hon. Philip Vankoughnet, of
the same place. He entered upon the prac-

tice of his profession in Montreal. His ability |

and social connections soon secured for him
a large and lucrative practice, and having

_ entered into partmership with the present

Mr. Justice Torrance, he became known as
one of the most successful practitioners in
the Province, devoting himself mainly to
commercial law. Like his father before
him, he-attachéd himself to the Conserva-
tive side in politics, and first entered active
political life in 1861, when he contested
the eonstituency of South Lanark,.in Up-
per Canada, for the Legislative Assembly,
in opposition to Mr. John Doran. His
father had represented that comstituency
for twenty years, and he had no difficulty
in securing his election. Upon the open-
ing of the session he took his seat in the
House, and made his first spegch, on the
debate on the Speech from the Throne,

which was on the question of Representa-
tion by Population—a measure which he
did not believe to be the true remedy for the
unsatisfactory state of things which existed
throughout the country. = The true remedy,
as he believed, and as he repeatedly urged,

both from his place in Parliament and else-
where, was the Confederation scheme which
was subsequently adopted. In the negotla-
tions which led to the formation of the
Coalition Government, of which Sir John
A. Macdonald and the late Hon. George
Brown were members, and which secured
the necessary Imperial legislation in order
to bring about Confederation, he took an
active and initiatory pa.rt as appears by the
record of the steps taken to form the Gov-
ernment, and secure that policy submitted-
to the Parliament of Canada at the time.
He continued to represent South Lanark
in the Assembly until Confederation, after
which he represented it in the House of
Commons until the general election of 1872.
He was an active member, and stood high
in the esteem of his Party. In the month
of November, 1869, he accepted office in
the then-existing Government as Minister
of Inland Revenue, which he retained un-
til, having resigned his position in the Gov-

ernment owing to broken health, he re-
ceived the appointment of Chief Justice of
the Court of Queen’s Bench of Manitoba,
in July, 1872. Of this office he was the
first incumbent, no Court of Queen’s Bench
having previously existed there. The high-
est judicial tribunal which had existed in
the Prairie Province up to that time was
the Quarterly Court, as it was called, organ-
ized under -the authority of the Hudson’s
Bay Company’s Charter, and conducted in a
rather primitive way. A short time prior
to the date last mentioned this tribunal
was abolished, and the Court of Queen’s
Bench established in its place. After ac-
cepting the office of Chief Justice, Mr. Mor-
ris prepared a series of rules introducing
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the English practice into the Court. He
did not long retain his seat on the Judi-
cial Bench, as, two months after his appoint-
ment as Chief Justice, he was nominated

-.2a8 Administrator, in place of Lieutenant-

§

‘G‘bv,emor Archibald, who was absent on

leave.” On the 2nd of December, 1872, he
received the appointment of Lieutenant-
Governor of Manitoba and the North-West
Territories, a position which he retained for
five years. On the creation of the District
of Keewatin he became - Lieutenant-Gover-
nor of that territory ex officio. He was also
appointed Chief Superintendent of Indian
Affairg in the Manitoba Superintendency,

*and one of the Special Commissioners for

the making of treaties three, four, five and
six, and the revision of treaties one and two;
and, as will be seen from the last report of
the Minister of the Interior, he suggested the
making of the last and seventh treaty—that
with the Blackfeet. In the making of these
treaties he was the active Commissioner

and chief spokesman, and was very success- |

ful in winning the confidence of the Indian
tribes. The treaties in question extinguished
the natural title of the Indian tribes to the
vast region extending from™the Height of
Land beyond Lake Superior to the Black-
feet country in the vicinity of the Rocky
Mountains, covering the route of the Canada

" Pacific Railway, and opening up a vast

extent of fertile territory to settlement.
When Mr. Morris assumed the government
of Manitoba the Province was in a very dis-
turbed condition He had the satisfaction of
leaving it reduced to order, and far advanced
in settlement and legislative progress. . On
his departure from Manitoba, the Free Press,
the organ of the Liberal Party, thus referred
to his career in the North-West: “To-mor-
row is the last.day of Hon. Alexander Mor-
ris’s connection with Manitoba as Lieuten-
ant-Governor. When, five years ago, the

announcement was made that Chief Justice

Morris had been appointed to the position
R i A }

,neans an easy one.

which he is now just about vacating, very
general satisfaction was manifested by the
people of thé Province. Mr. Morris suc-
ceeded to the office when it was surrounded
by difficulties great and complicated; and
the task before its incumbent was by no
The Province occupied
a_most peculiar position; having just had
constitutional self-government thrust upon
it, without any preparatory training. The
Lieutenant-Governor necessarily found him-
self at the head of a people who, no matter
how good their intentions, could not rea-
sonably be expected to have a very per-
fect appreciation of the true position of a
Lieutenant-Governor under such a govern-
ment. Lieutenant-Governor Morris during
the early part of his official career had
plenty of evidence of this, and it devolved
upon him, in no small degree, to impress
upon them exactly what such government
entailed—that the Lieutenant-Governor was
supposed to act almost solely upon the ad-

'vice of the Crown Ministers of the day, who
in turn were responsible to the people’s

chosen representatives in Parliament. "And
in no one way has Governor Morris more dis-
tinguished himself than in the observance of
this fundamental principle of our constitu-
tion, however much he may actually have
assisted in the government of the country
by his ripe experience and statesmanship.
The smallest Province though Manitoba is,
the office of its Lieutenant-Governor has
entailed more extensive responsibilities than
that of any other Province in the Dominion.”

Upon the completion of his term of office
Mr. Morris returned from Manitoba to his

- native town of Perth, in Ontario, where he

had a residence. At the last general elec-
tion for the House of Commons, in 1878, he
contested the constituency of Selkirk, Mani-
toba, with the Hon. ‘Donald A. Smith, but
was defeated by nine votes. Mr. Smith was,
however, unseated on petition. About two
months later the Hon. Matthew Crooks
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Cameron, who sat in the Local Legislature of-
Ontario for East Toronto, was appointed to
a Puisné Judgeship of the Court of Queen’s
Bench. This left a vacancy in the repre-
sentation of East Toronto, and Mr. Morris,”
who was then a resident of Perth, was nomi-
nated for the vacancy by a Conservative
Convention. He offered himself as a candi-
date for the constituency, and was elected
by a considerable majority over his oppo-
nent, Mr. John Leys. At the general local
elections held on the 5th of June following
Mr. Morris was again returned for East
Toronto—of which he had in the interval
become a resident—by a majority of 57

" over the Hon. Oliver Mowat, Premier of On-

tario. He continues to represent that con-
stituency, and occupies a prominent place
as a member of the Opposition.

Mr. Morris has also made a creditable
name for himself in literature. In 1854 he
published a quasi-professional work em-
bodying the Railway Consolidation Acts of
Canada, with notes of cases. In 1855 ap-
peared “Canada and Her Resources,” an
essay to which was awarded the second
prize offered by the Paris Exhibition Com-
mittee of Canada—the first prize having
been awarded to the well-known essay
by the late Mr. John Sheridan Hogan by
Sir Edmund Head, then Governor-General.

Three years later—in 1858—he delivered

a lecture before the Mercantile Library

. Association of Montreal, in which was pre-

dicted the federation of the British Ameri-
can Provinces and the construction of the
Intercolonial and Pacific Railways—sub-
jects to which Mr. Morris had given a good
deal of attention ever since, when a youth,
he had read and studied Lord Durham’s
famous “ Report” on Canada. This lecture
was published, in pamphlet form, under
the title of “Nova Britannia; or, British
North America, its extent and future,” by
the Library Association. It was widely cir-
culated, and attracted a good deal of atten-

tion, not only in this country but in Great
Britain and the United States. No fewer
than three.thousand copies of it were sold
in ten days. " A centemporary notice of this
pamphlet thus refers to the author and his
theory: “Mr. Morris is at once statistical,
patriotic and prophetic. The lecturet sees
in the future a fusion of races, a union of
all the existing provinces, with new prov-
inces to grow up in the west, and & railway
to the Pacific. The design of the lecture is
excellent, and its facts seem to have been
carefully collected.” In 1839 Mr. Morris -
delivered and published another lecture of
a somewhat similar nature, under the title
of “The Hudson’s Bay and Pacific Terri-
tories,” advocating the withdrawal of the
North-West Territories from the rule of the
Hudson’s Bay Company, and their incorpora-
tion with the Confederacy of Canada slong
with British Columbia. His latest work,
published during the month of May last, is
entitled, “ The Treaties of Canada with the
Indians of Manitoba and the North-West
Territories.” It gives an account of all the
treaties made with these Indians, from the
original one made by Lord Selkirk down to.
the present time; contains suggestions for
dealing “with them, and “predicts a hopeful
future for them.

Mr. Morris has for many years taken an
active part in the Church Courts of, first, the
Presbyterian Church of Canada in connec-
tion with the Church of Scotland, and since
the union of the four Presbyterian Churches
of the Dominion as the Presbyterian Church
in Canada, as a representative to the As-
sembly .of that Church. He has been for
twenty years a Trustee of Queen’s College,
Kingston, of which his father was one of
the actiye founders. Mr. Morris actively
assisted in bringing about the union of the
Churches above alluded to, affirming it to
be in the highest interests of Presbyterian-
ism and religion in the Dominion that such
a consummation should be brought about.




e R
oo
R

T

LR T ke R,
R e




it 1 - o o % v B @ FoE LR I T R ) - e B i G W SADEND el e B S M R o i M BT SR DS
. b
) g
: | )
| !
t j
, !
i
; : : f
; - !
!
'
- §
i T
s
Y
- !
¢
. I
- I
oy .
PEA A
RO CoA T
'
i .

. -
RGO

]
.

&"v(//

Lot cath 4™ Lt

J M Pibbober Tovantn




C Dy -~ -wa o ¥ et < ¢ : e ' PRl e e
OP’ Rl L. . LI ae '
B * - - . “
. : ‘\ ;
’ .
i ’ . )
. . - - hv ’ v
! ' '
. ~ .
L i
. «
. ,
. .
o \
,
= ’ -t
- - ’ ’
K .
.
. o~ & c
. ‘ N ' ‘
~ ,
- ‘ :
-t ’ ’
) L . - f .
o : ’
. . * ,
4 .
. v h
-
"
: .
A ;
X- . . . ' ‘
]
. v?% : ’ h :
e : . M '
e ol
" p
- - = ’ : ‘ 7
. ,‘} .
. \ )
é 4 )‘
~ Al "
o . *
H - - . B
Tk ) S
v . N
. ' ’ ’
_ i - - -
‘ i . . - v
- ’ .
- .- ’
. . . -
. »
» - :
. " '
. . - e e i
- -« . . . -
Yeige e e P

7 At A e e s



SR

SR XA TYRA

. PP T b

-

TR

[ ¢
Wt .
:
' N ~
v N N ,
. i ' . i
S N i . t. . -
. . ) R
o . - .
. .
. . W . )
N . | .
: : . .
t
. . w“ .
" .
¢
. , ) .
®
-t " ‘
. ‘ .
? .
* 13
— :
- h e B
pedm STt i RURBELR .
N P 3 s D > o b T AT TR T i RS WATELT S B B :
Stb b b s haf fonl B Ble t st A i e AR T B S T s Eea £

SERTST Y.




/

4

—]

THE HON. THOMAS TALBOT.

OT often does it fall to the lot of the
biographer to chronicle a more singu-

lar piece of history than .is afforded by the
life of the founder of the Talbot Settlement
in Western Canada. A contemporary writer
has proved to us that Ireland has, at one
time and another, contributed her full share
of notable personages to our population ;
and Colonel Talbot is certainly entitled to
rank among the most remarkable of them
all. A man of high birth and social posi-
tion, of good abilities, with a decided natural
turn for an active military career, and with
excellent prospects of success before him,
he voluntarily forsook the influences under
which he had been reared, and spent by far
the greater part of a long life in the soli-
tude of the Canadian wilderness. He was
the early associate and life-long friend of
the illustrious Duke of Wellington. At the
outset of their careers, any impartial friend
of the two youths might not unreasonably
have predicted a higher and wider fame for
the scion of the House of Talbot than for
Arthur Wellesley ; for the former was the
brighter, and apparently the more ambitious
of the two, and his connections were at
least equally influential. Had any one
indulged in such a vaticination, howéver,
his prediction would have been most igno-
miniously falsified by subsequent events.
Arthur Wellesley lived to achieve a repu-
tation second to that of scarcely any name

4 " in history. He became the most famous

and successful military commander of mod-
ern times. Nations vied with each other in
heaping well-deserved honours upon his
head, and his Sovereign characterized him

as “ the greatest general England ever SaWs:_‘f\

Statesmen and princes hung upon his words,
and even upon his nod ; and lovély women
languished for his smiles. When he died,
full of years and honours, and everything
of good which a grateful nation has to
bestow, his body lay in state at Ghelsea
Hospital. It was visited by the high
and mighty ones of the Empire, and was
contemplated with an almost superstitious- .
awe. It was finally borne with regal pomp,
through streets draped in mourning, and
thronged by a countless multitude, to its
final resting-place in the ecrypt of the
noblest of English cathedrals. The funeral
rites were solemnized amid the tears of a
nation, and formed an event in that nation’s
history. The obsequies of “the Iron Duke”
took place on the 18th of November, 1852.
In less than three months from that date
his friend Colonel Talbot also went the way
of all flesh. But by how different a road!
His life, though it had by no means been
spent in vain, had had little to commend it
to the emulation or envy of mankind. Its
most vigorous season had been passed amid
the solitude of the Canadian forest, and in
its decline it had become the prey of selfish-
ness and neglect. Colonel Talbot died in a
small room in the house of a man who had
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once been his servant. He must have tasted
the bitterness of death many times before
he finally entered into his rest. Neither
wife, child, nor relative ministered to his
wants. But scant ceremony was vouchsafed
to his remains. His body, instead of lying
in state, was deposited in a barn, and was
finally attended to its last obscure resting-
place in a little Canadian village by a
handful of friends and acquaintances. The
weather was piercingly cold, and we may be
sure that the obsequies were not unneces-
sarily prolonged. Surely the force of an-
tithesis could not much farther go!

And yet, as we review the widely diverse
careers of these two remarkable men, it is
difficult to arrive at any other conclusion
than that the result in each case was the
legitimate outgrowth of their respective
qualities. Arthur Wellesley, in his earliest
boyhood, formed a definite purpose in life;
and that purpose, during all the years of his
probation, was kept constantly in view.
Every other passion was kept in due subor-
dination to it. Fortune was kind to him,
and he well knew how to avail himself of
her favours. The acquisition of fame, more-
over, bears some analogy to the acquisition
of wealth. . The first step is by far the most
difficult. Dr. Johnson once said that any
man of strong- will has it in his power to
make a fortune, if he can only contrive to
tide over the time while he is scraping to-
gether the first hundred pounds. Arthur
Wellesley, having got his foot firmly on the
first rung of the ladder, found the rest of
the ascent feasible enough. Now, Thomas
Talbot was endowed by nature with a will
so strong as almost to deserve the name of
stubbornness, but that was almost the only
quality which he shared in common ywith
his friend. If he ever formed any definite
scheme of life he was certainly very incon-
siglent in pursuing it. His moods were as
g{i’c as were those of the hero of Locksley

He was unable to bring his mind

into harmony with the inevitable, and knew
not how to subordinate himself to the ex-.
isting order of things. Even as an army-

officer he was not always amenable to disci--.

pline. The follies and frivolities of society
disgusted him, and his mind early received
a warp from which it never recovered.
He lived in a time when there was plenty
of work ready to his hand, if he would but
have condescended to take his share of it.
The work, however, was not to his taste,
and his ambition seems to have deserted
him ata most inopportune time. He “ burst
all links of habit,” withdrew himself from

his proper place in the world, and passed

the rest of his days in solitude and obscu-

rity. As the founder of an important

settlement in a new Province, he certainly
accomplished some good in his day and gen-
eration. The enterprise, however, does not
seem to have been undertaken with any
definite design of accomplishing good, but
merely with a view to securing a more con-
genial mode of life for himself. That a
man reared as he had been should find any-
thing congenial in such a life is a problem
which is insoluble to ordinary humanity.
The family from which he sprang has long
been celebrated both in English and con-
tinental history. Readers of Shakespeare’s
historical plays are, it is to be hoped, suf-
ficiently familiar with that “scourge of
France” who was defied by Joan of Are,
and who, with his son, John Talbot, fell
bravely fighting his country’s battles on the
field of Castillon, near Bordeaux. It would
be difficult for a man to sustain the burden of
a long line of such ancestors as these. It is
therefore reassuring to learn that the Talbot
line has been diversified by representatives
of "another sort. Readers of Macaulay’s
History are familiar with the name of Rich-
ard Talbot, that noted sharper, bully, pimp
and pander, who haunted Whitehall during
the years immediately succeeding the Res-
toration ; whose genius for mendacity pro-
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cured for him the nickname of “ Lying Dick
Talbot;” who became the husband of Frances
Jennings; who slandered Anne Hyde for the
money of the Duke of York ; who, ina word,
was one of the greatest scoundrels that fig-
ured in those iniquitous times; and who
was: subsequently raised by James IL to
the Earldom of Tyrconnel. “Lying Dick ”
was a member of the Irish branch of the
Talbot family, which settled in Ireland
during the reign of Henry II, and became
possessed of the ancient baronial castle of
Malahide, in the county of Dublin. The
Talbots of Malahide trace their descent
from the same stock as the Talbots who
have been Earls of Shrewsbury, in the peer-
age of Great Britain, since the middle of
the fifteenth century. The father of the
subjed® of this sketch was Richard Talbot,
of Malahide. His mother was Margaret,
_ Baroness Talbot ; and he himself was born
at Malahide on the 17th of July, 1771.

All that can be ascertained about his
childhood is that he spent some years at the
Public Free School at Manchester, and that
he received a commission in the army in the
year 1782, when he was only eleven years
of age. Whether or not he left school im-
mediately after obtaining this commission
does not appear, but his education. must
have been very imperfect, as he was not of
a studious disposition, and in 1786, when
he was only sixteen, we find him installed
as an aide-de-camp to his relative the Mar-
quis of Buckingham, who was then Lord
Lieutenant of Ireland. His brother aide was
the Arthur Wellesley already referred to.
The two boys were necessarily thrown much
together, and each of them formed a warm
attachment for the other. Their future
paths in life lay far apart, but they never
ceased to correspond, and to recall the happy
time they had spent together,

‘‘ Yearning for the large excitement that
the coming years would yield.”

Young Talbot continued in the position

of aide-de-camp for several years. In 1790
he joined the 24th Regiment, which was
then stationed at Quebee, in the capacity of
Lieutenant. We have no record of his life
during the next few months. Upon the
arrival of Lieutenant-Governor Simcoe at
Quebec, at the end of May, 1792, Lieuten-
ant Talbot, who had nearly completed his
twenty-first year, became attached to the
Governor’s suite in the capacity of private
secretary. He continued to form part of
the establishment of Upper Canada’s first
Lieutenant-Governor until just before the
latter’s removal from this country. “Du-
ring that period,” says General Simcoe,’
writing in 1803, “he not only conducted
many details and important duties inci-
dental to the original establishment of a
colony, in matters of internal regulation, to
my entire satisfaction, but was employed in
the most confidential measures necessary to
preserve the country in peace, without vio-
lating, on the one hand, the relations of
amity with the United States; and on the
other, alienating the affection 6f the Indian
nations, at that period in open war with
them. In this very critical situation, I
principally made use of Mr. Talbot for the
most confidential intercourse with the sev-
eral Indian Tribes; and occasionally with
his Majesty’s Minister at Philadelphia; and
these duties, without any salary or emolu-
ment, he executed to my perfect satisfac-
tion.”

It seems to have been during his tenure of
office as secretary to Governor Simcoe that
the idea of embracing a pioneer’s life in
Canada first took possession of young Tal-
bot’s mind. It has been alleged that his im-
agination was fired by reading a translation
of part of Charlevoix’s “Histoire Géné-
rale de la Nouvelle France,” a work which
describes the writer's own experiences in
the wilds of Canada in a pleasant and easy
fashion. This idea is probably attributable
to an assertion made by Colonel Talbot
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himself to Mrs. Jameson, when that lady
visited him during her brief sojourn in
Upper Canada. “Charlevoix,” said he,
“was, I believe, the true cause of my com-
ing to this place. You know he calls this
the Paradise of the Hurons. Now I was
resolved to get to-Paradise by hook or by
crook, and so I came here.” It is much
more probable, however, that he was influ-
enced by his own experiences in the Cana-
dian forest, which for him would possess

- all the charm of novelty, in addition to
' its natural beauties. He accompanied the

Lieutenant-Governor hither and thither, and
traversed in his company the greater part
of what then constituted Upper Canada.
He formed a somewhat intimate acquain-
tance with the Honourable William (sgoode,
the first Chief Justice of this Province,
who was for some time an inmate of Gov-
ernor Simcoe’s abode at Niagara—or New-
ark, as it was then generally called. The
Chief Justice felt the isolation of his posi-

* tion very keenly, and was doubtless glad to

relax his mind by communion.with the
young Irish lieutenant, who possessed nc
inconsiderable share of the humour charac-
teristic of his nationality, and could make
himself a boon companion. At this time
there would seem to have been nothing of
the misanthrope about Lieutenant Talbot.
He seemed to take fully as much enjoyment
out of life as his circumstances admitted of.
His constitution was robust, and his dispo-
sition cheerful. He was prim, and indeed
fastidious about his personal appearance,
and was keenly alive to everything that
was going on about him. He was popular
among all the members of the household,
and was the especial friend of Major Little-
hales, the adjutant and general secretary,
whose name is familiar to most persons who
take an interest in the history of the early

- settlement of this Province.

On the 4th of February, 1793, an expedi-

tion which was destined to have an im-

portant bearing upon the future life of
Lieutenant Talbot, as well as upon the fu-
ture history of the Province, set out, from
Navy Hall* to explore the pathless wilds of
Upper Canada. It consisted of Lieutenant-
Governor Simcoe himself and several of his
officers, among whom were Major Little-
hales and the subJect of the present sketch.
The Major kept a diary during the journey,
which was given to the world more than
forty years afterwards in the Canadian
Literary Magazine, a periodicéal of which
several numbers were published in Toronto
in 1834. The expedition occupied five
weeks, and extended as far as Detroit. The

route lay through Mohawk village, on the

Grand River, where the party were enter-
tained by Joseph Brant ; thence westward
to where Woodstock now stands ; and so on
by a somewhat devious course to Detroit,
the greater part of the journey being neces-
sarily made on foot. On the return journey
the party camped on the present site of

London, which Governor Simcoe then pro- .

nounced to be an admirable position for the
future capital of the Province. One im-
portant result of this long and toilsome
journey was the construction of Dundas
Street, or, as it is frequently called, “the
Governor’s Road.” The whole party were
delighted with the wild and primitive as-
pect of the country through which they
passed, but not one of them manifested such
enthusiasm as young Lieutenant Talbot,
who expressed a strong desire to explore
the land farther to the south, bordering on
Lake Erie. His desire was gratified in the
course of the following autumn, when Gov-
ernor Simcoe indulged himself and several
members of his suite with another western
excursion. During this journey the party
encamped on the present site of Port Talbot,
which the young Lieutenant declared to be

* Navy Hall was the Licutenant-Governor’s residence
at Newark. See the sketch of the life of Governor Sim-
co, in the first volume of this work.
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the loveliest situation for a dwelling he had
ever seen. “Here,” said he, “ will I roost,
and VV/ﬁ] soon make the forest tremble under
the wings of the flock I will invite by my
warblings around me.” Whether he was
serious in this declaration at the time may
be doubted ; but, as will presently be seen,
he ultimately kept his word.

In 1793 young Talbot received his majors
ity. In 1796 he became Lieutenant-Colonel
of the Fifth Regiment of Foot. He returned
to Europe, and joined his regiment, which
was despatched on active service to the
Continent. He himself was busily em-
ployed during this period, and was for some
time in command of two battalions. Upon
the conclusion of the Peace of Amiens, on
the 27th of March, 1802, he sold his com-
mission, retired from the service, and pre-
pared to carry out ‘the intention expressed
by him to Governor Simcoe nine years
before, of pitching his tent in the wilds of
Canada. Why he adopted this course it is
impossible to do more than conjecture. He
never married, but remained a bachelor to
the end of his days. Ome writer ventures
the hypothesis that he had been crossed in
love. The only justification, so far as we
are aware, for this hypothesis, is a half
jocular expression of the Colonel's some
years afterwards. A friend having bantered
him on the subject of his remaining so long
in a state of single blessedness, took an
opportunity of questioning him about it,
and in the course of a familiar chat, asked
him why he remained so long single, when
he stood so much in need of a help-mate.
“ Why,” said the Colonel, “to tell you the
truth, I never saw but one woman that
-~ I really cared anything about, and she
would’nt have me; and to use an old joke,
those who would have me, the devil would’nt
have them. Miss Johnston,” continued the
Colonel, “the daughter of Sir J. Johnston,
was the only girl I ever loved, and she
would'nt have me.” )

Whatever cause may have impelled him,
it is sufficiently evident that he had become
out of sorts with society, and had resolved
to betake himself to a distance from the
haunts of civilized mankind. Aided by the
influence of ex-Governor Simcoe and other
powerful friends, he obtained a grant of
five thousand acres of land as a Field Officer
meaning to reside in the Province, and to
permanently establish himself there. The
land was situated in the southern part of
the Upper Canadian peninsula, bordering
on Lake Erie, and included the site of what
afterwards became Port Talbot. This, how-
ever, was only a portion of the advantage
derivable from the grant. In addition to
the tract-so conferred upon him he obtained
a preémptive or proprietary right over an
immense territory including about half a
milfion acres, and comprising twenty-eight
of the'adjacent townships.* For every set-
tler placed by the Colonel on fifty acres of
this land, he was entitled to a patent of
a hundred and fifty additional acres for
himself. He thus obtained practical control
of an expanse of territory which, as has
been said, was “a principality in extent.”
Armed with these formidable powers he
once more crossed the Atlantic, and made
his way to the present site of Port Talbot,
which had so, hugely attracted his fancy
during his tour with Governor Simcoe. -He
reached the spot on the 21st of May, 1803,
and immediately set to work with his axe,
and cut down the first tree, to commemo-
rate his landing to take possession of his
woodland estate. The settlement which
subsequently bore his hame was then an
unbroken forest, and there were no traces

*From correspondence and documents laid before the.
Upper Canadian House of ' Assembly in 1836, and pub-
lished in the appendix to the Journal for that year, we
learn that the total quantity of land placed at Colonel
Talbot’s disposal amounted to exactly 518,000 acres. Five
years before that date (in 1831) the population of the Tal-
bot settlement had been estimated by the Colonel at nearly
40,000. It appears that the original grant did not include .
so large a tract, but that it was subsequently extended.
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of civilization nearer than Long Point, sixty '
miles to the eastward, while to the west-

ward the aborigines were still the lords of

the soil, and ruled with the tomahawk. In
this sequestered region Colonel Talbot took

up his abode, and literally made for him-

self “a local habitation and a name.”

At the time of his arrival he was accom-
panied by two or three stalwart settlers
who had crossed the Atlantic under his
auspices, and with their assistance he was
not. long in erecting an abode which was
thenceforward known as Castle Malahide.
It was built on a high cliff overhanging the
lake. The “ Castle” was “ neither more nor
less than a long range of low buildings,
formed of logs and shingles.” The main
structuré consisted of three divisions, or
apartments; viz, a granary, which was also
used as a store-room ; a dining-room, which
was also used as an office and reception-
room for visitors; and a kitchen. There
was another building close by, containing a

range of bed-rooms, where guests could be

made comfortable for the night. In his
latter years, the Colonel added a suite of
rooms of more lofty pretensions, but with-
out disturbing the old tenements, and these
sumptuous apartments were reserved for
state occagions. There were underground
cellars for wine, milk, and kitchen stores.
This description applies to the establish-
ment as it appeared when finally completed.
For some time after the Colonel’s first arrival
it was much less pretentious, and consisted
of a single log shanty. In order to prevent
settlers and other people from intruding
upon his privacy unnecessa.nly, the Colonel
caused one of the panes of glass in the
window of his office to be removed, and a
little door, swung upon hinges, to be substi-
tuted, after the fashion sometimes seen at
rural post-offices. By means of this little
swinging door he held conferences with all
persons whom he did not choose to admit to

- a closer communication. This, which at a

first glance, would seem to smack of super-
ciliousness, was in reality nothing more than
a judicious precaution. In the course of
his dealings with settlers and emigrants,
some of them were tempted, by the loneli-
ness of his situation, to browbeat, and even

' to manifest violence towards him. On one

occasion, it is said, he was assaulted and
thrown down by one of the “land pirates,”
as he used to call them. The solitary sit-
uation in which he had voluntarily placed
himself, and the power he possessed of dis-
tributing lands, required him to act fre-
quently with apparent harshness, in order
to avoid being imposed upon by land job-
bers, and to prevent artful men from over-
reaching their weaker-minded brethren. His
henchman, house-steward and major-domo,
was a faithful servant whose name was Jef-
fery Hunter, in whom his master had great
confidence, and who, as we are gravely in-
formed, was very useful in reaching down
the maps. Jeffery, however, did not enter
the Colonel’s employ until the latter had
been some time in the country. Previous
to that time this scion of aristocracy was
generally compelled to be his own servant,
and to cook, bake, and perform all the
household drudgery, which he was not un-
frequently compelled to perform in the pres-
ence of distinguished guests.

Some years seem to have elapsed before
the Colonel attracted any considerable num-
ber of settlers around him. The work of
settlement cannot be said to have commenced
in earnest until 1809. It wasno light thing
in those days for a man with a family de-
pendent upon him to bury himself in the
remote wildernesses of Western Canada.
There was no flouring-mill, for instance,
within sixty miles of Castle Malahide. In

the earliest years of the settlement the few .

residents were compelled to grind their own
grain after a primitive fashion, in a mortar
formed by hollowing out a basin in the
stump of & tree with a heated iron. The
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grain was placed in the basin, and then

pounded with a heavy wooden beetle until

it bore some resemblance to meal. In pro-
cess of time the Colonel built.a mill in the
township of Dunwich, not far from his own

. abode. It was a great boon to the settle-

ment, but was not long in existence, having
been destroyed during the -American in-
vasion in 1812. For the first twenty years
of the Colonel’s settlement, the hardships
he as well as his settlers had to contend
with were of no ordinary kind, and such
only as could be overcome by industry and
patient endurance.

Colonel Talbot for many years exerclsed
almost imperial sway over the district. He
even provided for the spiritual wants of
those in his immediate neighbourhood, and
assembled them at his house on the first
day of the week for religious worship.” He
read to them the services of the Church of

England, and insured punctual attendadice’

by sending the whiskey-bottle round among
his congregation at the close of the ceremo-
nial. Though never a religious man, even in
the broadest acceptation of the term, he
solemnized marriages and baptized the
children. So that his government was, in
the fullest and best sense, patriarchal. His
method of transferring land was eminently
simple and informal. No deeds were given,
nor were any formal books of entry called
into requisition. For many years the only
records were sheet maps, showing the posi-
tion of each-separate lot enclosed in a small
space within four black lines. When the
terms of transfer had been agreed upon,
the Colonel wrote the purchaser’s name
within the space assigned to the particular

~ lot disposed of, and this was the only muni-
.ment of title. If the purchaser afterwards

disposed of his lot, the vendor and vendee

appeared at Castle Malahide, when, if the

Colonel approved of the transaction, he

simply obliterated the former purchaser’s

name with a piece of md1a.-rubber and sub-
o1—e6

stituted that of the new one. “Illustrations
might be multiplied,” says a contemporary
Canadian writer, “of the peculiar way in
which Colonel Talbot. of Malahide dis-
charged the duties he had undertaken to
perform. There is a strong vein of thé

ludicrous running through these perform-

ances. We doubt whether transactions re-
specting the sale and transfer of real estate
were, on any other occasion, or in any other
place, carried on in a similar way. Penecil
and india-rubber performances were, we
venture to think, never before promoted to
such trustworthy distinction, or called on to
discharge such responsible duties as those
which they described on the maps of which
Jeffery and the dogs appeared to be the
guardians. There is something irresistibly
amusing in the fact that such an estate, ex-
ceeding half a million of acres, should have

Jbeen disposed of in such a manner, with

the help of such machinery, and, so far as

we are aware, to the satisfaction of all con-,

cerned. It shows that a bad system faith-
fully worked is better than a good system
basely managed.” *

During the American invasion of 1812-
’13 and 14, Colonel Talbot commanded the
militia of the district, and was present at
the battles of Lundy’s Lane and Fort Erie.
Marauding parties sometimes found their
way to Castle Malahide during this troubled
period, and what few people there were in
the settlement suffered a good deal of an-

noyance. Within a day or two after the bat- .

“seh met his doom, a party of these maraud-

tle of the Thames, where the bx%ve Tecum-

ders, consisting of Indians and scouts from
the American army, presented ‘themselves
at Fort Talbot, and summoned the garrison
to surrender. The place was not fortified,
and the garrison consisted merely of a few
farmers who had enrolled themselves in the

l
*See ‘¢ Portraits of British Americans,” by W. Notman ;

with Biographical Sketches by Fenmngs Ta.ylor vol. L,
p. 41,
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militia under the temporary command of
a Captain Patterson. A successful defence
was out of the question, and Colonel Talbot,
who would probably have been deemed an
important capture, quietly walked out of
the back door as the invaders entered at the
front. Some of the Indians saw the Colonel,
who was dressed in homely, everyday garb,
walking off through the woods, and were
about to fire on him, when they were re-
strained by Captain Patterson, who begged
them not to hurt the poor old fellow, who,
he said, was the person who tended the
sheep. This white lie probably saved the
Colonel’s life. The marauders,however,rifled
the place, and carried off everything they

could lay hands on, including some valuable .

horses and cattle. Colonel Talbot’s gold,
consisting of about two quart pots full, and

some valuable plate, concealed under the

front wing of the house, escaped notice.
The invaders set fire to the grist mill, which
was totally consumed, and this was a serious
loss to the settlement generally.

It was not till the year 1817 that any-
thing like a regular store or shop was estab-
lished in the settlement. Previous to that
time the wants of the settlers were fre-
quently supplied from the stores of Colonel
Talbot, who provided necessaries for his
own use, and for the men whom he em-
ployed. The Colonel was punctual in all

- his engagements, and scrupulously "exact in

all monetary transactions. The large sums
he received for many years from the settlers
were duly and properly accounted for to the
Government. Heswould accept payment of
his claims only in the form of notes on the

Bank of Upper Canada, and persons hav-

ing any money to pay him were always
compelled to provide themselves accordingly.
His accumulations were carefully stored in
the place of concealment above referred to;
and once a year he carried his wealth to
Little York, and made his returns. This

annual trip to Little York was made in the

depth of winter, and was almost the only
event that took him away from home, ex-
cept on the two or three occasions when he
visited the old country. He was accustomed
to make the journey to the Provincial capi-
tal in a high box sleigh, clad in a sheepskin
greatcoat which was known to pretty nearly
every man in the settlement.

Among the earliest settlers in the Talbot
District was Mr. Mahlon Burwell, a land sur-
veyor, who was afterwards better known as
Colonel Burwell. He was of great assistance
to Colonel Talbot, and became a priv'ileged
guest at Castle Malahide. He surveyed many
of the townships in the Talbot District, and
later on rose to a position of great influence
in the Province. His industry and persever-
ance long enabled him to hold a high place
in the minds of the people of the settlement,
and he enjoyed the reflection of Colonel
Talbot’s high and benevolent character.
He - entered the Provincial Parliament,
and for many years retained a large measure
of public confidence. Another early settler
in the District wasthe afterwards celebrated
Dr. John Rolph, who took up his quarters
on Catfish Creek in 1813. He was long on
terms of close intimacy and friendship with
Colonel Talbot, and in 1817 originated the
Talbot Anniversary, to commemorate the
establishment of the District, and to do
honour to its Founder. This anniversary
was held on the 21st of May, the Colonel’s
birthday, and was kept up without inter-
ruption for about twenty years. It was
attended by every settler who could possibly
get to the place of celebration, which was
sometimes at Port Talbot, but more fre-
quently at St. Thomas, after that place came
into existence. Once only it was held at
London. It is perhaps worth.while men-
tioning that St. Thomas was called in honour
of the Colonel’s Christian name. Here the
rustics assembled in full force to drink
bumpers to the health of the Founder of
the ‘settlement, and to celebrate “the day,
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and all who honour it.” The Colonel, of
course, never failed to appear, and even
after he had passed the allotted age of three
score and ten, he always led off the first
dance with some blooming maiden of the
settlement.

Practically speaking, there is no limit to
the number of’ anecdotes which are rife to
this day among the settlers of the Talbot
District with respect to the Colonel’s eccen-
tricities and mode of life. On one occasion a
person named Crandell presented himself at
Castle Malahide, late in the evening, as an
applicant for a lot of land. He was ushered
- into the Colonel’s presence, when the latter
turned upon him with a flushed and angry
countenance, and demanded his money. The
Colonel’s aspect was so fierce, and the situa-
" -tion was so lonely, that Crandell was alarmed
" for his life, and forthwith surrendered all

his capital. He was then led off by Jeffery to
the kitchen, where he was comfortably en-
tertained for the night. The next morning
the Colonel settled his business satisfactorily,
and returned him his money, telling him that
he had taken it from him to prevent his be-
ing robbed by some of his rascally servants.
On another occasion a pedantic personage
who lived in the Township of Howard, and
who spent much time in familiarizing him-
self with the longest words to be found
in the Dictionary, presented himself be-
fore the Colonel, and began, in polysyl-
labic phrases, to lay a local grievance be-
fore him. 'The language employed was so
periphrastic and pointless that the Colonel
was at a loss to get at the meaning in-
tended to be conveyed. After listening for
a few moments with ill-concealed impa-
tience, Talbot broke out with- a profane
exclamation, adding: “If you do not come
down to the level of my poor understand-
ing, I can do nothing for you” The man
profited by the rebuke, and commenced in
plain words; but in rather an ambiguous
manner, to state that his neighbour was un-

worthy of the grant of land he had ob-
tain'ed, as he was not working well. “Come,
out with it,” said the Colonel, “for I see
now what you would be at. You wish to
oust your neighbour, and "get the land for
yourself.” After enduring further character-
istic expletives, the man took himself off in-
continently. Although many of his settlers
were native Americans, the Colonel had an
aversion to Yankees, and used to say of them

. that they acquired property by whittling

chips and barter—by giving a shingle for a
blind pup, which they swopped for a goose,
and then turned into a sheep. On another
occasion, an Irishman, proud of his origin,
and whose patronymic told at once that he
was a son of the Emerald Isle, finding that
he could not prevail with the Colonel on
the score of being a fellow-countryman, re-
sorted to rudeness, and, with more warmth
than discretion, stood upon his pedigreé,
and told the Colonel that his family was as
honourable, and the coat of arms as respect-
able and as ancient as that of the Talbots of
Malahide. Jeffery and the dogs were always
the last resource on such occasions. *“ My
dogs don’t understand heraldry,” was the
laconic retort, “and if you don’t take your-
self off, they will not leave a coat to.your
back.”

By the time the year 1826 came round,
Colonel Talbot, in consequence of his exer-
tions to forward the interests of his settle-
ment, had begun to be very much straitened
for means. He accordingly addressed a
letter to Lord Bathurst, Secretary for the
Colonies in the Home Government, asking
for some remuneration for his long and
valuable services. In his application for
relief we find this paragraph: “After twenty-
three years entirely devoted to the im-
provement of the Western Districts of this
Province, and establishing on their lands

- about 20,000 souls, without any expense for

superintendence to the Government, or the
persons immediately benefited ; but, on the
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\contrary, at a sacrifice of £20,000, in ren-

dering them comfortable, I find myself
entirely straitened, and now wholly without
capital.” He admitted that the tract of land
he had received from the Crown was large,
but added that his agricultural labours had
been unproductive—a eircumstance not much
to be wondered at when it is borne in mind
that his time was chiefly occupied in selling
and portioning out the land. The Home
Government responded by a grant of £400
sterling per annum. The pension thus con-
ferred was not gratuitous, but by way of
recompense for his services in locating
settlers on the waste lands of the Crown.

-That he was entitled to such a recompense

few, at the present day, will be found to
deny. He was a father to his people, and,
in the words of his biographer, “acted as
the friend of the poor, industrious settler,
whom he protected from the fangs of men
in office who looked only to the fees.”*

In course of time the Colonel’s place of

- abode at Port Talbot .came to be a resort

for distinguished visitors to Upper Canada,
and the Lieutenant-Governors of the Prov-
ince frequently resorted thither. The late
Chief Justice Sir John Beverley Robinson
was a frequent.and an honoured guest at
Castle Malahide ; and Colonel Talbot, in his
turn, generally aﬁa?iled himself of the hos-
pitality of the Chief Justice dérring his an-
nual visits to Little: York. Among scores

of other distinguished visitors M4y be men- -

tioned the Duke of Richmond, Sir Peregrine
Maitland, Lord Aylmer and Sir John Col-
borne. Mrs. Jameson also visited the spot
during her sojourn in this country just be-
fore the rebellion, and .published the most
readable account of it that has yet appeared.
Speaking of the Colonel himself, she says :
“This remarkable man is now about sixty-
five, perhaps more, but he does not look so
much. In spite of his rustic dress, his good-

* See ‘‘Life of Colonel Talbot,” by Edward Ermatinger ;
p. 70.

humoured, jovial, weather-beaten face, and
the primitive simplicity, not td say rude-

| ness, of his dwelling, he has in his features,

air, and deportment, that something which
stamps him gentleman. And that some-
thing which thirty-four years of solitude
have not effaced, he derives, I suppose, from
blood and birth—things”of more conse-
quence, when philosophically and philan-
thropically considered, than we are apt to
allow. He must have been very hand-
some when young ; his resemblance now to
our royal family, particularly to the King,
(William the Fourth,) is so very striking as
to be something next to identity. Good-
natured people have set themselves to ac-
count for this wonderful likeness in various
ways, possible and impossible ; but after a
rigid comparison of dates and ages, and
assuming, all that latitude which scandal
usually allows herself in these matters, it
remains unaccountable. I had always
heard and read of him as the ‘eccentric’
Colonel Talbot. Of his eccentricity I heard
much more than of his benevolence, his
invincible courage, his enthusiasm, his per-
severance; but perhaps, according to the
worldly nomenclature, these qualities come
under the general head of ‘eccentricity,
when devotion to a favourite object cannot
possibly be referred to self-interest.

Colonel Talbot’s life has been one of perse-
vering, heroic self-devotion to the comple-
tion of a magnificent plan, laid down in the
first instance, and followed up with unflineh-
ing tenacity of purpose. For sixteen years
he saw scarce a human being, except the

few boors and blacks employed in clearing

and logging his land: he himself assumed
the blanket-coat and axe, slept upon the
bare earth, cooked three meals a day for
twenty woodsmen, cleaned his own boots,
washed his own linen, milked his cows,
churned the butter, and made and baked
the bread. In this latter branch of house-
hold economy he became very expert, and
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still piques himselfy on it.” Of the chiteau
itself and itsyimrgediate surroundings, she
says: “It” (the chiteau) “is a long wooden
building, chiefly of rough logs, with a covered
porch running along the soiith side. -Here I
found suspended, among sundry implements
of husbandry, one of those ferocious animals*
of the feline kind, called here the cat-a-
mountain, and by some the American tiger,
or panther, which it more resembles. This
one, which had been killed in its attack on
the fold or poultry-yard, was at least four
feet in length, and glared on me from the
rafters above, ghastly and horrible. The
interior of the house contains several com-
fortable 16dging-rooms ; and one really hand-
some one, the dining-room. There is a
large kitchen with a tremendously hospita-
ble chimney. Around the house stands a
vast variety of outbuildings, of all imagin-
able shapes and sizes, and disposed without
the slightest regard to order or symmetry.
One of these is the very log hut which the
Colonel erected for shelter when he first “sat
down in the bush,” four-and-thirty years
ago, and which he is naturally unwilling
to remove. Many of these outbuildings are
to shelter the geese.and poultry, of which
he rears an innumetaple quantity. Beyond
these is the cliff, looking over the wide blue
lake, on which I havey\‘counted six schooners
at a time with their white sails; on the left
is Port Stanley. Behind the house lies an
open tract of land, prettily broken and
varied, where large flocks of sheep and
cattle were feeding—the whole enclosed by
beautiful and Tuxuriant woods, through
which runs the little creek or river. The
farm consists of six hundred acres; but as
the Colonel is not quite so active as he used
to be, and does not e}mploy a bailiff or over-
seer, the management is said to be slovenly,
and not so produciﬁlve as it might be. He
has sixteen acres of orchard-ground, in
which he has planted and reared with suc-
cess all the common European fruits, as_

-
o

. f//)

apples, pears, plums, cherries, in abundance;
but what delighted me beyond everything
else was a garden of more than two acres,
very neatly laid out and enclosed, and in
which he evidently took exceeding pride
and pleasure; it was the first thing he
showed me after my arrival. It aboundsin
roses of different kinds, the cuttings of
which he had brought himself from Eng-
land in the few visits he had made there.

. Of these he gathered the most beautiful

buds, and presented them to me with such
an air as might have become Dick Talbot
presenting a bouquet to Miss Jennings.
We then sat down on a pretty seat under a
tree, where he told me he often came to
meditate. He described the appearance of
the spot when he first came here, as con-
trasted with its present appearance, or we
discussed the exploits of some of his cele-
brated and gallant ancestors, with whom
my acquaintante was (luckily) almost as
intimate as his own. Family and aristo-
cratic pride I found a prominent featuré in
the character of this remarkable man. A
Talbot of Malahide, of a family representing
the same barony from father to soh for six
hundred years, he set, not unreasonably, a
high value on his noble and unstained lin-
eage ; and, in his lonely position, the simpli-
city of his life and manners lent to these
lofty and not unreal pretensions a kind
of poetical dignity. Another thing
which gave a singular interest to my con-
versation with Colonel Talbot was the sort
of indifference with which he regarded all
the stirring events of the last thirty years.
Dynasties rose and disappeared; kingdoms
were passed from hand to hand like wine
decanters ; battles were lost and won ;—he
neither knew, nor heard, nor cared. No
post, no newspaper brought to his forest-
hut the tidings of victory and defeat, of
revolutions ef-empires, or rumours of un-
succéssful and successful war.”

——The faithful servant, Jeffery Hunter,
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came in for a share of this clever woman’s
keen observation. “This honest fellow,” she
tells us, “not having forsworn female com-

panionship, began to sigh after a wife—and

like the good knight in Chaucer, he did

¢ Upon his bare knees pray God him to send
A wife to last unto his life’s end.’

So one morning he went and took unto
himself the woman nearest at hand—one,
of whom we must needs suppose that he
chose her for her virtues, for most certainly
it was not for her attractions. The Colonel
swore at him for‘a fool ; but, after a while,
Jeffery, who i§"&- favourite, smuggled his
wife into the hqtusé; and the Colonel, whose
increasing age renders him rather more de-
pendent on household help, seems to endure
very patiently this addition to his family,
and even the presence of a white-headed
chubby little thing, which I found rupning
about without let or hindrance.”

In politics Colonel Talbot was a Tory,
but as a general rule he took no part in the
election contests of his time. His servant
J eﬁ'ery:Hl_mter, however, who seems to have
had a vote on his own account, was always
despatched promptly to the polling-place to
record his vote in favour of the Tory candi-
date. The Colonel was a Member of the
Legislative Council, but he seldom or never
attended the deliberations of that Body.
During the Administration of Sir John Col-
borne, when the Liberals of Upper Canada
fought the battles of Reform with such
energy and vigour, the Colonel for a single
campaign identified himself with the con-
test, and made what seems to have been
rather an effective election speech on the
platform at St. Thomas. He traced the
history of the settlement, and referred to
his own labours in a fashion which elicited
tumultuous applause from the crowd. He
deplored the spread of radical prineiples,
and expressed his regret that some advocates
of those principles had crept into the neigh-

bourhood. The meeting passed a loyal ad-
dress to the Crown, which was dictated by
Colonel Talbot himself. This, so far as is
known, was the only political meeting ever
attended by him in this Province.

The Colonel was nominally a member of
the Church of England, and contributed
liberally to its support, though, as may -well
be supposed, he was never eaten up by his
zeal for episcopacy. By some people he was
set down as a freethinker, and by others as
a Roman Catholic. The fact is that the pre-
vailing tone of his mind was not spiritual,
and he gave little thought to matters theo-
logical. During the early yeats of the set-
tlement, as we have seen, he was wont to
read service to the assembled rustics on
Sunday ; but this custom was abandoned as
soon as churches began to be accessible to
the people of the neighbourhood ; and after
that time, though he was occasionally seen
at church, he was not an habitual attendant
at public worship. He was fond of good
company, and liked to tell and\lJjsten to
dubious stories “across the walnuts and the
wine.” A clergyman who officiated at a
little church about five miles from- Port
Talbot was his frequent guest at dinner,
until the Colonel’s outrageous jokes and
stories proved too much for the clerical idea
of the eternal fitness of.things. “It must,”
says his biographer, “have been rather a
bold venture for a young clergyman to come
in contact with a man of Colonel Talbot’s

-wit and racy humour, and a man who would .

startle at the very idea of being priest ridden;
in fact,who would be much more likely to
saddle the priest. The reverend gentleman
bore with him a long while, till at length
finding that he was not making any progress
with the old gentleman in a religious point
of view—on the contrary, that his salljes of
wit became more frequent and cutting—he
left him to get to heaven without his assist-
ance. Colonel Talbot was never pleased
with himself for having said or done any-
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thing to provoke the displeasure of his rev-"

erend guest, but being in the habit-at table,
after dinner, of smacking his lips over a glass
of good port, and cracking jokes, which ex-
torted from his guest a half approving smile,
he was tempted to exceed the bounds which
religious or even chaste conversation would
preseribe, and came so near proving ¢n vino
veritas, that the reverend gentleman would
never revisit him, although I believe it
was Colonel Talbot’s earnest desire that he
should.” A

Bad habits, if not checked in season,
have a tendency to grow worse. As the
Colonel advanced in years his liking for
strong drink increased to such an extent
that the in vino veritus stage was, we fear,
reached pretty often. To such a state of
things his solitary life doubtless conduced,
He had an iron constitution, however, and

it does not appear that his intemperate '

habits during the evening of his life mate-
rially shortened his days. He lived long
enough to see the prosperity of his settle-
ment fully assured. For many years prior
to his death it appears to have been his
cherished desire to bequeath his large estate
to one of the male descendants of the Tal-
bot family, and with this view he invited
one of his sister’s sons, Mr. Julius Airey, to
come over from England and reside with

him at Port Talbot. This young gentle- |

man accordingly came to reside there, but
the dull, monotonous life he was obliged to
lead, and the Colonel’s eccentricities, were
ill calculated to engage the affections of a
youth just verging on manhood ; and after
rusticating, without companions or equals
in either birth or education, for some time,

. he returned to England and relinquisll::%‘

whatever claims he might consider he

on his uncle. Some years later a younger
brother of Julius, Colonel Airey, Military
Secretary at the Horse Guards, ventured
upon a similar experiment, and came out

to Canada with his family to live at Port

"Talbot. About this time the Colonel’s health

began seriously to fail, and his habits began
to gain greater hold upon him than ever.
As a necessary consequence he became crab-
bed and irritable. The uncle and nephew

could not get on together. “The former,”

says his biographer, “had been accustomed
for the greater portion of his life to suit the
convenience of his domestics, and, in common
with the inhkabitants of the country, to dine
at noon ; the latter was accustomed to wait

for the buglecall, till seven o’clock in the -

evening. Colonel Talbot could, on special
occasions, accommodate himself to the habits
of his guests, but to be regularly harnessed
up for the mess every day was too much to
expect from so old a man; no wonder he
kicked in the traces. He soon came to the
determination of keeping up a separate es-
tablishment, and another spacious mansion
was erected adjoining Colonel Airey’s, where
he might, he thought, live as he pleased.
But all would not do, the old bird had been
disturbed in his nest, and he could not be
reconciled.” He determined to leave Canada,
and to end his days in the Old World. He
transferred the Port Talbot estate, valued at
£10,000, together with 13,000 acres of land
in the adjoining township of Aldborough,
to Colonel Airey. This transfer, however,
left more than half of his property in his
own hands, and he was still a man of great
wealth. Acting on his determination to
leave Canada, he started, in his eightieth
year, for Europe. Upon reaching London,
only a day’s journey from Port Talbot, he
was prostrated by illness, and was confined
to his bed for nearly a faonth. He rallied,
however, and resumed his journey.. In due
time he reached London the Greater. He
was accompanied on the voyage by Mr.
George McBeth, the successor to the situ-
ation of Jeffery Hunter, who had died some

.years before. McBeth had gained complete

ascendancy over the Colonel’s failing mind.
Being a young man of some education, and
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a good deal of finesse, he was treated by his
master as a companion rather than as a ser-
vant, and the latter merited his master’s re-
gard- by nursing him with much care and
attention. - ~. 0

Colonel Talbot remalned in London some-
what more than a year, during which period,

as also during his previous Visits to Eng-
land, he renewed old associations with the
friend of his youth, the great Duke. -He'

was often the latter's guest at Apsley
House, and the stern old hero of a hundred
fichts delighted in his society. Londom
however, was distasteful to Colonel
Talbot, and, after giving it a fair trial, he
once more bade adieu to society and re-
paired to Canada—always attended assidu-
ously by George McBeth. Upon reaching
the settlement he took lodgings for himself
and his companion in the house ‘of Jeffery
Hunter’s widow. Here, cooped up in a
small room, on the outskirts of the magnifi-
cent estate which was no longer his own,

he received occasional visits from his old

friends. "~ Colonel "Airey, meanwhile, had
rented the Port Talbot property to an Eng-
lish gentleman named Saunders, and had |
returned to his post at the Horse Guards in.
England. Mr._Saunders had several daugh-

ters, to one of whom George McBeth paid .

assiduous court, and whom he afterwards
married. Upon his marriage. he removed
to London, accompanied by Colonet Talbot,
who resided with him until his death, on the

6th of February, 1853. When the Colonel’s

will was opened it was found that with the

exception of an annuity of £20 to Jeffery

“Hunter's widow, all his vast estate, esti-
mated at £50, 000 had been left to George
McBeth.

The funeral took place on the 9th. On the
previous day—the 8th—the body was con-

veyed in a heatse from London to Fingal, on™-

the way to Port Talbot, so asto be ready for
interment on the following morning.

-was placed for the night in the barn or gran-
aryof the localinn. The settlers were scan-
dalized at this indignity, and one of them
begged, with tears in his eyes, that the body
might be removed to his house, which was
close by. The undertaker, who is said to

have been under the influence of hqnor de-

clined to accede to this request and the
body rémained all mght in the barn. On
the following morning it was replaced in
the hearse and conveyed to Port Talbot,

whereé it rested for a short time-swithin the .

walls of Castle Malahide. A few-atfached
friends from London and other parts of the
settlement attended the coffin to its place of
sepulture in the churchyard at Tyrconnel.
The officiating clergyman, the Rev.Mr. Hol-
land, read the service in a cutting wind, and
the ceremony was ended. A plate on the
oaken coffin bore the simple inscription:

/
THOMA§.‘IA_B_0T

FouNDER OF THE TALEOT SETTLEMENT,

Diep 6t FEBrUARY, 1853.
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~AHE HON. DAVID LAIRD,

LIEUTENANT-GOVERNOR OF THE NORTH-WEST TERRITORIES.

HE HON. DAVID LAIRD is the fourth
son of the late Hon. Alexander Laird,

a Scottish farmer who, in the year 1819,
emigrated from Renfrewshire to Prince Ed-
ward Island. The late Mr. Laird settled
in Queen’s County, about sixteeh miles from
Charlottetown, the capital of the Provinee,

‘dnd devoted himself to agriculture. He was

a man of high character and great influence,
alike in political and social matters. For
about sixteen years he represented the First
District of Queen’s County in the Local As-

. sembly, and during one Parliamentary term

of four years he was a member of the Execu-
tive Council. He was a colleague and sup-
porter of the Hon. Georo'e Coles, who is called
the father of Respons1b1e Government in
Prince Edward Island. He was one of the
signatories to the petition forwarded by

the Assembly to the Home Government in

1847, praying that Responsible Government
might be conceded ;" and he had the satis-
faction of sitting in the Assembly on the
25th of March, 1851, when Sir Alexander
Bannerman, the Governor, announced that
the prayer of the petition had been granted.
He was also-for many years one of the most
active members of the Managing Committee
of the Royal Agricultural Society of Prince
Edward, an institution which did much’ for
the advancement of a.grlqultural industry in
the Province, by encouraging the importa-
tion of improved stock, and by other similar
operations.
m—7

The subject of this sketch was born at
the paternal home, near the, village of New
Glasgow, Queen’s County, in the year 1833.
He was educated at the district school of his'
native settlement, and afterwards entered
the Theological Seminary of the Presby-
terian Church of Nova Scotia, which was
then situated at Truro, in that Province.
He completed his education at the Seminary,
and soon afterwards embarked in journalism
at Charlottetown, where he founded a news-
paper called The Patriot. Under his editor-
ship and business management this journal
became, in the course of a few years, the
leading organ of public opinion in Prince
Edward Island. It advocated Liberal prin-
ciples, and was conducted with much energy
and ability. The editor had inherited Lib-
eral ideas from his father, and spoke and
wrote on behalf of them with great effect.

After a time he became estranged from

the leader of the Liberal Party, the chief
cause of estrangement arising from the lat-
ter's having lent his countenance to some
proceedings tending to exclude the Bible

from the Common Schools. All minor causes

of controvei'sy, however, were cast into the.
shade by the great question of Confedera-
tion. After the close of the Quebec Con-
ference in October, 1864, Mr. Laird took a
firm stand against the terms of the scheme
agreed upon by the delegates, in so far as
they related to his native Province. He
assigned as his principal reasons for adopt- .
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ing this course the fact that the terms con-
tained no proposal for the settlement of the
Land Question, which had long been a sore
grievance with the tenantry of the island ;
and the further fact that rio provision was
made for the construction of public works,
although the island could be ¢alled dpon to
contribute its quota of taxation towards the
Intercolonial Railway, the canals, and the
Pacific Railway. He took an active part in
the promotion of sanitary and @ther local
improvements, and was for some years a
member of the Charlottetown City Coun-
cil. His first entry into Parliamentary life
took place in 1871. The then-existing Gov-
ernment, under the leadership of the Hon.
James Colledge Pope (the present Minister
of Marine and Fisheries in the Dominion
Government), had carried a measure for the
construction of the Prince Edward Island
Railway, running nearly the entire length
of the island. This project Mr. Laird had
opposed, on the ground that it should have
been first submitted to the people at the
polls, and also because he regarded the un-
dertaking as beyond the resources of the
Province. The Government, however, had
carried the Bill providing for the construc-
tion of the road through the House during

the previous session, and the surveyors and.

Commissioners had been appointed. - The
Chairman of the Commissioners, the Hon.
James Duncan, represented the constituency
of Belfast in the Legislative Assembly, and
was obliged to return to his constituents for
reélection after accepting office. Mr. Laird
offered himself as a candidate in opposition
to the Government nominee. His candi-
dature was successful. The Commissioner
was defeated, and Mr. Laird secured a seat
in the Assembly. A good deal of dissatis-
faction had been excited by the proceedings
of the Local Government in connection with

the construction of the road, the result being -

that Mr. Pope, when he next met the House,

found he had lost the confidence of the ma-

~

jority, and being defeated, he dissolved the
House and appealed to the country. The
appeal was disastrous to his policy, a ma-
Jority of the memHers returned being hostile
to his Government. Among these was Mr.
Laird, who was elected a second time for:
Belfast. A new Government was formed
with Mr. R. P. Haythorne as Premier. Du-
ring the following autumn Mr. Laird ac-
cepted office in, this Government, and was
sworn in as a Member of the Executive
Council in November, 1872. Finding that
if the railway were proceeded with on the
credit of Prince Edward Island alone, the
Provincial finances would be seriously em-
barrassed, the new Ministers responded fa-
vourably to an invitation from Ottawa to
reconsider the question of Union. Mr.
Laird formed one of the delegation which
proceeded ttawa and negotiated terms
of Union with the Dominion Government.
After thé return of the delegates the Local
House was dissolved in order that the terms
agreed upon might be submitted to the
people. A good deal of finesse was prac-
tised by the Opposition, and various side
issues were imported into the election con-
test. The result was the return of a ma-
jority hostile to Mr. Haythorne’s Ministry,
and Mr. Pope again succeeded.to the reins
of Government. Under his auspices the
terms of Union were slightly modified, and
Prince Edward Island entered Confedera-
tion.

Mr. Laird had meanwhile succeeded to the
leadership of the Liberal Party. The House
did not divide, however, on the question of
Confederation, and both Parties concurred
in supporting the measure. Mr. Laird re-
signed his seat in the Local Legislature, and
offered himself as a candidate for the House
of Commons for the electoral district of
Queen’s County. He was returned by a
large majority, and on the opening of the
second session of the second Parliament of
the Dominion, in October, 1873, he took his
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seat in the House of Commons at Ottawa.
~—~The Pacific Scandal disclosures followed,
and Sir John A. Macdonald’s Government
made way for that of the Hon. Alexander
Mackenzie. In the new Administration Mr.
Laird accepted the portfolio of Minister-of
the Interior, and was sworn into office on
the 7th of November. Upon returning to
his constituents in Queen’s County he was
returned by acclamation. He was again
returned by acclamation at the general elec-
tion of 1874. He retained his office of
Minister of the Interior until the 7th- of
October, 1876, when he was™ appointed by
the Governor-General to the Lieutenant-
Governorship of the North-West Territories.
This position he has ever since filled with
the best results to the Dominion. During

his tenure of office as Minister of the Inte-

4

rior he carried several important measures
through Parliament, and—in the summer
of 1874—effected an important Treaty with
the Indians of the North-West, whereby he
secured to the Crown the possession of a
tract of 75,500 square miles in extent, and
thus guaranteed the peaceable possession of
a large portion of the route of the Canada
Pacific Railway and its accompanying tele-
graph lines. ‘

In 1864 Mr. Laird married Mary Louisa,
second daughter of the late Mr. Thomas
Owen, who was for many years Postmaster-
General of Prince Edward Island. An elder

. brother of the Lieutenant-Governor, the

Hon. Alexander Laird, held office in the
late Local Government of Prince Edward
Island, and at present represents the Second

District of Prince, in the Local Assembly.
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THE HON. CHARLES E.

HE Bouchers and De Bouchervilles for
over two hundred years have played no
unimportant part in the history of Canada.
Lieutenant-General Pierre Boucher, Sieur
de Grobois, Governor of Three Rivers in
1658, the founder of the Seigniory of Bou-

. cherville, and a man of great influence in

kis day, was one of ‘the most noted members
of the family. The late Hon. P. Boucher de
Boucherville, for many years a Legislative
Councillor of Lower Canada, was the father
of the subject of this sketch, who was
born at Boucherville, Province of Quebec, in
1820. He was educated at St. Sulpice Col-
lege, Montreal. He subsequently went to
Paris, pursued his studies in the medical
profession there, and graduated with high
honours. He has, been married twice, first
to Miss Susanne Morrogh, daughter of Mr.
R. L. Morrogh, Advocate, of Montreal ; and
after her death, to Miss C. Luissier, of
Varennes. In 1861 he was elected to the
House of Assembly for the county of Cham-
bly. He continued to represent this con-
stituency until 1867, when he entered the
Legislative Council, and became a mem-

.ber of Mr. Chauveau’s Ministry, with the

office of Speaker of the Council, which posi-
tion he held until February, 1873. Omr the
reconstruction of the Cabinet, September
22nd, 1874, he was entrusted with the for-
mation of a Ministry. This duty he accom-
plished successfully, taking for himself the
portfolio of Secretary and Registrar, and-

B. DE BOUCHERVILLE.

Minister of Public Instruction. On the
27th January, 1876, he changed his portfolio
for that of Agriculture and Public Works.
In February, 1879, he was called to the
Senate, an honour which he accepted with-
out resigning his seat in the Legislative
Couneil.

The De Boucherville Ministry remained
in power until the 4th of March, 1878, when
it was summarily dismissed by the Hon. Luc
Letellier de St. Just, Lieutenant-Governor
of the Province, for reasons which appeared
to him to be just. The facts with reference
to this matter have been detailed in the
sketch of the life of Mr. Letellier, contained
in the first volume of this qu%_On the
refusal of Mr. De Bouchervilleto name a
successor, Mr. Letellier called in the Hon.
Henri Gustave Joly-of ,Lotbiniere, and in-

vited him to form a Ministry. In October,. -

1879, the ex-Premier and his friends suc-
ceeded in defeating the Liberal Government.
A Conservative Ministry was formed, in
whose councils, however, Mr. De Boucher-
ville has taken no part, though his efforts
to drive from power the Liberal Adminis-
tration were conspicuously displayed in the

Upper Cha.mber of the Province. He is a.°
_good speaker, precise, moderate and adroit.

He is skilful in defence and equally skilful in
attack. - His administrative capacity is con-
siderable, and the duties of the several offices
which he has held at various intervals, have
been ably and industriously performed.
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THE REV. SAMUEL NELLES, D.D, LLD.,.

PRESIDENT OF VICTORIA UNIVERSITY, COBOURG.

R. NELLES’'S life, like that of most
men of purely scholastic pursuits, has

been comparatively uneventful, and does
not form a very fruitful field for biograph-
ical purposes. It has, however, been an emi-
nently useful one, and has been attended
. with results most beneficial to the educa-
tional establishment with which his name
has long been associated, and over which
he has presided for a continuous period of
thirty years. He is of German descent, on
both the paternal and maternal sides. His
paternal grandparents emigrated from Ger-
many to the State of New York sometime
during the last century, and settled in the
historic valley of the Mohawk, where some
of their descendants still reside. There Dr.
Nelles’s father, the late Mr. William Nelles,
was born, and there he passed the early
years of his life. He married Miss Mary
Hardy, who was also of German stock on
the mother’s side, and was born in the State
of Pennsylvania. By this lady he had a nu-
merous family, the eldest son being the sub-
Jject of this sketch. The parents emigrated
from New York State to Upper Canada soon
after the close of the War of 1812-15, and
devoted themselves to farming pursuits.
The Doctor was born at the family home-
stead, in the quiet little village of Mount
Pleasant—known to the Post Office Depart-
ment as Mohawk—in what is now the town-
ship of Brantford, in the county of Brant,

. about five miles south-west of the present-

city of Brantford, on the 17th of October,
1823. At the present day, the schools of
Mount Pleasant will bear comparison with
those 6f many places of much larger popu-
lation; but fifty years ago, when young
Samuel Nelles was in attendance there, they
were like most other schools in the rural
districts of Upper Canada—that is to say,
they afforded no facilities for anything be-
yond a very rudimentary eduecational train--
ing. Such as they were, however, they fur-
nished the only means of instruction at his
command until he had entered upon his
seventeenth year. Previous to that time he
had lived at home, attending school and
assisting his father in farm work. He had,
however, displayed great fondness for study,

-and had, by dint of his natural ability and

steady application, made much greater prog-
ress than could have been made by any boy
who was not possessed by an ardent thirst
for knowledge. His parents accordingly re-
solved that he should have an opportunity
of following out the natural bent of his
mind. In 1839 he was placed at Lewiston
Academy, in the State of New York, where :
he spent an industrious year, and where he.
had for a tutor the brilliant, witty and
humorous John Godfrey Saxe. Mr. Saxe
was not then known to the world as a poet,
but he was an accomplished philologist, and
was reading for the Bar. He had just gradu-
ated at Middlebury College, Vermont, and
was teaching belles-lettres in the Lewiston
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. Academy contemporaneously with the prose-
cution of his legal studies. In October, 1840,
young Nelles transferred himself to an acad-
einy at’ Fredonia, in Chautauqua county,
N.Y., where he remained.ten months. In
the following October (1841) he entered the
Genesee Wesleyan Seminary, at Lima, N.Y.,
where he devoted his time chiefly to Clas-
sics, Mathematics, English Literature and

- Criticism. Ha.vmo spent a profitable year

at Lima, he entered Victoria College, Co-
bourg—which was then under the Presi-

dency of the Rev. Egerton Ryerson—in the .

autumn of 1842. He was one of the first
two matriculated students at the institu-
tion, which had just been incorporated as a
University. After an Arts course of two
years at Victoria College, and a year spent in
study at home, he attended for some time at
the University of Middletown, Connecticut,
where he graduated as B.A. in 1846. He

" then spent a year as a teacher in Canada,

and took charge of the Newburgh Academy,
in the county of Lennox. In June, 1847,
he entered the ministry of the Wesleyan
Methodist Church, and was placed in charge
of a congregation at Port Hope, where he
remained for a year. - He was then trans-
ferred to the old Adelaide Street Church,
Toronto, where he laboured for two years.
Thence he was transferred to London, but
had only resided there about three months
when, in the month of September, 1850, he
was appointed President of Victoria College.
This important and responsxble position he
has held ever since.

At the fime of hls ta.kmg office, the insti-
tution was by no means in a ﬂounshmg
condition. It was carried on under circum-
stances of great difficulty and embarrass-
ment, and had a competent administrator
not been found to take charge of it, its future
would have been very problematical. An
improvement in its condition, however, was
perceptible from the time when Mr. Nelles

took the management. It has continued to

prosper ever since, and has long ago taken.

rank among the most noteworthy educa-
tional institutions in the Dominion. At the
time of Professor Nelles’s appointment there
was only a single Faculty—Arts—and the
attendance was very small. The teachers
were only five in number. The Professor’s

vigorous administration soon effected a

marked change for the better. In 1854 the
Faculty of Medicine was added. It at first
embraced only one medical college, .which
was presided over for many years.by the
late Dr. Rolph. In process of time-a second
institution, L'Ecole de Médecine et de Chi-
rurgie, Montreal, became a.fﬁhated and still
continues to hold the same relatlonshlp to
the University. A Law Faculty was added
in 1862, and in 1872 a Faculty of Theology.

" When Professor Nelles became President
he at the same time became Professor of
Mental and Moral Philosophy, Logic, and
the Evidences of Religion. These subjects
he has continued to teach ever since, with
the addition, since 1872, of Homiletics. He
has devoted his life to the task of build-
ing up the mstltutlon and has been ably
seconded by the staff of teachers whom he
has from time to time gathered about him.
Until comparatively recent times there was
no endowment fund, and the College had to
depend for its support solely on tuition fees,
on the annual contributions of the ministers
and people of the Wesleyan Methodist Body,
and on a Parliamen grant which Vic-
toria College, in co; ith other denomi-
national schools, had been wont to receive.
After Confederation, all grants to denomi-
national .colleges were discontinued, and
Victoria College was left almost entirely
unprovided for. At a meeting of the Metho-
dist Conference it was proposed by Presi-
dent Nelles that an appeal should be made
to the people for contributions to an endow-
ment fund. The proposal was adopted by

the Conference, and the Rev. Dr. Punshon,

who was then resident in-Canada, took an

‘;7.’5"
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active personal interest in the movement.
He contributed $3,000 out of his own pocket,
and made a personal tour through part of
Ontario, holding public meetings, whereby
a sum of $50,000 was secured. Several
other Methodist ministers followed his ex-
ample, and the fund steadily increased. In
1873, however, the amount was still insuffi-
cient, and the Rev. Joshua H. Johnson was
appointed by the Conference to make fur-
ther collections. Mr. Johnson entered upon
his task, and pursued it with great vigour.
His efforts were supplemented by a munifi-
cent bequest of $30,000 from the late Mr.
Edward Jackson, of Hamilton. The requi-
site amount was eventually obtained, and
the future of Victoria College secured.

The erection of Faraday Hall, at a cost
of $25,000, chiefly for Scientific purposes,
marks a new epoch in the history of Victoria
College. This Hall was formally opened on
the 29th of May, 1878. Dr. Haanel, a dis-
tinguished German Professor, was .placed
in charge of the scientific department, and
the results of his teaching are already ap-
parent in an awakened interest in scientific
matters displayed by the students of the
College.

Upon the whole, Dr. Nelles may well be
pardoned if he looks back upon his thirty
years' Presidency of Victoria College with
a considerable degree of complacency. To

him, more than to anyone else, is due its
present state of prosperity and enlarged effi-
ciency. He has also taken a warm interest
in educational matters unconnected with
the College, and his influence is perceptibly
felt in all the local schools. He was for
two successive years elected President of the
Teachers’ Association of Ontario, and his
views on all matters pertaining to public
instruction are held in high respect.-

Dr. Nelles was chosen a delegate to repre-
sent the Canadian Conference at the General

- Methodist Conference held at Philadelphia
.in 1864, at the New Brunswick Conference

of 1866, and at the English Wesleyan Con-
ference held at Newecastle in 1873. The
degree of Doctor of Divinity was conferred
upon him by the University of Queen’s Col-
lege, Kingston, in 1860. His Doctor’s de-
gree in Law was conferred upon him in 1873
by the University of Victoria College. He
is the author of a popular text-book on Logie,
and has frequently contributed to periodical

| literature. He enjoys high repute as a lec-
turer, more especially on educational sub-

Jjects; and his sermons, some of which have

- been published, are.said to be of an excep-

tionally high order.

On the 3rd of July, 1851, he married Miss
Mary B. Wood, daughter of the Rev. Enoch
Wood, of Toronto, by whom he has a family
of five ¢hildren. '
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HE late Chancellor Blake, one of the
most distinguished jurists that ever

sat on the Canadian Bench, was 2 member
of an Irish family, known as the Blakes of

Cashelgrove, in the county of Galway. The"

family was well connected, and stood high
among the county magnates. Sometime
about the middle of the last century, Domi-
nick Edward Blake, its chief representative,
married the Hon. Miss Netterville, daughter
of Lord Netterville, of Drogheda. After
her death, he married a second wife, who
was a daughter of Sir Joseph Hoare, Bar-
onet, of Annabella, in the county of Cork.
By this lady he had four sons, one of whom,
christened Dominick Edward, after his
father, took orders as a clergyman of the
Church of England, and became Rector and
Rural Dean of Kiltegan and Loughbrick-
land. This gentleman married Miss Anne
Margaret Hume, eldest daughter of Mr.
William Hume, of Humewood, M.P. for the
county of Wicklow. During the progress
of the rebellion of 1798, Mr Hume sent his
children to Dublin for safety, and took per-
sonal command of a corps of yeomanry
raised in his county. He fell a vietim to
his loyalty, and was shot near his own

 residence at Humewood by some rebels of

whom he was in pursuit.- Lord Charlemont,
in a published letter, alluded to this deplor-
able event as “the murder of Hume, the

~ friend and favourite of his country,” and

characterized it as an “example of atrocity
which exceeded all that went before 1%,

William Hume Blake, the subject of this
memoir, was the grandson and namesake of
the unfortunate gentleman above referred
to, and was one of the fruits of the marriage
of his father, the Rev. D. E. Blake, to Miss
Hume. He was born at the Rectory, at
Kiltegan, County Wicklow, on the 10th of
March, 1809. He was the second son of his_
parents, his elder brother, Dominick Edward,”
being named in honour of his father and
paternal grandfather. The elder brother
emulated his father’s example, and became
a clergyman of the Church of England.

_The younger, after receiving his education

at Trinity College, Dublin, studied surgery
under Surgeon-General Sir Philip Crampton.
Surgery, however, was not much to his

taste. The accompaniments of that profes- “—7]

sion—notably the coarse jokes and experi-
ments which he was daily called upon to .
encounter in the dissecting-room—proved
at last so repulsive to his nature that he

_abandoned surgery altogether, and entered

upon a course of theological study with a
view to entering the Church. His studies
had not proceeded far, however, before he

and his elder brother determined to emi-
grate to Canada. This determination was
carried out in the summer of 1832. A
short time- before leaving his native land,
the younger brother married his cousin,
Miss Catharine Hume, the granddaughter—
as he himself was the grandson—of the
William Hume whose tragical death has
already been recorded. This lady, who
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shared alike the struggles and triumpbs of
her distinguished husband till the close of
his earthly career, still survives.

The Blake brothers were induced to emi-
grate to this country, partly because their
prospects at- home ;were not particularly
bright, and partly in consequence of the

strong inducements held out by the then

Lieutenant-Governor of Upper Canada, Sir
John Colborne. The representations of
Major Jones, the elder brother’s father-in-
law, doubtless contributed something to the
result. The Major was a retired officer who
had served in this country during the war
of 1812-13-14, and had taken part in the

- battles of Queenston Heights and Lundy’s

Lane. He was fond of fighting his battles
over agaiu by his own fireside and that of
hjs son-in-law. He was never weary of
enlarging on the beauty and primitive wild-
ness of Canadian scenery, the pleasures and
freedom from conventionality of a life spent’
in the backwoods, and the brilliant prospects
awaiting young men of:courage, energy, en-

durance, and ability, in"the wilds of Upper-

Canada. The Blake brothers were Irishmen,
and were gifted with the national vivid-
ness of imagination. They doubtless pie-
tured to themselves the delights of “a lodge
in some vast wilderness,” where game of all
sorts was abundant, and where game laws
bad no existence. They had of course no
adequate conception of the struggles and
trials incident to pioneer life. They were
not alone in their notions about Canada.
Many of their friends and -acquaintances

. about this-time became imbued with g
) desire to emigrate, and upon taking counsel

together they found that there were enough
of them to form a small colony by them-
selves. Having made all necessary arrange-
ments they chartered a vessel—the Ann, of
Halifax—and sailed for the St. Lawrence in
the month of July, 1832.- Among. the

friends and relations of the brothers Blake.

embarked on board were their mother, who
-8 ’

had been left & widow ; their sister and her
husband, the late Archdeacon Brough; the

| late Mr. Justice Connor ; the Rev. Benjamin

Cronyn, late Bishop of Huron; and the
Rev. Mr. Palmer, Archdeacon of Huron.
After a six weeks’ voyage they reached the
mouth of the St. Lawrence, whence by slow
degrees they. made their way to Little
York, as the Upper Canadian capital was
then called. Here they remained until the
following spring, when they divided their
forces. Some of them remained in York;
others —including Mr. Connor and Mr.
Brough—proceeded northward to the town-

ship of Oro, on Lake Simcoe; and others’

settled on the Niagara peninsula. The
elder Blake had -meanwhile been appointed

by the Lieutenant-Governor toa Rectory in

the township of Adelaide, and there he
accordingly pitched his tent. His brother,
the subject of this sketch, purchased a farm
in the same part of the country, at a place
on Bear Creek—now called Sydenham River
—near the present site of the village of
Katesville, or Mount Hope, in the county of
Middlesex. He then had an opportunity of
realizing the full delights of a life in the
Canadian backwoods. “With whatever
romantic ideas of the delights of such a life
Mr. Hume Blake had determined on making
Canada his home,” says a contemporary
Canadian author, “ they were soon dispelled
by the rough experiences of the reality.
The settler in the remotest section of On-
tario to-day has no conception of the strug-
gles and hardships that fell to the lot of
men who, accustomed to all the refinements
of life, found themselves cut off from all
traces of civilization in a land, since settled
and cultivated, but then so wild that be-
tween what are now populous cities there
existed only an Indian trail through the
forest. Mr. Blake was not a man to be
easily discouraged, but soon found that his
talents were being wasted in the wilderness.
In after years he was fond of telling of the
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rude experiénces of life in the bush, and
among other incidents how that he had, on
one occasion, walked to the blacksmith’s
shop before mentioned to obtain a supply of

~harrow-pins, and, finding them too heavy to
- carry, had fastened them to a chain, which

he put round his meck, and so dragged
them home through the woods.”

It was during the residence of the family
at Bear Creek that the eldest son, Edward,

+ was born,* but he was not destined to re-

ceive his educational training amid such
surroundings. While he was still an infant
the family removed to Toronto. A life in
the backwoods had been tried, and was
found to be unsuited to the genius and
ambition of a man like William Hume
Blake. He had tried surgery, divinity, and
agriculture, and had not taken kindly to
any of those pursuits. He now resolved to
attempt the law, and commenced his legal
studies in the office of the late Mr. Wash-
burn, a well-known lawyer in those days.
During. the troubles of 1837 he was, we
believe, for a short time paymaster of a
battalion, but fortunately there was no
occasion for his active services. In 1838
he was called to the Bar of Upper Can-
ada, and was not long in making his way
to a foremost position. His rivals at the
Bar were among the foremdst counsel who
have ever practised in this Province, and
included Mr. (afterwards Chief Justice)
Draper, Mr. (afterwards Judge) Sullivan,
Mr. Henry John Boulton, Mr. (now Chief
Justice) Hagarty, Robert Baldwin, Henry
Eccles, and John Hillyard Cameron. Mr.
Blake soon proved his ability to hold his
own against all comers. He enjoyed some
personal advantages which stood him in
good stead, both while he was fighting his
way and afterwards. His tall, handsome

* A sketch of the life of Edward Blake appears in Vol.
L of the present series. Since that sketch was published
the subject of it has succeeded Mr. Mackenzie as leader of
the Opposition in the House of Commons.

person, and fine open face, his felicitous
language, and bold manly utterance gained
him at once the full attention of both Court
and Jury; and his vigorous grasp of the
whole case under discussion, his acute, logical
dissection of the evidence,and the thorough
earnestness with which he always threw him-
self into his client’s case, swept everything
before them. In the days when such men as
Draper, Sullivan, Baldwin and Eecles were
at the Bar, it was something to stand among
the foremost. Mr. Blake became associated -
in business with M. Joseph C. Morrison—
now one of the Judges of the Court of
Queen’s Bench—and some years later, his
relative, the late Dr. Connor, who in 1863
became one of the Judges of the Court of
Common Pleas, entered the firm. Business
poured in, and the number of Mr. Blake’s
briefs increased in almost geometrical pro-
portion. His arguments were of due weight
with the judges of those times, but with
Jjuries his force was irresistible. Many inei-
dents have been related of his forensic tri-
umphs. Among other cases recorded by the -
writer already quoted from, that of Kerby
vs. Lewis occupies a conspicuous place. The
question at issue was Mr. Kerby’s right to
monopolize a ferry communication between
Fort Erie and some point on the American
shore. This right the defendant contested,
and employed Mr. Blake to conduct his case.
The judges appear to have leaned strongly
to the side of the plaintiff, and granted a .
suceession of new trials, as, on each occasion,
Mr. Blake’s telling appeals to their sympa-
thy with the defendant, as the champion of
free intercourse between the two countries,
extorted from .the juries a verdict in favour
of his client. It is said that the Court finally
refused to grant any further new trials in
sheer hopelessness q{ any jurybeing found to
reverse the original finding.

Another proof of his energy and ingenuity
was given in the Webb arson case, which

. made a considerable noise at the time. Webb
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was the owner of a shoe store in Toronto.
Having Q!’l more than one occasion obtained
compensation from fire insurarice compa.nies
for losses he had sustained, suspicion was
exclted amunst him, and, on another fire oc-
curring, thé companies decided on prosecu-
ting. Webb retained Mr. Blake. The theory
of the defence was that a stove-pipe from
the adjoining store, which connected with
Webb's premises, had become heated, and
had ignited some “rubbers” hanging in the
vicinity. The prosecution denied that “rub-
bers” were combustible in any such sense
as the defence represented. To put his
theory beyond a doubt, Mr. Blake, on the
evening before the trial, had set his two
boys, Edward and Samuel, to look up every
piece of information they could obtain from
encyclopedias or other sources as to the
properties of rubber. Then an old pair of
“rubbers” was procured, experiments were
engaged in, and both father and sons were
occupied during the greater part of the
night in their investigations, to the no
small discomfort of the other members of
the household. When the trial came on
next day, after the case for the prosecution
had been presented, Mr. Blake began his
defence. He dissected the prosecutor’s evi-
dence with an amazing fund of irony. and
sarcasm, and requestedithe jury to place.as
little reliance on the general testimony for
the prosecution as they would soon do on
the theory of “rubbers” being non-com-
bustible. Then a candle and a pair of old
“rubbers” were produced ; a few strips cut
from the latter were held in the flame, and
the interested crowd of spectators saw them
burn. The jury accepted this as sufficient,
at all events, to cast doubts on the whole
case against the prisoner, and . Webb was
acquitted.

The “ Markham gang,” a.sthey were mlled,
are still well remembered by the older in-

habitants of Toronto and the adjommg\

country. In several of the prosecutions

-

arising out of the outrages of the gang, Mr.
Blake was defending counsel, and invested
the defence with additional interest, in the
eyes of the legal profession, by raising the
question of the admissibility of the evi-
dence of an accomplice. Another case which
showed the earnestness and conscientious-
ness of Mr. Blake, who prosecuted, was the
trial of two persons—a man named Me-
Dermott and a girl named Grace Marks—
charged with the murder of Mr. Kinnear.
and his housekeeper, near Richmond Hill; in
the year 1843.* Not content with second-
hand information, the hard-working lawyer

. devoted the only holiday which intervened

between the committal of the prisoners and
the trial to a careful and minute examina-~
tion of the house and premises where the
murder had occurred, so that in going into
court he had the most perfect-familiarity
with every detail connected with the crime.
The prisoners were convicted ; the man suf-
fered the extreme penalty of the law, and
the woman, who was reprieved, was only
liberated from the Penitentiary after an in-
carceration of twenty years. N o man could”
more readily seize hold of the salient points
of a case presented to him ; few could make
so much out of a small and apparently in-
significant point ; but no one ever made the
business before him the subject of more
patient study or more exhaustive attention.
Honourable and high-minded himseif, he
sought to inspire those about him with the
same feelings. He endeavoured at all times
to encourage a gentlemanly bearing in the
young men who- studied under him, and
would tolerate nothing inconsistent with
perfect fairness and honesty in transactmg
the business of the office. ‘

- Mr. Blake and his partners were all active
members of the Liberal Party. In the early

 contests for Municipal Institutions, National

* A full account of this interesting case will be found
~in Mrs. Moodxes “Life in the Clearings, versus the
Bush.”

",

T g Tae TV St .
B g e R ]

e TR



o i ot o a4 g s g

L LT
'

T

52 ~ _ THE HON. WILLIAM HUME BLAKE.

Education, Law Reform and all progressive
measures, they took an earnest part—and in
the struggle with Lord Metcalfe and his
Tory abettors for the establishment of Brit-
ish Parliamentary Government in Canada,
‘they did excellent service to the popular
cause. Mr. Blake, at the general election of
1844, was the Reform candidate for the

. second_Riding of York—now the county of

Peel—but was defeated by a narrow major-
ity on the second day of polling by his Tory
opponent, Mr. George Duggan. A little
later, he contested unsuccessfully the county
of Simecoe, in opposition to the Hon. W. B.
Robinson. At the general election of 1847,
while- absent in England, he was returned
by a large majority for the East Riding of
York—now the county of Ontario. The
result of that election was the entire over-
throw of the Conservative. Government, and

* the accession of the Liberal Party to power,

under Messrs. Baldwin and Lafontaine, on
the 10th of March,1848. Mr. Blake became
Solicitor-General under the new arrange-
ment, and was duly reé€lected for East York.
Then followed the struggle over the famous
Rebellion Losses Bill. In that contest Mr.
Blake took an active -part in support of
Lord Elgin, who was so outrageously treated

_+by the Opposition leaders in Parliament, and

by the mob of Montreal that followed in
their wake. For his powerful advocacy of
the Governor-General, and his scathing dia-
tribes against the tactics of the Opposition,
he was fiercely denounced by the Conserva-
tive leaders. ,So far was this denunciation
carried that a hostile meeting between Mr.
Blake and Mr. Macdonald—the present Sir
Johni A. Macdonald—was only prevented
by the interference of the Speaker of the
House. The Opposition press, without the
slightest justification, published articles in
which the writers professed to believe that
ting in courage, and afraid
to meet his antagonist in the field. The
Globe, which was the organ of the Govern-

ment in those days: replied in a spirit which
did it honour. In an article written by the
late Mr. Brown himself, and published in
the Globe on the 28th of March, 1849, we
find these words: “The repeated insinua-
tions against the courage of Mr. Blake, to
use the ordinary phrase, are as untrue as
they are base and ungenerous. We are quite
aware of all the circumstances of what was
so near leading to one of those transactions
called affairs of honour. We know, and we
state it with regret, that there was, on Mr.
Blake's part, no wish to shrink from the
consequences of the intended affair, but a
great anxiety to meet it. - We would have
thought it far more creditable to him, and
far more becoming the station he holds in
the councils of the Province, if he had ex-
hibited that higher courage which would
shrink from being concerned in an affair
which, however it.may be glossed over by
the sophistry and the practice of the world,
is a crime of the deepegt dye against the

.Jaw of God and the well-being of society.”

The Court of Chancery for Upper Canada
had been for years:'a mark for scorn and
derision on account of the personal de-
ficiencies of Mr. Vice-Chancellor Jameson,

and the lack of organization in the whole *
Chancery system. The Baldwin-Lafontaine -

Government undertook the reform of the

Court, increased the number of Judges to -
three, and gave it the improved system of

procedure which has earned for the Court
its present efficiency and popularity. When
the measure became law, tita question arose
as to who should be appointed to the seats on
the Bench that had been created. There was
but one answer in the profession. Mr. Blake
was universally pointed out as the man best

fitted- for the post of Chancellor. He ac-

cepted the Chancellorship of Upper Canada
on the 30th of September, 1849, which he
continued to. fill until the 18th of March,
1862, when failing health compelled him to

retire. There were: not wanting political -

.
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-opponents who declared that Mr. Blake had

created the office that he might fill ‘it; but
all who knew the man and the position in
which he stood were aware that it was with
extreme reluctance he accepted the place.
As his great judicial talents .came to be
recognized the voice of the slanderer ceased,
and the services which he rendered on the

" Bench will, we doubt not, be now heartily
- acknowledged by all parties. Mr. Jameson

for a short time continued to sit on the
Bench as Vice-Chancellor, side by side with
Mr. Blake. In the month of December,

1850, he was permitted to retire on a pen-

sion of £750 a year.

Mr. Blake, while at the Bar, held for a
number of years the position of Professor
of Law in the University of Toronto, but
resigned it when he became Solicitor-Gen-
eral. He took a deep interest in all the
affairs of the University, of which he was
for a long time the able and popular Chan-
cellor.

Afflicted with' gout in its most distress-
ing form, Mr. Blake, after his retirement
from the Bench, sought relief from his
sufferings in milder climes. He returned to
Canada in 1869, but it was evident that
his end was not far distant. He died in
Toronto, on the 17th of November, 1870.
The late Chancellor Vankoughnet paid an

eloquent tribute to his mem.oryd . “With an
intellect fitting him to grasp more readily
than most men the whole of a case,” said
Mr. Vankoughnet, “ he was yet most patient
and painstaking in the investigation of
every case heard before him. He never
spared himself; but was always most care-
ful that no suitor should suffer wrong
through any lack of diligence on his part.
He had, moreover—what every Equity judge
should have—a high appreciation of the
duties and functions of the Court—of the
mission, if I may so term it, of a Court of
Equity in this country: not to adjudicate
drily upon the case before the Court, but so
to expound the principles of Equity Law as
to teach men to deal justly and equitably
between themselves. I have reason to be-
lieve that such expositions of the principles
upon which this Court acts have had a salu-
tary influence upon the country; and Mr.
Blake, in the able and lucid judgments de-
livered by him, contributed largely to this
result. He always bore in mind that to
which the present Lord Chancellor of Eng-
land gave expression in one of his judgments
—* The standard by which parties are tried
here, either as trustees or corporations, or in
various other relations which may be sug-
gested, is a standard, I am thankful to say,
higher than the standard of the world.””
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HE life of the late Dr. Topp, like the |

lives of most members of his sacred
calling, was comparatively uneventful. He
was born at Sheriffmill, a farm-house near
the historic old town of Elgin, in Moray-
shire, Scotland, in the year 1815, He was
educated at the Elgin Academy, the present
representative of the old Grammar School
of the burgh, and an establishment of much
local repute. Thence, in his fifteenth year,
he passed to King’s College, Aberdeen—an
institution affiliated with the: University—
where he passed through a very creditable
course, winning one of the highest scholar-
ships, and retaining it for four years. In
1836, immediately upon attaining his ma-
jority, he received a license to preach, and
was appointed assistant to the minister of
one of the churches in Elgin. This minister
soon afterwards died, léaving the pastorate
vacant. The abilities and zeal of his young
assistant had made themselves recognized,
and it was tHought desirable that the latter
should succeed .to the vacant charge. The
appointment was hedged in with certain
restrictions; and was at the disposal of Gov-
ernment. . A petition from the congregation
and from the Town Council was successful,
and Mr. Topp’was inducted into the charge.
Upon the disruption in 1843 he seceded
from the Establishment, and carried over
with him nearly the entire congregation,
which erected a new church and manse for
him. He continued in this charge until

1852, when he removed to Edinburgh, hav-
ing accepted a pressing call from the Rox-
burgh Church there. Here he continued to
minister for about six years, during which
period his congregation increased to such an
extent as to render the accommodation in-
sufficient. A project for erecting a new and
larger church was set on foot, but before it
had been fully matured Mr. Topp had ac-
cepted a call from the congregation of Knox
Church, Toronto. This was in 1858. Two
years before that date he had received a
pressing call from the same quarter, which
he had then thought proper to decline. At
the time of entenng upon his charge in
Toronto the memberslnp of Knox Church
was only about three hundred. Under his
ministry there was a steadily perceptible
increase, and at the time of his death the
membership was in the neighbourhood of
seven hundred. His abilities commanded
recognition beyond the limits of-his own
congregation, and he steadily won his way
to position and influence in the community. -
In 1868 he was elected Moderator of the
General Assembly of the Canada Presby-
terian Church, and thus afforded the first
instance of a unanimous nomination by the
various Presbyteries to that office. He took
a prominent part in the movement to bring
about the Union between the Canada Pres-
byterian Church and the Church of Scot- .
land, and the successful realization of that
project was in no small degree due to his
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exertions. In 1876 he was elected Moder-
ator to the General Assembly of the United
Church. His doctor’s degree was conferred
upon him in 1870 by the University of
Aberdeen, where he had been so successful
a student forty years previously.

For several years prior to his death Dr.
Topp’s constitution had given unmistakable
symptoms of having become seriously im-
paired. In the autumn of 1877 his physi-
cians acquainted him with.the fact that he
was suffering from a mortal disease—organic
disease of the heart—but it was not sup-
posed that the malady had made such prog-
Téss as to endanger his life for some years
to come. In the early summer of 1879 he

_paid a visit to his native land, and of course |

spent some time in Elgin, renewing the
pleasant associations of his youth. He re-
ceived many pressing overtures to preach,
but the state of his health formed a sufficient
excuse for his declining. One Sunday, how-

ever, contrary to the advice of a local medi- -

cal practitioner, he consented to occupy the
pulpit, and preached a long and vigorous
sermon to his old congregation. His audi-
ence was very large, and his nervous system
was naturally wrought up to a high pitch.
It is believed that his efforts on that occa-
sion materially shortened his life. Imme-
diately after his return to his home in
Toronto he sent in his resignation as pastor
of Knox Church, but it had not been ac-
cepted ere the shades of death closed around
him.

‘The end came more suddenly than had
been anticipated. He passed away on the 6th
of October, 1879, while reclining on a sofa
in the house of one of his parishioners. His
death was very calm, and apparently free
from all pain. He left behind him a name
which will long be borne in affectionate re-
membrance by the members of the Presby-
terian Church in Canada. - He was kind and
gentle in his demeanour, and was loved the
most by them who knew him best. At the
time of his death he had been pastor of
Knox Church for more than twenty-one
years, during the greater part of which he
had laboured assiduously in all the various
fields connected with his sacred calling. He
was open-handed in his charities, and was
an invaluable consoler in the sick-room. He
literally died in harness, for death came upon
him while he was paying a pastoral visit to
a member of his congregation.

The Canada Presbyterian, which may be
presumed to reflect the opinions of Canadian

Presbyterians generally, concluded an obit-

uary notice written immediately -after his
death in the following words: “The name
of Dr. Topp will never be forgotten in this
country. While we regret that he has so
suddenly been called away, we rejoice that
in his case there are left to us so many happy
remembrances ‘of a useful and honourable -
career, and that he has bequeathed to the
youthful ministry of the Church the ex-
ample of a brave and faithful servant-of
Christ.”
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THE HON. HENRI GUSTAVE JOLY.

INCE Confederation the Hon, Mr. Joly
has occupied a prominent position in

‘the politics of the Province of Quebec. His

high morality, integrity of character, and

fine social qlalities, have created for him a-

reputation which it is the lot of -few public
men to enjoy. He is conspicuous in the
history of Quebec as the instrument through

“ whose exertions the Liberal Party were re-

stored to power for the first time since the
Union. He is also noteworthy as being the
Minister on whom devolved the office of
selecting a Government to succeed the De
Boucherville Administration, upon its dis-
missal by Mr. Letellier in the month of
March, 1878. -

He was born in France on the 5th of
December, 1829, and is the son of the late
Gaspard Pierre Gustave Joly, Seigneur of
Lotbiniére, and Julie Christine, daughter of
the late Hon. M. E. G. A. Chartier de Lot-
biniére, who was Speaker of the Quebec
Assembly from 1794 until May, 1797, and
was afterwards a prominent member of the
Legislative Council. Mr. Joly received a lib-
eral education at Paris, and while yet very
young removed with his parents to Can-
ada, settling in Lotbinidre. Having chosen
the law for a profession; he devoted five
years to legal studies, and in the month of
March, 1855, he was called to the.Bar of
Lower Canada. He first entered political
life in 1861, when he was returned to the
Canadian House of Assembly for the county

of Lotbiniére. "This seat he continued to
hold until the Union of the Provinces, when
at the general elections which followed the
formation of .the Dominion he was elected
by acclamation to both the Commons of
Canada and the Assembly of Quebec. He
sat in both Houses until 1874, when, on
dual representation being abolished, he re-
signed his seat in the Commons, and di-
rected all his energies to the furtherance of
Liberal principles in the Quebec House of
Assembly. The same year he was offered a
seat in the Senate, but declined to accept
that dignity, preferring to fight the bat-
tles of Liberalism in the more popular As-
sembly, in which he had already achieved
a high reputation as a statesman and de-
bater, as well. as much personal popularity.
In January, 1877, he again declined eleva-
,tion to the Upper House, and refused the
portfolio of Dominion Minister of Agricul-
ture which had been tendered him by the
Mackenzie Administration. The constitu-
ency of Lotbiniére has never proved fickle
to her trust, but has regularly returned
Mr. Joly as her representative, to the popu-
lar branch of the Legislature.  From the
Union, he has been the acknowledged head of
the Liberal Party in Lower Canada, and the
chosen leader of the Opposition in the House
of Assembly. In March, 1878, the Hon.
Luc Letellier de St. Just, Lieutenant-Gov-

ernor of Quebec, dismissed his Ministry un-
der circumstances which have already been
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detailed at length in these pages; and“on
the then Premier—Mr. De Boucherville—
refusing to nominate a successor, Mr. Joly
was sent for and invited to form a Cabinet.
He promptly accepted the responsibility,
selected his colleagues, and, on being de-
feated in the Chamber, appealed to the peo-
ple for'a ratification of the principles of his

- Party. The contest was fought with great
- vigour and pertinacity on both sides, and the

result was a victory, though a slight one,
for the Liberal Party. Mr. Joly was op-
posed in Lotbiniére by Mr. Guillaume E.
Amyot, an advocate and journalist of Que-
bec. He was elected by a majority of more
than three hundred votes. He became Pre-
mijer and Minister of Public Works—an
office which requires the utmost tact and
delicacy in its administration. He set on
foot a policy of retrenchment and purity,
and coéntemplated several much-needed re-
forms which he did not retain office long
enough to see brought into operation. . Mr.
Joly’s Administration was based on prin-

ciples of the closest economy, and every’

effort was made to check all unnecessary
outlay of the public expenditure. The sala-
ries of the Ministers were reduced, an effort
was made to abolish the Legislative Coun-
cil, and the railway policy of the country
was developed with caution. Wherever the
pruning knife could be advantageously ein-
ployed, the Premier applied it, and if he
was not.always successful, the fault was cer-

tainly not his own. His personal popularity

was sufficiently attested by the fact that
although he is a Protestant, with fixed opin-
ions on theological matters, he was Premier
of a Province whére a large majority of

I--9

the population are adherents of the Roman
Catholic faith. He carried on the affairs of
the country with combined spirit and moder-
ation until October, 1879, when, on being de-
feated in the House, he and his Government
resigned their seats in the Executive, and
Mr. Chapleau was sent for. Mr. Chapleau
succeeded in forming an Administration,
which at the time of the present writing
still holds the reins of power in the Prov-
ince of Quebec. ~~ - .

Mr. Joly is a good departmental officer,
a graceful speaker, a man of much force of
character, and one who has always the
courage of his convictions. Whether in
power or in Gpposition his language and
demeanour are marked by conciliation and
courtesy. He is a man of many fnends
and has few personal enemies, even’ among
those to whom he has been a life-long polit-
ical opponent. He has devoted a good deal
of attention to the study of forestry, and is
the author of several important and vala-
able treatises on that subject. Among other
offices which he holds may be mentioned
the Presidency of the Society for the re-
wooding of the Provinee of Quebec, the first
Presidency of the Reform Association, of
the Parti Nationale of Quebec, of the Lot-

" biniere Agricultural Society No. 2, and of

the Society for the Promotion of Canadian
Industry. He is also Vice-President of the
Humane Society of British North America,
and one’of the Council of the Geogmphcal

| Society of Quebec, of which latter associa-

tion he was once Vice-President. y
Some years ago Mr. Joly married Miss

.Gowan, a daughter of Mr. Hammond Gowan,

of Quebec.
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THE HON. MACKENZIE BOWELL,

MINISTER OF CUSTOMS.

-

b .

R. BOWELL is English by birth, but
has resided in this country ever since

his tenth year. He was born at Ricking-
hall Superior, a pleasant little village situ-
ated in the northern part of the county of
Suffolk, on the 27th of December, 1823. His
father, the late Mr. John Bowell, emigrated
from Suffolk to Canada in the spring of

\_ 1833, and settled in what is now the city of
“Belleville. His mother’s maiden name was

izabeth Marshall. He has been compelled

- to e his own way in the world, and has

risen from obscure beginnings to the ele-
vated position which he now occupies by
dint rather of Datural ability than of any
adventitious aids. In his boyhood he en-
Jjoyed few educational advantages. He had
been only a few months in Canada when he
entered a printing office in Belleville, where
he remained until he had completed his ap-
prenticeship. He then became foreman of
the establishment. He began to take an
interest in politics at the very outset of his
career, and attached himself to the Conser-
vative sile. He was very industrious, and
during the term of his indentures did much
to repair his defective education. He availed
himself of every opportunity which came in

" his way for increasing his stock of knowl-

edge, and erelong attained a position and
influence far more than commensurate with
his years. In 1833 he became sole proprietor
of the Belleville Intelligencer, with which
he continued to be identified for a period of

-

twenty-two years. Under his management
the Intelligencer became one of the leading
exponents of public opinion in the county
of Hastings, and his own local influence was
thereby greatly promoted. Other causes
contributed to enhance his position and in-
fluence. When only eighteen years old he
allied himself with the Orange Body, in
which he rose to the highest dignities in
the gift of that Order. "For eight years he

.was Grand Master of the Provincial Grand

Lodge of Ontario East. At the annual
meeting of the Grand Lodge of the Loyal
Orange Institution of British North Amer-
ica, held at Kingston in 1870, a change was
made in the Grand Mastership, which.had
been held for many years by the Hon. Jobn
Hillyard Cameron. Mr. Bowell was unani-
mously elected to the office, and continued
to occupy it until 1878, when he declined
reélection. For thirteen years he was Chair-
man of the Common School Board of Belle-
ville, annd was for some time Chairman of
the Grammar School, always taking a live-
ly interest in the promotion of education

among the masses. For many years he

was an active promoter of the Volunteer
Militia force, as well as an active member.
At the time of the St. Alban’s raid he went
with his company to Amherstburgh, where,
at considerable sacrifice to his business, he
remained four months. He was also at
Prescott during the Fenian raid in 1866.
At present he holds the rank of a Lieu-
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tenant-Colonel of Volunteer Rifles. He was
one of the founders of the Press Association,
and during one year occupied the position
of President. He was also Vice-President
of the Dominion Editors’ and Reporters’
Association.

before he emerged from his apprenticeship,
but did not enter Parliament until after
Confederation. In 1863 he contested the
North Riding of Hastings, but was unsuc-
cessful, and did not repeat the experiment
until 1867, when he was returned to the
House of Commons for that Riding, and he
has ever since represented it. He signalized
his entrance into-Parliament by moving a
series of resolutions against Sir George Car-
tier's Militia Bill, and though he failed to
carry them all, he succeeded in defeating the
Minister of Militia on some important points
by which a considerable reduction was made |
in the expenditure. Several years later he
took a prominent part in the expulsion of
Louis Riel from the House of Commons. It
was by Mr. Bowell that the investigation
was instituted into Riel’s complicity in the
murder of Thomas Scott before the walls of
Fort Garry. In 1876 he made a powerful
attack upon Mr. Mackenzie’s Government

result of Mr. Bowell's attack was the un-
seating of several Members of Parliament,
including Mr. Anglin; and a stringent Act
respecting the Independence of Parliament
was shortly afterwards passed.

At the last general election for the House

.of Commons, held—on-the-17th-of Septem-—

R XL~

ber, 1878, Mr. Bowell was opposed in North
Hastings by Mr. E. D. O'Flynn, of Madoc,
whom he defeated by a majority of 241—
the vote standing 1,249 for Bowell and 1,008

Mackenzie’s Government in the following
month, Mr. Bowell accepted the portfolio of
Minister of Customs in the Ministry of Sir
John A. Macdonald. This position he still
retains. Upon returning to his constituents
after accepting office he was returned by
acclamation. He is not a frequent speaker,
but he has always taken an active and in-

and is highly esteemed by his colleagues. _
Mr. Bowell married, in December, 1847,
Miss Harriett Louisa Moore, of Belleville.
He is a Director in numerous railway and
general commercial enterprises. In 1875 he
disposed of the Intelligencer, with which he
had been identified for so many years, but
he still takes a warm interest in its pros-
perity, and is indebted to it for a very firm

Anglin, the Speaker of the House. The

and consistent support.

e

for O'Flynn. After the resignation of Mr.-

telligent part in the business of the House, -
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THE REV. JAMES RICHARDSON, D.D, s

LATE BISHOP OF THE METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH IN CANADA.

THE late Bishop Richardson wascborn in
the same year which witnessed the
death of the great founder of Methodxsm,
John Wesley; the same year also which
witnessed the passing of | the Constitutional
Act. whereby Upper C was ushered
into existence as a separate Province. He
came of English stock on both sides. His
father, James Richardsor#, after whom he
was called, was a brave seaman; one of that
old-world band of gallant tars who fought
under Lord Rodney aga.x t the French,
when

ies commanded,
'l‘heir ships they were led by De Graue. ”

He was present at the famo s sea-fight off
Donumca., in the West Indleg on the 12th
of April, 1782, when the na.ya.l forces of
France and Spain were almost, entirely de-
stmyed. He was soon afterwards taken
prisoner, and sent to Fra.nce, where he was
detained until the cessatlon of hostilities.
Having been set at liberty i in 1787, he re-

paired to Quebec, and was subsequently :

appointed to an office in connection with the
Canadian Marine. His duties lay chiefly
on the upper lakes and rivers, and he took
up his abode at Kingston, on Lake Ontario.

He married a lady whose maiden name was

Sarah Asmore, but who, at the time of her
marriage with him had been for some years
a widow. The subject of this sketch was
one of the fruits of that union. He was

\

born at Kingston, on the 29th of January,
1791

His parents were members of the Church
of England, and he was brought up in the
faith as taught and professed by that Body.
He attended various schools in Kingston
until he was about thirteen years of age,
when he began his career as a sailor on
board a vessel commanded by his father.
During his five years’ apprentlceshlp he
acquired a thorough familiarity with the
topography and navigation of the lakes and
rivers of Upper Canada. In 1809, when he
was eighteen years old, he entered the Pro-
vincial Marine. Upon the breaking out of

the war of 1812 he received a Lieutenant’s -

commission, and was forthwith employed in
active service. He became sailing master
of the Moira, under Captain Sampson, and
afterwards of the Montreul, under Captain
Popham. Upon the arrival of Sir James
Yeo in Upper Canada, in May, 1813, the
naval armament on the lakes entered upon

a new phase of existence. The local marine |

ceased to exist as such, and became & part
of the Royal Navy. The Provincial com-
missions previously granted were no longer
of .any effect, and that of Lieutenant

i Richardson shared ‘the same fate as the

rest. The Provincial officers resented this
mode of dealing with their commissions,
and all but two of them retired from the
marine and took service in the militia,
where, in the language of Colonel Coffin,
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they were permitted to risk their lives
without offence to their feelings. The two-
exceptions were Lieutenant George Smith
and the subject of this sketch. The latter
shared the sentiments of his brother officers,-
but he recognized the importance to.the
country of working harmoniously with his
superiors-at such a juncture, and cast every
personal consideration aside. He informed
the Commodore that he was willing to give
his country the benefit of his local knowl-
edge and services, but declined to take
any rank below that which had previously
been conferred upon him. The Commodore
availed himself of the young man’s services
as a master and pilot, and in those capaci-
ties he did good service until the close of
the war. He shared the gun-room with the
regular commissioned officers, with whom
he was very popular. He was with the

- fleet during the unsuccessful attempt on
- Sackett’s

Harbour, towards the close of
May, 1813. A year later, at the taking of
Oswego, he was pilot of the Montreal, under
Captain Popham, already mentioned; and
he took his vessel so close in to the fort that
the Commodore feared lest he should run
aground. Soon after bringing the Montreal
to anchor a shot from the fort carried off
his left arm just below the shoulder. He
sanK down upon the deck of the vessel, and
was carried below. The remnant of his
shattered arm was secured so as to prevent
him from bleeding to death, “and there,”
says his biographer,* “he lay suffering
while the battle raged, his ears filled with
its horrid din, and his mind oppressed with
anxiety as to its result, till the cheers of
the victors informed him that his gallant
comrades had triumphed. He had been
wounded in the morning, and it was nearly
evening before the surgeon could attend to
him, when it -was found necessary to remove
the shattered stump from the socket at the

* See “Life of Rev. James Rlchardson » by Thomas
Webster, D.D. Tororfto, 1876.

- pain-of -his-wound;-and-the-severity of the

shoulder joint.
tion the young lieutenant evinced the ut-
most fortitude. In the evening he was
exceedingly weak from loss of blood, the

During the severe opera- “-._

operation. Next day the fever was high,

and for some days his life apparently huno'
in the balance; but atlength he commenced
to rally, and by the blessing of God upon
the skilful attention and great care that
he received, he was finally fully restored.”
During the following October he joined the
St. Lawrence—said to have been the largest
sailing vessel that ever navigated the waters
of Lake Ontario—and in this service he te-
mained until the close of the war.

Soon after the proclamation of peace he
retired from the naval service, and settled at
Presque Isle Harbour, near the present site
of the village of Brighton, in the county
of Northumberland. He was appointed
Collector of Customs of the port, and soon
afterwards became a Justice of the Peace.
The Loyal and Patriotic Society requested
his acceptance of £100, and a yearly pen-
sion of a like amount was awarded to him
by Government in recognition of his services
during the late war. This well-earned pen-
sion he continued to receive during the re-
mainder of his life, embracing a period of
more than fifty years.

In the year 1813, while the war was still
in progress, he had married ; the lady of his
choice being Miss Rebecca Dennis, daughter
of Mr. John Dennis, who was for many
years a master-builder in the royal dock-
yard: at Kingston. This lady shared his
Jjoys and sorrows for forty-five years. Du-
ring the last decade of her life she suffered
great bodily affliction, which she endured
with Christian resignation and serenity.
She died at her home, Clover Hill, Toronto,
on the 29th of March, 1858. '

During the early months of their resi-
dence at Presque Isle Harbour, both Mr.
Richardson and his wife became impressed

-
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by serious thoughts on the subject of reli-
gion. In August, 1818, they united with
the Methodist Episcopal Church. That

" Church was then in its infancy in this

whom he worked in the utmost harmony,

-and with very gratifying pastoral results. .

Dr. Richardson has left on record his ap-
precia.tion of his’colleague’s services at?this

PRI RN .

eountry,and-was-struggling—hard-toobtain
a permanent foothold. With its subsequent
history Mr. Richardson was closely identi-
fied. He was very much in earnest, and
felt it to be his duty to do his utmost for
the salvation of souls. His piety was not
spasmodic or fitful, but steady and endu-
ring. His education at that time, though
it was necessarily imperfect, and far from
being up to the standard of the present day,
was better than was that of most of his
fellow-labourers. He at once became a
man of mark in the denomination, and was

- appointed to the offices of steward and local

preacher on the Smith’s Creek circuit. His
labours were crowned with much success.
His pulpit oratory is described as being « full
of vitality—adapted to bring souls to Christ,

and build up in holiness™* In 1824 he

was called to active work, and placed on
the Yonge Street circuit, which included
the town of York, and extended through
eight of the neighbouring townships. This
rendered necessary his removal from Presque
Isle, and his resignation of his office as
Collector of Customs. His field of labour
extended from York northwardly to Lake
Simcoe—a distance of forty-five miles—
with lateral excursions to right and left for
indeterminate distances. The state of the
roads was such that wheeled vehicles were
frequently unavailable, and the greater part
of the travelling had to be done on horse-
back, the preacher carrying his books, clo-
thing, writing materials,and other accessories
in his saddle-bags. His life was necessarily
a toilsome one, and his financial remunera-
tion was little more than nominal. During
his second year on circuit he had for a col-
league thé Rev. Egerton Ryerson, with

*See “Case and his Cotemporaries,” by John Car-
roll ; Fol. ITL, p. 17.

time—He 3ays T A more aﬂ’reeable and
useful colleague I could not have desired.
We laboured together with one heart and
mind, and God was graciously pleased to
crown our united efforts with success—we
doubled the members in society, both in
town and country, and all was harmony
and love. Political questions were not rife
—indeed were scarcely known among us.

"The church was an. asylum for any who'

feared God and wrought righteousness, ir-
respective of any party whatever. We so
planned-our work as to be able to devote
one week out of four exclusively to pastoral
labour in"the town, and to preach there
twice every Sabbath, besides meeting all the
former appointments in the townshlps east
and west bordering on Yonge' Street for

_forty-five or fifty mﬂes northward to Reach’s
" Point, Lake Simecoe. This prosperous and

agreeable state of things served to reconcile
both iy dear wife and myséif to the itiner-
ant life, with all the attendant pnvatxons
and ha.rdshlps/mcldent to those times.”

In 1826 Mr. Richardson was sent to labour
at Fort George and Queenston. Next year
he wag admitted into full connection, and
ordajned a deacon, along with the late
Dr. Anson Green and Egerton Ryerson.
Mr. Richardson was transferred to the River

Credit, where he laboured for a year as a-

missionary among the Indians. An impor-
tant crisis in the history of the Methodist

"Church in Canada was then at hand. The

memorable Conference of 1828 was held at
Ernesttown, in the Bay of Quinté district.
It was presided over by Bishop Hedding, and
Mr. Richardson was chosen secretary. It
was at this Conference that the decisive step
of separation from the General Conference
of the Methodist Episcopal Church in the
United States was taken. Thenceforward

'
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the Church in Canada became an indepen-
dent Body, with a Bishop and Conference of
its own. “ This step,” says Mr. Richardson,
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" editor ‘of the Christian Guardian, and

&was-frmght—mth—resu‘l'lx‘fOTgUOd”or—ﬂi—
according as it is viewed by different par-
ties, from their several standpoints. It was
deemed necessary then, by the majority,
because of the political relations of the two
countries, and the difficulty attendant on ob-
taining our legal right to hold church prop-
erty, and solemnize matrimony. Others,
viewing the church as catholic, or univer-
sal in her design and character, judged it
wrong to limit her JunsdJctlon by national
or municipal boundaries.” Mr. Richardson
subsequently regretted that the scheme of
separation had been carried out. Mean-
while he was appointed, along with the Rev.
Joseph Gatchell, to the Niagara Circuit, a
very extensive field of labour, and took up
his abode at what was then the insignificant -
village of St. Catharines. There he re-
mained two years, and in 1830 was ordained
as an elder by Bishop Hedding, of the
United States—no Bishop having as yet
been selected for the Canadian Church,
which, since its separation, had been Pre-
sided over by a General Superintendent in
the person of the Rev. William Case. It is
unnecessary that we should follow him in
his labours from circuit _to circuit. His life
was spent in the service of his Church, and
wherever he went he left behind him the
impress of a sincere and zealous man. At
the Conference held at York in 1831 he was
appointed presiding elder of the Niagara
District. In September, 1832, he became

while holding that position he opposed t the
reception of Government support to the
churches with great vigour and determina--
tion. He eontinued to direct the policy of

between the English and Canadian Confex-
ions were adopted. To this union Mr.
Richardson was a consenting party, believ-

ing that the step would be productive of
good, though he subsequently had reason to
modify his views on the subject. In 1836
he severed his connection with the Wesley-
ans, owing to the reception by that Body of
State grants. He soon afterwards removed
to Auburn, in the State of New York, where
he won the respect of his-congregation; but
he was not adapted to such a circle as that
in which he found himself, and did not feel
himself at home there. “His quiet,unpreten- -
tious manners,” says Mr. Carroll, “ were not
of the kind to carry much sway with our im-
pressible American cousins; and the con-
stant exhibition of an empty sleeve, ever
reminding them of an arm lost in resisting
their immaculate Republic, was likely to be
an eye-sore to a people so hostile to Britain
as the citizens of the United States.” He
Wwas moreover an uncompromising abolition-
ist, and was fearless in his denunciations of
the national curse of slavery. The prevail-
ing sentiment in the State of New York in
those days was not such as to conduce to
the popularity of any man who took the -
side of humanity. He remained at Auburn
only a year, when he returned to his native
land, and took up his residence at Toronto.
ImlBediately upon his “arrival he encoun-
teréd his old friend and fellow-labourer the
Rev. Philander Smith. A long and serious
conversation followed, during which they
both decided to reunite themselves with the
Methodist Episcopal Church. The Confer-
ence of that Body was then in session a
short distance from Toronto, and their reso-
lution was at once carried out. They were
received with open arms, and continued in
the ministry of the Church during the re-

the Guardian until the Conference of 1833.
During this Conference, which marks an-
other important epoch in the history of
Canadian Methodism, the Articles of Um'on [
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mainder of their respective lives.

In 1837 Mr. Richardson was stationed at
Toronto. The following year he travelled
as a general missionary. The British and
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Foreign Bible Society having established a
branch in Canada, Mr. Richardson was, in
1840, appointed its agent, he having received
permission of the Conference to act in that

capacity. _This office_he filled, with advan- |
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"' tage to the Society and credit to himself, for

_annuation, which he held for four years:

towns of England and Scotland. The Bishop

eleven years. While acting in that capacity
he often filled Wesleyan pulpits, and pre-
served the most cordial relations with his
old friends belonging to that Body. In
1842 he became Vice-President, and in 1851
President, of the Upper Canada Religious
Tract and Book Society. He retained the
latter position down to the time of his death.
In 1852 he ‘was again appointed Presiding
Elder of his Church. After occupying that
position for two years his health was so
much impaired that he was granted a super-

On the 29th of March, 1858, he sustained a
serious bereavement in the loss of his wife.
At the Conference held in that year he re-
ported himself able to resume his labours,
and was once more appointed to the charge
of a district, but before the close of the ses-
sion he was elected to the Episcopal office.
He was consecrated by Bishop Smith, on
Sunday, the 22nd of August. He forthwith
entered upon his duties. During the next
two years he was in an infirm state of health,
but a brief réspite from work restored him,
and he resumed his Episcopal -and other
duties with even more than his wonted
vigour. In 1865 he visited England on be-
half of Albert College, Belleville. The Col-
lege Board was hampered by a heavy debt,
a.nd it was found impossible to relieve the
pressure by Canadian subscriptions alone
Bishop Richardson aecordingly, at the re-
quest of the College authorities, crossed the
Atlantic to solicit aid there. He was ac-
companied by his daughter, Mrs. Brett, wife
of Mr. R. H. Brett, banker, of Toronto. They
were absent about six months, during which
they visited many of the principal cities and

was indefatigable in his exertions, but the
Reformed Methodist Church in England is
not & wealthy Body, and it had enough
to do to support its institutions at home.

_For-these-reasons-the-subseriptions-obtaimed
were neither so large nor so numerous as

had been hoped, though the expedition was

by no means a frultless one.

The next five years were comparatively
uneventful ones in the life of Bishop Rich-
ardson. His time was spent in the discharge
of his official duties. His coadjutor, Bishop
Smith, had become old and feeble, and
Bishop Richardson willingly took upon him-
self a portion /of the invalid’s work. His
time, therefore, was fully occupied. . In 1870
Bishop Smith died, and during the next four
years the entire duties pertaining to the
Episcopal office devolved upon the survivor.
He seemed almost to renew his youth in
order to meet the extra demands made upon
him. He was more than fourscore years
of age yet he“contrived to get creditably
through an amouat of mental and bodily

labour which would have prostrated many .

men not past their prime. He frequently
conducted his pulpit services and the ses-
sions of the Conference without the aid of
spectacles; and he was persistent in his
determination to do his own work without
the assistance of a secretary. This state of

things, however, in a man of his age, could

not be expected to last.: His 'vital forces
began perceptibly to give way. In the
month of August, 1874, at the General Con-
ference of the Church held at Napanee, he
consecrated the Rev. Dr. Carman to the
Episcopal office. The ceremonial taxed his
energies very severely, and he was com-
pelled by physical suffering to leave the
Conference room as soon as he had placed
his associate in the chair. At the close of
the Conference he returned to his home at

Clover Hill—now known as St. Joseph'

Street—where a few days’ rest enabled him

to regain as great a measure of health as

~
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upon his eighty-fourth year. During the
autumn and winter he was actively at work "
as earnestly as ever, watching over every de-

could be expected in a man who had enter&%

was nothing showy or flashy about him;
nofhing theatrical or unreal. He made no
“pretence -to. Brilliant oratory, or indeed to
specially brilliant gifts of any kind. He

‘g e

partment of the Church, and giving especial
attention to the questions submitted by the
General Conference for the action of the
Quarterly Meeting Conferences. During
the following winter, while visiting the
Ancaster Circuit, he was prostrated by diz-
ziness, and after his return home it was
evident that his end was near. He sank
quietly to his rest on the 9th of March,
1875. His death was like his life—inanly,
and devoid of display. “I have no ecstasy,”

he remarked to a clerical visitor, “but I .

-know in whom I have believed.” To an-
other visitor he remarked, “My work is
done; I have nothing to do now but to die.”
He retained his mental faculties in their
full vigour almost up to ‘the moment when
he ceased to breathe. He was buried in the
family vault at the Necropolis, Toronto, on
the 12th of the month. The funeral was
unusually large. The funeral sermon was
preached by Bishop Carman in the Metro-
politan Methodist Church, on the morning
of Sunday, March 21st, from the text 1st
Corinthians, xv. 55 : “ O death, where is thy
sting ? O grave, where is thy victory?”

Bishop Richardson, while possessing few
or none of the superlatively salient charaec-
teristics by which some of his contempora-
ries were distinguished, was one of those
men who, almost imperceptibly, exert a
wide and lasting influence for good. There

1110

was simply a man of good intelleet and
sound judgment, with a highly developed
moral nature, who strove earnestly to bene-

better than he tound it. He believed in
Episcopacy, and was in full sympathy with
the form of government adopted by his
Church; but his zeal for Episcopacy was al-
together subordinated to his zeal for Chris-
tianity. His life was conscientiously de-
voted to the serviece of his Master, and he
has left behind him many hallowed memo-
ries. Next to his piety, perhaps the most
conspicuous thing about him was his love
for his country. His patriotism was as
zealous in his declining years as it had been
in those remote times when he lost his left
arm before the batteries of Oswego. At the
time of the Fenian invasion of Canada, in
1866—when he was in his séventy-sixth
year—his loyal sympathies were roused to
such a degree that he expressed his willing-
ness to risk his one remaining arm in his
country’s defence. He would have taken
the field, had his doing so been necessary,
with as clear a conscience as he would have
discharged any other duty of his life. In
the words of his biographer: “Loyalty to
God and his country, uprightness and in-
‘tegrity in his dealings with his fellow-men,
and civil and religious liberty for all, were

leading articles in his creed.”

fit his fellow-men, and to leave the world .
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LORD SEATON.

ORD SEATON, who is better known to
Canadians by his commoner’s title of

Sir John Colborne, was a son of Samuel
Colborne, an English gentleman resident at
Lyndhurst, in the county of Hants. He
was born sometime in the year 1777,and
after passing from the hands of a private
tutor to Winchester College—where he re-
mained several years—he embraced a mili-
tary life, in 1794, by entering the army in
the “tapacity of an ensign. The closing
years of the last century were propitious
for a young British soldier fired by an am-
bition to distinguish himself, and young
Colborne had embraced precisely the career

for which he was best fitted. He was a’

born soldier, and throughout his military
life furnished an apt illustration of the
round peg in the round hole. Napier, the
historian of the Peninsular War, speaks of
him as having developed “an extraordinary
genius for war,” and another historian refers
to him as one of the bravest and most effi-
cient officers produced by those stirring
times. For the readers of these pages the
chief interest in his career begins with his
arrival in Canada in 1828. His services
previous to that date may be summarized
in a few sentences. In 1799 he was sent
over by way of Holland to Egypt under Sir
Ralph Abercromby, and remained there un-
til the realm of the Pharaohs was cleared
of the French and restored to the Sultan’s
dominion. He was with the British and

Russian troops employed on the Neapolitan
frontier in 18035 ; also in Sicily and Calabria,
in the campaign of 1806. Having obtained
promotion for his gallant services, he became
Military Secretary to General Fox, Com-
mander of the Forces in Sicily and the
Mediterranean, and afterwards acted in the
same capacity to Sir John Moore. He was
present at the battle of Corunna, where his
brave Chief met a glorious death. Imme-
diately afterwards he joined the army of
Lord Wellington, and in 1809 he was sent
to La Mancha to report on the operations of
the Spanish armies. Having received the
command of a regiment, and having been
appointed to a lieutenant-coloneley, he com-
manded a brigade in Sir Rowland Hill’s
division in the campaigns of 1810-11, and
was detached in command of the brigade to
Castel Braneo, to observe the movements of
General Reynier’s corps d’armée on the fron-
tier of Portugal. At the battle of Busaco
he commanded a brigade, and also on the
retreat to the Lines of Torres Vedras. On
the 21st of June, 1814, he married Miss
Elizabeth Yonge, daughter of the Rev. J.
Yonge, of Puslinch, Devonshire, and Rector
of Newton-Ferrers. He was actively em-
ployed all through the War in the Peninsula,
and received: his due proportion of wounds
and glory. In 1815 he was present at the
memorable battle of Waterloo, in command
of his old regiment, the 52nd. He like-
wise commanded a brigade on the celebrated
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march to Paris. The bai:(;le of Waterloo was
the last European conflict in which he took
part. He subsequently became Lieutenant-

Collins and of William Lyon Mackenzie,
and the setting apart of the fifty-seven -
rectories, have often been commented upon,
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Islands. In 1825 he was appointed a Major-
General ; and in 1828 he first came to Canada
as Lieutenant-Governor, when' the chief in-
terest in his life, so far as Canadian readers
are concerned, may be said to have begun.
He succeeded Sir Peregrine Maitland, Who

‘had been transferred to Nova Scotia.

He arrived in Canada in November, 1828,
and at once assumed charge of the Adminis-
tration. His predecessor had left him a
very undesirable legacy in the shape of
great popular discontent. It was announced
that Sir John had come over with instruec-
tions to reverse Sir Peregrine Maitland’s
policy, and to, govern in accordance with
liberal principles. The general elections of
that year testified plainly enough that the
people of Upper Canada were moving stead-
ily in the direction of Reform, and if Sir
John had acted in accordance with the in-
structions he had received from headquar-
ters a good deal of subsequent calamity
might perhaps have been averted. But the
new Governor was essentially a military
Governor. He had been literally “a man of

war from his youth.” His character, though

in the main upright and honourable, was
stern and unbending, and his military pur-
suits had not fitted him for the task of gov-
erning a people who were just beginning to
grasp the principles of constitutional liberty..
He allied himself with the Family Compact,
and was guided by the advice of that body
in his administration of public affairs. Par-

Tiament met early in January, 1829, and it
soon became apparent that Sir John Col- .

borne’s idea of a liberal policy was not suffi-
ciently advanced to meet the demands of the
Assembly There is no need to recapitulate
in detail the arbitrary proceedings to which
the Governor lent his countenance during
the next few years. The prosecution of

and but-tittlesatisfaction is to be derived
from repeating those oft-told grievances.
Upon the whole, Sir John Colborne’s Ad-
ministration of Upper Canadian affairs can-
not be said to have been much more benefi-

“cent than was that of his predecessor. With

good intentions, he was constitutionally un-
equal to the requirements of the position in
which he found himself placed. His course.
of action was very distasteful to the Reform
Party, but he continued to govern the Up-
per Province until 1835, when he solicited
his recall. His request was acceded to.
His successor, Sir Francis Bond Head, ar-
rived in January, 1836, and Sir John was
Jjust about to sail from New York for Europe,
when he received a despatch appointing him
Commander-in-Chief of the Forces in Can- .
ada. He consequently returned, and took
up his quarters at Quebec, the capital of the
Lower Province, where he adopted such
prompt measures for the defence of the coun-
try as the exigencies of the times demanded.
On the breaking out of the Rebellion he was
once more in hlS proper element, and showed
that the high military reputation which he

| had achieved on the continent of Europe -
‘had not been undeserved. There is no need

to go through the minuti® of the Lower
Canadian Rebellion, nor to tell in detail the
story of St. Denis, of St. Eustache, and of

" St. Benoit. Sir John has been accused of

unnecessary cruelty in putting down the in-
surrection. Suffice it to say that the emer-
gencies of the occasion were such as to call
for determined measures, and that Sir John
employed measures suited to the emergen-

‘cies. He soon succeeded in extlncrulshmg the

flame of rebellion in all parts of the country,
taking the field himself in person in several
engagements. Papineau was compelled to
retreat, as also was Wolfred Nelson and his
colleagues; and when Robert, the latter’s
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brother, presented himself, he was totally
routed by.the able regular and militia forces
under Sir John Colborne’s command. On

the recall of Lord Gosford Sir John was
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.1838. He was appointed to it again on

* new honours awaited him. He was created

temporarily appointed Governor-General of
British North America, which high office he
vacated on Lord Durham’s arrival in May,

that nobleman’s sudden and unauthorized
departure in November of the same year.
He continued to administer the Government
until 1839, when he earnestly solicited his
recall, in order that he might be enabled
to repose from his great labours. The Hon.
Charles Poulett Thomson was appointed his
suecessor, and arrived at Quebec to relieve
him of the cares and anxieties of Govern-
ment. On the 23rd of October Sir John
sailed for England. On his arrival there

a peer of the United Kingdom, as Baron Sea-
ton; received the Grand Cross of the Bath,
of Hanover, of St. Michael, and of St.
George. He was also created a Privy Coun-
cillor, and a pension of £2,000 per annum
was conferred upon him and his two im-
mediate successors by Act of Parliament.
In 1838 he was appointed Lieutenant-Gen-
eral, and in 1854 General, as also Colonel of
the Second Life Guards. In 1860 he was
raised to the highest rank and honour in
the British service—that of Field-Marshal.
He died on the 17th of April, 1863, leaving
behind him a numerous progeny, the eldest
whereof, James Colborne, succeeded to, and

‘now holds, the family titles and estates. The |

latter are of considerable extent, and are
situated in Devonshire, in London, and in
the county of Kildare, Ireland. It is worth

Wﬁb&tﬁﬂ@aﬁanadn
ollege in the minds of the people of this

while mentioning that the present incum-
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bent served his father in the capacity of an
aide-de-camp during the Canadian Rebellion.
The name of Sir John Colborne is insep-

Province. During thé early days of his
Administration of affairs in Upper Canada
there was a good deal of agitation in the
public mind with respect to the establish-
ment of a more advanced seat of learning
than had previously existed here. It had
long been considered advisable to afford
facilities to the youth of Upper Canada for
obtaining a more thorough education than
was to be had at such institutions as the
Home District Grammar School, which up
to the year 1829 was the most advanced
educational establishment in York. Public
feeling was aroused, and several petitions
were presented to the Legislature on the
subject, each of which gave rise to pro-
longed controversy and debate. The out-
come of the discussion was that Upper Can-
ada College was established by an order of
the Provincial Government. Its original
name was “the Upper Canada College and
Royal Grammar School,” and the system
upon which it was modelled was that which
was then adopted in most of the great pub-
lic schools of England. The classes were
first opened on the 8th of January, 1830, in

- the building on Adelaide Street which had
formerly been used as the Home District

Grammar School. There it continued for
more than a year. In the summer of 1831
the institution was removed to the site
wkich it has since occupied. A fine portrait
in oil of the subject of this sketch, in his
military costume, may be seen in one of the
apartments there.
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THE HON. SIR DOMINICK DALY.

IR DOMINICK DALY was born on the
11th of August, 1799, and was the third

son of Mr. Dominick Daly, a descendant of
an old Roman Catholic family in the county
of Galway, Ireland. He was educated at
the Roman Catholic College of St. Mary’s,
near Birmingham, and after completing his
studies spent some time with an uncle who
was a banker in Paris. He subsequently
returned to Ireland. In 1825 the Earl of
Dalhousie visited England, and Sir Francis

M. Burton, who acted as Lieutenant-Gover--

nor during his absence, brought with him
as his pnva,te secretary, Mr. Dominick Daly,
then about twenty-six years of age. Lord
Dalhousie returned to Canada early in 1826,
and Mr. Daly returned with Sir Francis Bur-
ton to England.

In 1827 he returned to Quebec, bearing
with him instructions to the Governor-Gen-
eral to confer upon him the office of Pro-
vincial Secretary. The appointment had
been procured in England by the influence
of Sir Francis Burton, and other. friends
of Mr. Daly. During the interval which
elapsed between his appointment as Pro-
vincial Secretary and the rebellion of 1837,
a period of ‘about ten years, Mzr. Daly care-
fully abstained from engaging in the polit-
ical conflict, and seems to have enjoyed a
larger share of public confidence than any
other official. When Lord Durham was ap-
pointed Gosz%gnor-General after the rebel-

who was sworn of the Executive Council,

and there is no doubt that he was the only
one of the British officials who was looked

on with favour by the leaders of the popu-
lar party. And yet, viewing his conduct by
the light of subsequent events, it is prob-
able that the popular leaders overestimated
Mr. Daly’s sympathy with their cause. Un-
connected with politics, he considered it
his duty to support the policy of the Gov-
ernor of the day; and he doubtless was of
opinion that having been for many years

incumbent of an -office which had. always

been admitted to be held as a permanent °
tenure, he was justified in retaining it gs
long as he had the sanction of the Governor .

for domo so. When the Union of the old
Provmces of Lower and Upper Canada took
place in 1841, the Governor-General called
on the principal departmental officers to find _
seats in the House of Assembly, a,lthough
it is very improbable that he had any inten-
tion of strictly carrying into practice what
has since been understood as Responsible
Government. It had been the practice un-

der the old system for the law officers of -

the Crown to find seats in the Legislature,
but the offices of Provincial Secretary and
Registrar, Receiver-General, Commissioner
of Crown Lands, and Inspector-General, had
always been considered non-political. Lord
Sydenham, as far as can be judged from
what occurred, had no definite policy on

Jion, Mr. Daly was the only public official | the subject. He induced Mr. Daly to enter
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Parliament, and the latter seems to have
had no difficulty in procuring a seat for the
county of Megantic. The Provincial Secre-
tary in Upper Canada was allowed to retain

his office without entering public life. The"

Commissioner of Crown Lands in Lower

Canada declined becoming a candidate, and

retained his office, while in Upper Canada the
Commissioner of Crown Lands was a mem-
ber both of the Legislative and Executive

- Councils. Mr. Daly seems to have been con-

sidered as unobjectionable by the leaders of
the majority in Lower Canada, as he was by
their opponents, which, taking into account
the excited state of feeling at the period
of the Union, is conclusive proof that he
had acted with great discretion during the
stormy period which preceded the suspen-
sion of the Constitution. When Mr. Bald-
win, on accepting office at the time of the
Union, deemed it his duty to acquaint those
who were appointed members of Council
prior to the meeting of the first Parliament
of United Canada, that there were some in
whom he had no political confidence, Mr.
Daly was one of the exceptions; and as Mr.
Baldwin’s avowed object was the introduc-
tion of French Canadians into the Govern-
ment, he must have been satisfied that they
had not the objection to Mr. Daly that they
had to Mr. Ogden and Mr. Day. Mr. Bald-
win’s attempt to procure a reconstruction of
the Ministry was unsuccessful,.and he re-
signed, not having been supported by those
with whom he had avowed his readiness to
act. Mr. Daly went through the session of
1841 as a member of the Government, and
visited England during the recess. On the
meeting of the Legislature in 1842, Sir
Charles Bagot having, during the interval,
succeeded Lord Sydenham; overtures were
made, with the concurrence of Mr. Daly, to
Messrs. Lafontaine-and Baldwin, which led
to a reconstruction of the Cabinet. Mr.
Daly retained his office of Provincial Secre-
tary, and acted in perfect harmony with his

colleagues, not only during the short term of
Sir Charles Bagot’s Government, but during
the critical period of 1843, after Sir Charles
Metcalfe’s assumption of the Government,
and up to the very moment when, in the
opinion of all his colleagues, resignation
became absolutely necessary. During the
whole of this period Mr. Daly appeared to
concur with his colleagues on every point
on which a difference of opinion arose, and
it was only when resignation became ab-
solutely necessary that he declined to act
any longer in concert with them. At an
early period of the session of 1843 a va-
cancy occurred in the Speakership of the
Legislative Council—an office of consider-
able political importance, and one which
it was clearly impossible that the Ministry
could consent to have conferred on a politi-
cal opponent. The choice of the Adminis-
tration fell on the Hon. Denis B. Viger,
one of the oldest Liberal politicians in the
Province. On submitting their advice to Sir
Charles Metcalfe, he not only objected most
strongly to Mr. Viger’s appointment, but
stated that he had offered the post, without
consulting his Ministers, to Mr. Sherwood, a
retired Judge, and father of Mr. Henry Sher-
wood, one of the leading opponents of the
Administration. Had Mr. Sherwood ac-

cepted the offer, the erisis would have oc-.

curred a few weeks sooner than it did, and
on a question on which there could have
been no misapprehension. Mr. Sherwood
declined the offer, probably to avoid the im-
pending difficulty, and after some negotia-

| tion, the Ministry consented to withdraw
Mr. Viger’s name, and to substitute that of

the late Lieutenant-Governor Caron. Du-
ring all this difficulty, Mr. Daly was appa-
rently in accord with his colleagues, although
it subsequently appeared that he was acting

in concert with Mr. Edward Gibbon Wake- -

field, who took an active part in support-
ing Sir Charles, and whose letters published
in England threw a good deal of light on
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the transactions previous to the crisis. Mr.
Daly retained his office of Secretary in the

. new Ministry formed by Metcalfe, and was

subjected to much censurc for what was
considered a desertion of his colleagues: So
bitter was the personal feeling that on one
occasion language was used in the House
by one of his old colleagues, Mr. Aylwin,
which he deemed so offensive as to lead him
to retort in terms that provoked a hostile
meSsage and a subsequent meeting, when,
after an exchange of shots, the dispute was
amicably settled.

The Ministry formed under Metcalfe in
1843 was changed repeatedly, Mr. Daly hav-
ing been the only member of it who re-
tained office until the resignation in March,
1848, in consequence of a vote of want of
confidence having been carried in the As-
sembly at the opening of the third Parlia-
ment. There were during that period two
Attorneys-General and two Solicitors-Gen-
eral in each of the Provinces, two Presidents
of the Council, two Receivers-General, two
Ministers of Finance, two Commissioners
of Crown Lands, but only one Secretary,
whose adhesion to office was the subject of

a good deal of remark. When at last resig- -

nation became indispensably necessary, Mr.
Daly withdrew almost immediately from
public life. It had clearly never been his in-
tention to continue in Parliament as a mem-
ber of the Opposition ; and it could scarcely
have been expected by the Party with which
circumstances had forced him into alliance
that he would adhere to it after its down-
fall. It may truly be said:of Mr. Daly
that he was never a member of any Cana-
dian Party, and that he had no sympathy
with the political views of any of his nu-
merous colleagues. A mest amiable man in
private life, and much ‘esteemed by a large
circle of private friends, he was wholly un-
suited for public life. He had never been
in the habit of speaking in public prior to

~
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his ﬁtl'st election, and he never attempted to
acquire the talent. Having no private for-
tune, he found himself after the age of forty
suddenly called upon to take a’prominent
part in the organization of a new system of
government, which involved his probable
retirement, and as an almost necessary con-
sequence, his' subsequent exclusion fror
office. ‘

In estimating Sir Dominick Daly’s polit-
ical character, it would be unfair to judge
him by the same standard as those who sub-
sequently accepted office with a full knowl- .
edge of the responsibilities which they in-
curred by doing so. Sir Dominick Daly was
the last of the old Canadian bureaucracy,
and it is not a little singular that he should
have been able to retain his old office of Sec-
retary under the new system for a period
of fully seven years. On his return' to Eng-
land his claim on the Imperial Government,
which without doubt had been strongly
urged by Metcalfe, was promptly recognized,
and he was almost immediately appointed
a Commissioner of Enquiry into the claims
of the New and Waltham Forests, which
he held until the close of the Commission
in 1850-51. He was appointed Lieutenant-
Governor of the Island of Tobago, in the
Windward Island group, in 1851, and trans-
ferred to the government of Prince Edward
Island in 1854, which he held” until 1857.
In November, 1861, he was appointed Gov-
ernor and Commander-in-Chief of South
Australia, where he died in .the year 1868,
in the sixty-ninth year of his age. He had
received the honour of knighthood on the
termination of his service in Prince Edward
Island. ' <

Sir Dominick Daly married, in 1826, a
daughter of Colonel Gore, of Barrowmount,
in the County Kilkenny, Ireland, by whom
he had several children. One of his sons
is the present representative of the city. of
Halifax in the Dominion Parliament.
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MR MAMASTER is pu%ably the most
widely known among the merchant
princes of Western Canada, “and has had a
remarkably successful commercial career.

" As is the case with most men who have

been the architects of their own fortunes,
his success is largely attributable to his per-

sonal qualifications. "He inherited_a sound -
constitution, an active, enterprising mind,

and a’ strong:will. With such advantages
he began- the battle of life in this country
nearly half a &entury ago. He grew with
the country’s growth, and by his industry
and shrewdness achieved, in course of time,
a position which made him thoroughly in-
dependent of the world. It has been the
fashion to say of him that his mercantile
operations were always attended with “ good
luck ;” but those who converse with him

~ on commercial or financial questions for

half an"hour will draw their own conclu-
sions as to how far “luck ” has had to do
with ¢he matter. He has been lucky in the
same sense that the late Duke of Wellington
was lucky; that is to say, he has known

how to take advantage of favourable cir-
.cumstances.

Anyone else possessing his
keenness of perception and shrewd common

sense would in_the long run have been’
.equally lucky. He made good use

alike of his wealth and his talents, and the

-land of his adoption is the better for his

presence.

He is by birth and early training an Irish-

~—

man, and was born in the county of Tyrone,
on the 24th of December, 1811. His father,
the late Mr. William McMaster, was a linen
merchant whose resources were not abun-
dant, but who was able fo give his son a
good education. The latter received his
educational training at an excellent private
school taught by a Mr. Halero, who had a
high local reputation as a teacher. After
lea,vmo- ,school he was for a short time a
clerk in a local mercantile house. His pros-
pects in Ireland, however, were not com-
mensurate with his ambition. . In 1833,
when he was in his twenty-second year, he
resigned his 31tuat10n and emigrated. Upon
rea.chmo New York he was advised by the
resident British Consul not to settle in the
United States, but to make his way to
Canada. He acted upon the advice, and
passed on to Toronto—or, as it was then

" called, Little York.

The conditions of the wholesale trade in
Canada in those days were very different
from those which now prevail. The pre-. -
eminence of Montreal as a point bf “distri-

.bution; for both the Provinces was well

established, and the wholesale trade of Lit-
tle York was comparatively insignificant.
There were very few exclusively wholesale
establishments in the Upper Canadian vapi-
tal, but several of the largest firms contrived

"to combine a wholesale and retail business.

Young William McMaster,immediately upon
his arrival at Little York obtained a clerk-
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ship in one of these, viz., that of Mr. Robert
Cathcart, a merchant who then occupied
premises on the south side of King'Street,
opposite Toronto Street. After remaining
in this establishment somewhat more than
a year in ‘the capacity of a clerk, young
McMaster was admitted to a partnership in
the business, a large share of which from
that time forward came under his own per-
sonal management. The partnership lasted
about ten years, when—in 1844—Mr. Mec-
Master withdrew from it, and started a sepa-
rate wholesale dry-goods business on his
own account, in a store situated on the west
side of Yonge Street, a. short distance below
the. intersection of that thoroughfare with
King Street. By this time the conditions
of trade had undergone some modification.
Montreal still had the lion’s share of the
wholesale trade, but Toronto and Hamilton
had also become known as. distributing cen-
tres, and both those towns contained some
large wholesale warehouses. Mr. McMaster’s
business was a large one from the beginning,
but it rapidly expanded, until there was not
.a town, and scarcely a village in Canada
... West, which did not largely depend upon
the house of William McMaster for its dry-
goods supplies. The attempt to make To-
ronto, instead of Montreal, the wholesale
emporium for Western Canada was not in-
“itiated by Mr. McMaster, but it was ably
seconded by him, and no merchant now liv-
ing did so much to divert the wholesale
.trade to western channels. In process of
time he admitted his nephews (who now
compose the firm of Messrs. A. R. McMaster
& Brother) into partnerhip, and removed
to more commodious premises lower down
on Yonge Street, contiguous to the Bank of
Montreal. This large establishment in its
turn became too small for the ever-inereas-
ing volume of trade, and the magniticent
commercial palace Front Street, where
the business is still carried on, was erected.
Here, under the style of \William McMaster
II—11

-

& Nephews, the business continued to grow.
As time passed by, the senior partner became
engaged in large financial and other enter-
prises, and practically left the purely com-
merecial operations to the management of his
nephews. Eventually he withdrew from
the firm altogether, but his retirement has
not been passed in idleness. He has a nat-
ural aptitude for dealing with matters of
finance, and this aptitude has been increased
by, the operations of an active mercantile
life. He has been a director in several of
the most important banking and insurance
institutions in the country, and has always
taken his full share of the work devolving
upon him. T e\nty years ago he founded
the Canadian Bank of Commerce, and be-
caine its President. That position he bas
occupied ever since, and every banking-day
finds him at- his post. There can be no.
doubt that his care and judgment have had
much to do with the highly successful ca-
reer of the institution. Mr. McMaster was
also for some time a director of the Ontario
Bank, and of the Bank of Mentreal. He
has for many years acted as President of the
Freehold Loan and Savings_Company, as
Vice-President of the QConfederation Life
Association, and as a direétor of the Isolated
Risk—now called the Sovereign—Insurance
Company. 'He also for many' years occu-
pied the unenviable position of Chairman
of the Canadian Board of the Great West-
ern Railway. Upon the abolition of that
Board a few years ago, and the election of
an English Board in its stead, Mr. McMaster
was the only Canadian whose services were
retained. oo

But it is not only with financial and kinv
dred matters that Mr. McMaster has busied
himself of late years. In 1862 he for the
first time entered political life, having been
elected to represent the Midland Division,
embracing North York and South Simecoe,
in the Legislative Council of- old Canada.
He was opposed by Mr. John W. Gamble,
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‘who sustained a crushing defeat, and Mr.
"McMaster continued to represent the Mid-
land Division until the Union. When the
Senate of the Dominion was substituted for

the old Legislative Council, after the accom—

plishment of Confederation, Mr. McMaster
was chosen as one of the Senators to repre-
sent Ontario, and he has ever since taken
part in the deliberations of that body. He

. has always been identified with the Liberal

Party, but has never been an extremist in
his politics, and has kept himself aloof from
the faction fights of the times.

His highest claim to the consideration of
posterity will probably rest upon his ser-
vices in the cause of education. These have
been of a kind which we would-be glad to
see emulated by others of our wealthy capi-
talists. His first connection with general
educational matters dates from the year
1865, when he was appointed a member of
the old Council of Public Instruction. He
continued to represent the Baptist Church
—of which be is a prominent member—at
that Board for a period of ten years. “When
the Senate of Toronto University was re-
constructed, in 1873, he was nominated one
of its members by the Lieutenant-Governor.
But his most important services in the
cause of education have been in connection
with the denomination of which he is a de-
voted member. When the Canadian Liter-
ary Institute, at Woodstock, was originally
projected, he contributed liberally to the
building fund, and repeated his contribu-
tion when money was needed for the resto-
ration of the buildings after they were

burned down. He has éver since contrib-
uted liberally to the support of the insti-
tution, and indeed has been its mainstay in
a financial point of view. He has been
argely]instrumental in bringing .about the
removal of the theological department of
the Institute to Toronto, where a suitable
building is now in process of erection for
its accommodation in the Queen’s Park, on
land purchased by Mr. McMaster specially
for that purpose. The cost of erecting this
building is borne entirely by Mr. McMaster,

270,000.

have been large and numerous, and of late
years have been almost princely. The hand-
some edifice on the corner of Jarvis and
Gerrard Streets, Toronto, is largely due to
the bounty of Mr. MecMaster and his wife,
whose joint contributions to the building
fund amounted to about $60,000. To Mr.
McMaster also is due the existence of the
Superannuated Ministers’ Society of the
Baptist Church of this Province, of which
he is the President, and to the funds of
which he has contributed with his accus-
tomed liberality. He has also long contrib-
uted to the support of the Upper Canada
Bible Society, of which he is the Treasurer.

He married, in 1851, Miss Mary Hender-
son, of New York City. Her death took
place in 1868; and three years afterwards
he married his present wife, Susan Molton,
widow of the late Mr. James Fraser, of
Newburgh, in the State of New York.
There is no issue of either marriage.

and will amount, it is said, to at least

His benefactions to the Baptist Church
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R. LAURIER was born at St. Lin, I’As-
somption, in the Province of Quebec,

on the 20th of November, 1841. He was
educated first at L’Assomption College, and
subsequently at McGill University, where
he took his degree of B.C.L. in 1864. A
year later he was called to the Bar of Que-
bee, his law studies having been pursued in
the office of Mr.—now the Hon.—T. A. R,
Laflamme. His health having suffered by
too close attention to his professional duties,
Mr. Laurier, at the end of two years, left
Montreal, where he had practised, and be-
came the editor of Le Défricheur newspaper
at Arthabaska. His predecessor in the edi-
torship was the late Mr. J. B. E. Dorion, the
paper being devoted to the advocacy of
Liberal principles. It did not, however,
long continue in existence, and on its sus-
pension Mr. Laurier once more returned to
his professional pursuits, in which he soon
obtained a high position, his personal popu-
larity being as marked as his intellectual
attainments. In 1871 he was the Liberal
candidate for the representation of Drum-
mond and Arthabaska in the Local Assem-
bly, and carried the seat by a large majority.
His talents as a debater and his statesman-
like cast of mind soon made him prominent
in the Legislature, and when, in 1874, Mr.
Mackenzie, shortly after accepting office,
appealed to the country, Mr. Laurier relin-
quished his seat at Quebec to enter upon a
more enlarged sphere of work at Ottawa.

"
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He was elected for Drummond and Artha-
baska after a keen contest, and on the open-
ing of the first session of the new Parliament

was selected to second the address in reply..,

to the Speech from the Throne. The man-
ner in which he discharged this duty made
a most favourable impression. He was at
once recognized as one of the foremost of
the many able representatives Quebec had

&

sent to support the then-existing Govern- -

ment, and has since never failed to impress
the House favourably when he has taken
part in the debates.

Tt was evident from his first introduction

to parliamentary life that he must, at no
distant day, be called upon to take his share
in the responsibilities of office. Even before
that time bis status as a leader of opinion
and a representative man in relation to pub-
lic affairs had been very clearly marked out.
In a lecture delivered by him at Quebec in
July, 1877, on “Political Liberalism,” he
made a splendid defence of the Liberals of
Quebec against the misrepresentations and
aspersions to which they had been subjected.
He insisted on the distinction between re-
ligious and political opinions being main-
tained, and showed how strictly moderate

and constitutional were the views of those -

with whom "he ‘was politically associated.
Of the Liberal Party of the past—of the
follies that had characterized too many of
its actions and utterances, nothing, he de-
clared, then existed, but in its stead remained
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the principles of the Liberal Party of Eng-
land. On the other hand, sketching the
party opposed to hin under the name of

. Conservative, he spoke-as follows:—“Sir

George Cartier,” he said, “was devoted to

_ the principles of the English Constitution—

if Sir George Cartier were to return to the
world again he would not recognize his
Party. 1 certainly respect too much the
opinion of my opponents to do them an
mjury, but I reproach them with knowing
neither their country por the times. 1 ae-
cuse them of estimating the political situa-
tion not by what has occurred here, but by
what has occurred in France. I accuse them
of endeavouring to introduce here ideas
which would be impossible in. our state of
society. I accuse them of laboriously en-
deavouring, and, unfortunately, too effectu-
ally, to make religion the simple basis of a
political Party. It is the custom: of our
adversaries to accuse us Liberals of irre-
ligion. Iam not here to parade my religious
principles, but I proclaim that I have too
much respect for the faith in which I was
born ever to make it appear as the basis of
a political orranization. We are a happy
and free people; we owe this freedom to
the Liberal institutions which govern us,
which we owe to our forefathers and to the
wisdom of the Mother Country. The policy
of the Liberal Party is to guard these insti-
tutions, to defend and propagate them, and
under the rule of these institutions to de-
velop the latent resources of our country.
Such is the policy of the Liberal Party,
and it has no other.” Mr. Laurier’s Liberal-
ism, in faet, is of the strictly British type,
and to the immense benefit which has ac-
crued to his French compatriots by the con-
cession of free British institutions he has
borne eloquent testimony. Few men,indeed,
could be found better calculated than Mr.
Laurier to effect a union of thought, senti-
ment, and interest between those - distin-

guished by difference of race and creed, in

the interest of their common country. It
was not, as we have seen, at all surpris-
ing that on a vacancy occurring in the
Quebec representation in the Dominion
Cabinet, Mr. Laurier should be offered the
vacant portfolio. His fitness for the posi-
tion was disputed by none, either on per-
sonal or political grounds. In Ontario, no
less:than in Quebec, his acceptance of office
was hailed as a just tribute to his worth
and ability. In September, 1877, he was
sworn of the Privy Counecil, and became
Minister of Inland Revenue. The knowl-
edge of his strength in' Parliament.and the
country served to stimulate the determi-
nation of his opponents to defeat him at
all hazards when he returned to his con-
stituents for re€lection. The contest ter-
minated by Mr. Bourbeau, the Conservative
candidate, being elected by a majority of 22
votes over the new Minister. The defeat
only served to show how highly the import-
ance of Mr. Laurier’s position in the-country
was estimated. Several constituencies were
at once placed at his disposal. Ultimately
the Hon. Mr. Tbibaudeau, member for Que-
bec East, resigned, in order to create a
vacancy. After a short but very exciting
contest, Mr. Laurier carried the division by
a majority of 315 votes. The result was the
signal for general rejoicing, his journey to
Ottawa and his reception there being one"
continued ovation. He retained the port-
folio of Minister of Inland Revenue until
the resignation of the Government in Octo-
ber,1878. At the elections held on the 17th
of September previous he was returned for
Quebec East by a majority of 778 votes over .
his opponent, Mr. Valliére, and he now sits
in the House for that constituency. He
speaks both the French and English lan-
guages fluently, has a large amount of French
vivacity sobered by great self-command, can
strike home without too severely wounding,
and commands the respect and good-will of
his warmest political adversaries.
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THE RIGHT HON. SIR CHARLES’BAGOT..

HE- Right Honourable Sir Charles Bagot,

the successor of Lord Sydenham as
Governor-General of British North Amerieca,
was born at Blithfield House, Rugeley, in
Staffordshire, England, on the 23rd of Sep-
tember, 1781. He was descended from an
old aristrocratic family, which has been resi-
-dent in Staffordshire for several hundred

™—_years, and was ennobled in 1780—the year
previous to the birth of the subject of this .

. sketch. He was the second son of William,
first Baron Bagot, a nobleman highly dis-
tinguished for his scholastic and scientific
attainments. His mother was Lady Louisa,
daughter of Viscount St. John, brother and
hen' of the illustrious Henry St. John, Vls-
count Bolingbroke.

His life was not marked by much variety
of incident, and affords but scanty material
fot the biographer. From his early youth
he was a prey to great feebleness of consti-
tution, which prevented him from making
any conspicuous figure at school. Upon
completing his majority, his health being
much improved, he entered public life on
the Tory side, in the capacity of Under-
Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs, under
Mr. Canning, during the Administration of
the Duke of Portland.” His tenure of that
office does not seem to have been marked by
any very noteworthy incidents. In 1814 he
was despatched on a special mission to Paris,
at which time ‘he resided for several months
in the French jcapital. Later on he was

s

N

successively appointed Minister Plenipoten-
tiary to the United States, and Ambassador
to the Courts of St. Petersburg and the
Hague. By this time his health, which had
never been very robust, again gave way,
and he was compelled to decline several
other honourable and lucrative appoint-
ments which were’ offered to him by the
Ministry of the day. One of them was the
Governor-Generalship of India, rendered
vacant by the return of Lord Amherst to
England. Durma Bir Robert Peel’s short

" Administration in 1834 he took charge of

a special mission to Vienna, in the dlscharfre
of which he commended himself highly to
the authorities at home. A Reform Gov-
ernment succeeded, and during its tenure of
office we have no information as to the sub-
ject of this memoir.

In 1841 the Tories again came into power
under the leadership of Sir Robert Peel. In
the Ministry then formed, Lord Stanley,
afterwards Earl of Derby (father of the
present Earl), held the post of Colonial
Secretary. Upon Lord Sydenham’s death,
in that year, it became necessary to appoint
a new Governor-General of British North
America. Lord Stanley offered the post to
Sir Charles Bagot, who accepted it, and soon

afterwards sailed for this country, where "

public affairs, since Lord Sydenham’s death
in the preceding month of September, had
been under the direction of Sir Richard
Jackson, Commander-in-Chief of the Forces.

.
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Sir Charles entered upon his official duties
on the 10th of January, 1842, and it soon
became apparent that he ‘intended to carry
out the judicious line of policy inaugurated
by his predecessor, Lord Sydenham. He
held himself aloof from purely party ques-

_tions, and formed no definite alliance with

either Reformers or Conservatives. This
was a grievous disappointment to the latter.
His past political career had led the Tory
leaders in Canada to suppose that he would
espouse their views, and that by his aid their

. ascendancy would be reéstablished. These

expectations were not destined to be real-
ized. Sir Charles spent his time in famil-
iarizing himself with the position and needs
of the country at large. In some respects

he showed himself to be more liberal than

his predecessor, Lord Sydepham, had been.
Lord Sydenham had been indisposed to have
anything to do with those persons who had
abetted the rebellion. Sir Charles, know-
ing that Responsible Government had been
conceded, resolved to govern himself accord-
ingly. Though himself a Tory by predilec-
tion and by training, he knew that he had
not been sent out to Canada to gratify his

.own political leanings, but to govern in -

accordance with the popular will. “He de-
termined,” says Mr. Macmullen, “to use
whatever party he found ca.pa.ble -of supe
porting a Ministry, and accordingly made
overtures to the French Canadians and that
section of the Reform Party of Upper Can-
ada led by Mr. Baldwin, who then formed
the Opposition in the Assembly. There can
be no question that this was the wisest line
of policy he could adopt, and that it tended

_ to remove the différences between the two

races, and unite them more cordially for the
common weal. The French Canadian ele-
menf was no longer in the ascendant—the

English language had decidedly assumed
the aggressive, and true wisdom consisted
in forgetting the past, and opening the door
of preferment to men of talent of French
as well as to those of Bntﬁsh origin. The
necessity of this line of pollcy was -inter-
woven with the Union Act; and, after that,
was the first great step towards the amal-
gamation of the races. A different policy
would have nullified the principle of Re-
sponsible Government,and must have pfoved
suicidal to any Ministry seeking to carry it
out. Sir Charles Bagot went on the bread
principle that the constitutional majority
had the right to rule under the Constitu-
tion.” Finding that the Ministry then in
being did not possess the public confidence,
be called to his councils Robert Baldwin,
Francis Hincks, Lafontaine, Morin, and
Aylwin. Upon the opening of the Legis-
lature, in the following September, he made
a speech which showed that he understood
the situation and requirements of the coun-
try, and was sincerely desirous of promoting
its welfare. The session, which was a brief
one, passed without any specially mnote-
worthy incidents. Soon after the proroga-
tion, which took place on the 8th of October,
Sir Charles began to feel the effects of ap-
proaching winter in a rigorous climate. His
physicians advised him, as he valued his
life, to free himself from the cares of office,
and betake himself to a milder clime. He
sent in his resignation, and prepared to re-
turn to England, but the state of his health
soon became so serious that he was unfit to
endure an ocean voyage in the middle of
winter. He was destined never to see his
native land again. He lingered until the
19th of May, 1843, when he sank quietly to
rest, at Kingston, in the sixty-second year
of his age.
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LA SALLE.

HE publication last year of a revised
edition of Mr. Parkman’s “Discovery

of the Great West” has made the complla-
tion of a sketch of La Salle’s life a very
easy task. Mr. Parkman has told about
everything that is worth telling—indeed,
every important fact that is known—with
reference to the great explorer; and for the
future, any brief account of his life must
necessarily be little more than a condensa-
tion of Mr. Parkman’s book. “It is the
glory and the misfortune of France,” says
M. Guizot, “to always lead the van in the
march of civilization, without having the
wit to profit by the discoveries and the
sagacious boldness of her children. On the

" unknown roads which she has openedto

human enterprise she has too often left the
fruits to be gathered by nations less inven-
tive, but more persevering.” The life of
the ardent explorer whose achievements
form the subject of this sketch affords an
apt commentary on the text of the emi-

. nent French historian above quoted. Long

‘prior to the date of La Salle’s d1300ver1es
Samuel de Champlain had dreamed of and

- fruitlessly sought for a continuous water

passage across the American continent, and
hoped to thereby establish a profitable com-
merce -with the Indies, China, and Japan.
La Salle, following in Champlain’s foot-
steps, and dreaming the same wild dreams,

. spent a great part of his life in attempting

to do what his great predecessor had failed

in accomplishing. His discoveries, how-
ever, extended over a much broader field.
La Salle may practically be said to have
discovered the Great West. He crossed the®”
Mississippi, which the Jesuits had been the
first to reach, and pushed on to the far south,
construeting forts in the midst of the most
savage districts, and taking possession of
Louisiana in the name of King Louis XIV.
Abandoned by many of his comrades, and
losing the most faithful of them by death ;.
atta.cked by savages, betrayed by his own
hirelings, thwarted in hls projects by his,
enemies and his rivals, he at last met an in-"-.
glorious death by a.ssassma.tmn Jjust as he
was about to make -his way ba.ck to New
France. He left the field 6pen after him to
the innumerable explorers of every nation.
and every language who have sance left
their mark on those mea.surelessi"tracts If
but little benefit acerued to Frang’ from his
discoveries, the fault was not hig® He has
left an imperishable record on the p”gae of
American history, and as a discoverer };153-,
name occupies a place in-early “Canadian
annals second only—:f swnd——to that-of .
Champlain himself. ¥ :
Réné-Robert Caveher better known by
his territorial patronj’rmlc of La Salle, was
born at Rouen, in Normandy, some time in .
the year 1643. The exact date of his hirth
is unknown, but his baptism took. place on
the 22nd of November of that year, at
which time it is probable that he was only




s s

3
ENa
!

+
T

%3
N

80

LA SALLE.

a few da,ys old. His fa.mlly had long been
wealthy burghers of Rouen, and there were
no obstacles in the way of his receiving a
liberal education. He early dlsp]a,yed an

" aptitude for science and mathematics, and,

while still young, entered a Jesuit Seminary
in his native tovvn By this act, which con-
stituted the first step towards taking holy
-orders, he forfeited the inheritance which
would otherwise have descended to him—a
forfeiture which does not seem at any time
to have weighed very heavily on his mind.
He seems to have occupied for a short time
the position of a teacher in the Seminary.
After profiting for several years by the
discipline. taught in the establishment he
requested and obtained his discharge, ob-

" taining high praise from the directors of the
Seminary for the diligence of his studies |

and the purity of his life. “The cravings
of a deep ambition,” says Mr. Parkman, “ the
hunger of an insatiable intellect, the intense
longing for active achievement, subdued in
him all other passions; and among his faults
the love of pleasure had no“part.” His
father had died a short time before La Salle
quitted the Seminary, and he would then
have at once succeeded to a large patrimony
but for his connection with the Jesuits. A
small sum—a.mountmﬂ to several hundred
livres—was handed over to him, and in the
spring of 1866 the young adventurer em-
barked for fame and fortune in New France,
towards which the attention of all western
Europe was at that time directed. He had
already an elder brother in this country—
the Abbé Jean Cavelier, a Sulpician priest
at Montreal. The Sulpicians had estab-
lished themselves there a few years before
this time, and had already become proprie-
tors and feudal lords of -the city and island.
They were granting out their- lands to set-
tlers on very easy terms, and-La Salle ob-
tained a grant of a large tract of land a
short distance above the turbulent current
no*{r-known as the Lachine Rapids. Here

S
LS
2 12
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he became a feudal proprietor and fur trader
on his own account. Such a pursuit, how-
ever, was far from satisfying the cravings
of his ambition. Like Champlain and all
the early explorers, he dreamed of a passage
to the South Sea, and a new road for com-
merce to the riches of China and ~Japan.
Indians often came to his secluded settle-
ment; and on one occasion he was visited
by a band of Seneca Iroquois, some of whom
spent the winter with him, and told him of
a river called the Ohio, rising in their coun-
try and flowing into the sea, but at such
a distance that its mouth could only be
reached after a journey of eight or nine
months. Evidently the Ohio and the Mis- .
sissippi are here merged into one. In ac-
cordance with geographicil views then pre-
valent, La Salle conceived that this great

‘river must needs flow into the “ Vermilion
“Sea ;” that is, the Gulf of California.

If so,
it would give him what he sought—a west-
ern passage to China, while, in any case, the
populous Indian tribes said to inhabit its
banks might be made a source of great com-
mercial profit. His imagination took fire.
His resolution was soon formed; and he
descended the St. Lawrence to Quebec, to
gain the countenance of the Governor for
his intended exploration. Few men were
more skilled than he in the art of clear and
plausible statement. Both the Governor
(Courcelle), and the Intendant (Talon) were
readily won over to his plan; for which,
however, they seem to have given him no
more substantial aid than that of the.Gov-

ernor’s letters patent authorizing the enter- -

prise. The cost was to be his own; and he
had no money, having spent it all on his
seigniory. He therefore proposed that the
Seminary, which bad given it to him, should
buy it back again, with such improvements
as he had made. Queylus, the Superior,
being favourably disposed towards him, con-
sented, and bought of him the greater part;

* while La Salle sold the remainder, including
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the clearings, to one Milof, an ironmonger,
for twenty-eight hundred livres. With this

he bought four canoes, with the necessary.

supphes and hired fourteen men. This be-
ing accomplished, he started on his expedi-
tion, in the course of which he explored the
southern shore of Lake Ontario, and visited
the Senecas in Western New York. Con-
tinuing his journey, he passed the mouth of
the Niagara River, where he heard the roar
of the mighty c@taract, and passed on to an
Indian encampment near the present site of
Hamilton. After much delay he reached a
branch of the Ohio, and descended at least
as far as the rapids at Louisville, where he
was abandoned by his attendants, and Was
compelled to return, his problem being yet
unsolved.

But the time was not far distant when
he was to make a much more extended
voyage than he had hitherto accomplished,
and with somewhat more important results.
In 1672 Count Frontenac came over to
Canada and succeeded Courcelle as Gover-
nor of the colony. A friendship sprang up
between him and La Salle, and they began
to form schemes of western enterprise. Ere-
long we find the latter paying a flying visit
to France, and receiving from the King,
mainly through his patron’s influence, a
- patent of noblhty and a grant of Fort Fron-
tenac—which had just before been founded
by the new Governor with imposing cere-
monies—together with a large tract of the
contiguous territory. Then La Salle’s seri-
ous troubles may be said to have begun.
His grant involved the exclusive right of
fur-traffic with the Indians on Lake Ontario,
and though trade was a secondary object
with h1m he| nevertheless engaged in it as
a means of furthering his more ‘ambitious
schemes of exploration. The merchants of
Canada, envious of his influence and success,
leagued themselves against him, and resolved
to accomplish his downfall The Jesuits
also placed themselves in opposition to him,

Im—-12

for his avowed projects conflicted with theirs.
La Salle aimed at the control of the valleys

of the Ohio and the Mississippi, and the |

usufruct of half a continent. The Jesuits
were no longer supreme in Canada. In
other words, Canada was no longer simply
a mission. It had become a colony. Tem-
poral interests and the civil power were
constantly gaining ground. Therefore the,
Jesuits looked with redoubled solicitude to
their tnissions in"the West. They dreaded
fur-traders, partly because they intérfered
with their teachings and perverted their

converts, and partly for other reasons. La

Salle was a fur-trader, and moreover aimed
at occupation and settlement. In short,
he was a stumbling block in their path,
and they leagued themselves against him.
Many of them engaged in underhand deal-
ings with the Indians, and while they
refused absolution to all Europeans who
sold brandy“to the natives, they turned a
good many dishonest pennies by selling it.
themselves. They laid all kinds of traps
for La Salle, and did not escape the suspi-
cion of attempting to poison him. It-is
certain that an attempt to destroy him in
this fashion was made, though he himself
exonerates the Jesuits from participation
in the attempt. In the autumn of 1677 he
again sailed for France, and while there
procured Royal letters patent authorizing
him to prosecute his schemes of western
discovery, to erect forts at such places as
he might deem expedient, and to enjoy the
exclusive right of traffic in buffalo skins.
With Henri de Tonty, an Italian officer, as
his Heutenant, he soon afterwards returned
to Fort Frontenac, whence, in the autumn
of 1678, he set out for the Great West.

The historian of this expedition was a
mendacious Recollet - friar, Father Louis
Hennepin, a name which has attained some
notoriety in early Canadian annals. Father
Hennepin-had come out to Canada three
years before the date at which we have ar-
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rived. Upon landing ‘at Quebec he was at
once sent up to Fort Frontenac, as a mis-
sionary. He found that.wild spot in the
western wilderness very much to his liking.
He had not been there long before he erec-

.ted a gigantic cross, and superintended the

building of a chapel for himself and his
colleague, Father Luke Buisset. He seems
to have discharged his duties with a reason-
able amount of zea.l He for some time gave
himself up to instructing and endeavouring
to convert the Indians of the nezghbourhood
Later on he visited other Indian settle-
ments, and made a noteworthy journey into
the interior of what is now the State of
New York, where he preached the Gospel
to various tribes of the Five Nations, with
indifferent success.

Upon receiving intelligence of La Salle’s
projected western journey, in 1678, Father
Hennepin felt and expressed great eager-
ness to accompany the expedition. Permis-
sion to do so having been obtained from his
Provinecial, as well as from La Salle, he set
out in advance of the latter from Fort Fron-
tenac, early in November, accompanied by
the Sieur De La Motte and a crew of six-
teén sailors, embarked in a brigantine of ten
tons. They skirted the northern shore of

. Lake Ontario, and in due time arrived at

the Indian village of Taiaiagon, situated at
the mouth of a river near the present city
of Toronto. The river was probably the
Humber, and the village was doubtless a
collection of wigwams which have left no
trace behind them.” From this point the
explorers crossed the lake to the mouth of
the ngam River, which they entered on
the morning of the 6th of December. They
landed on the eastern side of the stream,
where the old-fort of Niagara now stands.
The site was then occupied?by a small vil-
lage inhabited by Seneca Indians, many of
whom probably then beheld for the first
time those wondrous pale-faces, the fame of
whose exploits had precedéd them into the

": ‘.x;
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wilderness. As the vessel rounded the op-
posite point the entire crew burst forth into
sacred song, and chanted “ Te Deum Lauda-
mus” until the anchor was cast into the
river. Later in the day they ascended sev-
eral miles farther up the stream, until they
reached the present site of Lewiston, where
they built a rude dwelling of palisades.
After remaining for some time, waiting for

La Salle to join them, they set off on an

expedition into the interior of New York,

| to pay a visit to a village of the Senecas,

In the meantime La Salle and Tonty had
started from Fort Frontenae, with a band
of men and a goodly store of supplies for
the expedition. After encountering rough
weather and being nearly wrecked off the
Bay of Quinté, they crossed the lake and
landed at the mouth of the Genesee River.
Here they disembarked, and after a brief
delay, started on a visit to the same Indian
village which had just been visited by Hen-
nepin and La Motte, and which was a short
distance south-east of the present site of the
city of Rochester. La Salle called a council

- of the natives, and did his utmost to coneili-

ate them, for they looked upon his proceed-
ings with no friendly eye, and were not
slow in expressing their disapproval. They
were wise enough to know that European
exploration would be but the forerunner of
European settlement, and that European
settlement must be the “sullen presage of
their own decay.” La Salle, however, had

a great deal of personal magnetism and -

force of character, and contrived to gain the

good-will of several of the chiefs. After

much argument and cajoling, he succeeded
in gaining their consent' to the conveyance
of his arms and ammunition by way of the
portage at Niagara. They also acquiesced
in his proposal to establish a fortified ware-
house at the mouth of the river, and to
build a vessel above the falls in which to
prosecute his researches in the west. Hav-
ing accomplished so much—and conmdenng
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the jealousy of the Indians, it is surprising
that he should have obtained such conces-
sions—he set out to join Hennepin and La
Motte in the Niagara River, which had been
appointed as their place of meeting.

Father Hennepin and La Motte had not
long taken up their quarters on the banks
of the Niagara River before they ascended
the stream to regale themselves with a view
of the mighty cataract of which they had
so often heard with awe and astonishment.
To the skill of the mendacious priest we are
indebted for the first verbal description of
the falls by an eye-witness, as well as for
the first artistic delineation of them. The
friar had a keen eye for the beauties and
grandeur of natural scenery ; ‘but, like other
tra.vellers before ahd since his time, he was
much given to dealing in the marvellous.
His view is drawn indirect violation of the
laws of perspective, and the proportions are
not correctly preserved. It must be remem-
bered, however, that during the two hun-
dred years which have elapsed since the
sketch was made, nature has been steadily
at work, and that the external appearance
of the falls has undergone many changes
in that time. It is probable, too, that the
cross-fall depicted in his sketch as'pouring
over what has since been called “Table
Rock ” really existed in 1678. Upon the
whole, there is no reason for doubting that
in its general outlines the sketch made by
Father Hennepin pourtrayed the scene more
faithfully than did his written description,
of which the following is a literal transla-
tion: “Betwixt the Lake Ontario and the
Lake Erie there is a vast and prodigious
cadence of water, which falls down after a
surprising and astonishing manner, inso-
much that the universe does not afford its
parallel. This wonderful downfall is about
six hundred feet, and is composed of two

great cross-streams of water, and two falls.’

with an island sloping across the middle of
it. The waters which fall from this horri-

ble precipice do foam and boil after the most
hideous manner imaginable, making an out-
rageous noise, more terrible than that of
thunder ; for when the wind .blows out of
the south their dismal roaring may be heard
more than fifteen leagues off.”

Hennepin and La Motte were soon after-
wards joined by La Salle and Tonty, accom-
panied by a party consisting of mechanics,
labourers and voyageurs, who arrived in a
small schooner. After a short explora.tlon
of the country thereabouts La Salle set about
the construction of a large vessel of forty-
five tons, for the prosecution of his west-
ern voyage.. The ship-yard was located six
miles above the Falls, near the mouth of
Cayuga Creek, where the work of shipbuild-
ing was carried onithroughout the winter,
spring, and early summer. At last the new

vessel—the ill-fated Griffin (the first Euro-

pean craft that ever navigated the waters
of the upper lakes)—was completed, and on
the 7th of August, 1679, the adventurers em-

-barked and sailed into Lake Erie—“where

sail was never seen before.” They passed
on, to the westward end of the lake, and up
between the green islands of the stream now
known as the Detroit River; crossed Lake
St. Clair, and entered Lake Huron. In due
course, after encountering a furious tempest;
they reached Michillimackinac, where was a
Jesuit Mission and centre of the fur trade.
Passing on into Lake Michigan, La Salle and
his company cast anchor in Green Bay. The
Griffin was forthwith laden with rich furs,
and sent back to Niagara, with orders to
turn over the cargo to La Salle’s creditors,
and return immediately. This is the last
item respecting her-which history affords.

-Whether she foundered or was captured by

the Jesuits or Indians remains an open ques-
tion to this day, and no certain tidings of
her, subsequent to her departure eastward
from Green Bay, ever reached the éars of
her commander.

Meanwhlle, his creditors, from whom he
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had purchased his supplies, and with whom
he was heavily involved, were selling his
effects at Montreal. He himself, with his
company in scattered groups, repaired in
bark canoes to the head of Lake Michigan;
and at the mouth of the St. Joseph he
constructed a trading-house with palisades,

known as the Fort of the Miamis. Of his
vessel, on which his fortunes so much ’de-,’
pended, no tidings came. Weary of dela.y,\;

he resolved to penetrate Illinois; and leav-
ing ten men to guard the Fort of the Miamis,

: La Salle hlmself - with Hennepin, Tonty,

and about thirty followers, ascended the St.
Joseph, and by a short portage over bogs

. and swamps made dangerous by a snow

storm, entered the Kankakee. Descending

" this narrow stream, before the end of De-

cember, 1679, the little company had reached
the site of an Indian village on the Illinois,
probably not far from Ottoway, in La Salle
county. The tribe was absent, passing the
winter in the chase. On the banks of Lake
Peoria Indians appeared, who, desirous to
obtain axes and firearms, offered the calumet
of peace, and agreed to an alliance. They
described the course of the Mississippi, and
they were willing to guide the strangers to
its mouth. The spirit and prudence of La
Salle, who was the life of the enterprise, won
the friendship of the natives. But clouds
lowered over his path. The Grifin, it
seemed certain, was wrecked, thus delaying
his discoveries as well as impairing his for-
tunes. His men began to despond. He
toiled to revive their courage, and assured
them that there could be no safety but in
union. “None,” he added, “shall stay after
the spring, unless from choice.” But fear

and discontent pervaded the company; and
when La Salle, thwarted by destiny, and
almost despairing, planned and began to
build a fort on the banks of the Illinois, four
days’ journey below Lake Peoria, he named
it Crévecceur (Heart-break). Yet evén here
the immense power of his will appeared.

Dependent on himself, fifteen hundred miles
from the nearest French settlement, im-
poverished, harassed by enemies at Quebec
and in the wilderness, he inspired his men
with resolution to saw trees into plank and
prepare a barque He despatched Henne-
pin to explore the Upper. Mississippi; he
questioned the Illinois and- the captives on

- the course of that river; he formed conjec-

tures respecting the course of the Tennessee.

“Then, as new recruits and sails and cordage

for the barque were needed, in the month of
March, with a musket and pouch of powder
and shot, with a blanket for his protection
and skins of which to make moccasins, he,
with three companions, set off on foot for
Fort Frontenac, to tradge through thickets
and forests, to wade through marshes and
melting snows ; without drink, except water
from the running brooks; without food, ex-
cept such precarious supplies -as could be
provided by his gun. After enduring dan-
gers and hardships which would have effect-

ually damped the ardour of any one but a

French adventurer of that time; after nar-
rowly escaping a plot to poison hun after
being deserted by some of his followers, and
threatened with all sorts of unknown pen-
alties by the savages, he finally, after sixty-
five days’ journeying, arrived at Fort Fron-
tenac on the 6th of May, 1680. But “man
and nature seemed in arms against him.”
He found that during his absence his agents
had plundered him, that his creditors had
seized his property, and that several of his
canoes, richly laden, had been lost in the

rapids of the St. Lawrence. Another vessel

which. had been despatched with supplies
for him from France had also been ship-
wrecked. Instead of sitting down to mourn
over these mishaps, however, they seemed
to inspire him with fresh vigour. Descend-
ing to Montreal, he in less than a week
procured what supplies he needed, and re-
turned to Fort Frontenac. Just as he was
about to embark for Illinois, messengers ar-
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rived with intelligence that Tonty had been
abandoned by his companions, and had been
compelled to take shelter with a band of
Pottawatomie Indians.

Undiscouraged by the manifold disasters
which had befallen him, La Salle once more
set out from Fort;, Frontenac for the regions
of the Great West. Instead of following
the route by Lake Erie and the Detroit and
St. Clair Rivers, as he had previously done,
he crossed over to the Georgian Bay by way
of the River Humber, which was on the line
of one of the three great westward routes in
those times. He was accompanied by twen-
ty-five assistants, including his lieutenant,
one La Forest, and a surgeon. In due course
they reached Michillimackinac, which was
then the great morth-western dépot of. the
fur trade, Here he found that his old ene-

mies the Jesuits had been busy poisoning"

the minds of the natives against him, inso-
much that it was only with difficulty that
he could induce the latter to sell him provi-
sions. After a brief delay he resumed his
journey, passing numerous camps of the ter-
rible Iroquois, who, tired of devastating the
more enstern districts, were now sprea.dmg

_ desolation through these western regions.
"Upon reaching Fort Crévecceur he found it

deserted, and neither here nor elsewhere, for
many days to come, was he able to gain any
intelligence of his trusty ally, Tonty, who
had been left behind on the former expedi-
tion, as already narrated. He continued his
course southward, and erelong found him-
self on the banks of the Mississippi—the

.mighty Father of Waters, “the object of his

day dreams, the destined avénue of his am-
bition and his hopes.” Finding no traces
of Tonty, he determined to look for him
further northward, and retraced his foot-
steps to Fort Miami, on the St. Joseph, near
Lake Michigan, where he spent the winter.
“ Here,” says Mr. Parkman, “ he might have
brooded on the redoubled ruin that had be-

fallen him ; the desponding friends, the ex-

ulting foes; the wasted energies, the crush-
ing load of debt; the stormy past, the black
and lowering future. But his mind was of
a different temper. He had no thought but
to grapple with adversity, and out of the
fragments of his ruin to build up the fabric
of success. He would not recoil; but he
modified his plans to meet the new contin-
gency. His white enemies had found—or

rather, perhaps, had made—a savage ally .* "~

in the Iroquois. Their incursions must be
stopped, or-his enterprise would come to
naught; and he thought he saw the means
by which this new danger could be converted
into a source of strength. The tribes of the
west, threatened by the common enemy,
might be taught to forget their mutual ani-
mosities and join in a defensive league, with
La Salle at its head. -They might be colon-

ized around his fort in the valley of the

Illinois, where, in the shadow of the French
flag, and with the aid of French allies they
could hold the Iroquois in check, and acquire
in some measure ‘the arts of a settled life.
The Franciscan friars could teach them the
Faith; La Salle and his associates could

- supply them with goods, in exchange for

the vast harvest of furs which their hunt-

ers could gather in these boundless wilds.
Meanwhile, he could seek out the mouth of
the Mississippi; and the furs gathéred at
his colony in the Illinois would then find a
ready passage to the markets of the world.
Thus might this ancient slaughter-field of
warring savages be redeemed to civilization
and Christianity, .and a stable settlement,

half feudal, half commercial, grow up in the

heart of the western wilderness. . This plan
was but a part of the original scheme of his
enterprise, adapted to new and unexpected
circumstances ; and he now set himself to
its execution with his usual vigour, joired
to an address that, whenf‘_dealiug with In-
dians, never failed him.” ~

“In pursuance of this scheme he called a
council of all the Indian chiefs for leagues .
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round, and entered into a formal covenant
with them. His new project was hopefully
begun. It remained to achieve the enter-
prise, twice defeated, of the discovery of the
mouth of the Mississippi. To this end, he
must return to Canada, appease his creditors,
and collect his scattered resources. Towards
the end of May he set out in canoes from
Fort Miami, and, after a prosperous voyage,
reached Michillimackinac. Here, to his great
joy, he found Tonty and one Zen(?be Mem-
bré, who had lately arrived from Green Bay.
W loss of time, they embarked toge-
therfor Fort Frontenac, paddled their canoes
a thou\saiﬁ&{ifés,\\and safely reached their
destination. Here, in this third beginning
of his enterprise, La Salle found himself be-
set with embarrassments. Not only was he
burdened with the fruitless cost of his two
former efforts, but the heavy debts which
he had incurred in building and maintaining
Fort Frontenac had not been wholly paid.
The fort and the seigniory were already
deeply mortgaged; yet, through the influ-
ence of the Count de Frontenac, and the sup-
port of a wealthy relative, he found means
to appease his creditors, and even to gain
fresh advances. He mustered his men, and
once more set forth, resolved to trust no

more to agents, but to lead on his followers
- in & united body under his own personal

command.

Returning westward, he once more reached
Fort Miami, whence, on the 26th of Decem-
ber, 1682, he set out for the mouth of the
Mississippi, whither. he arrived during the
month of April following. “As he drift-
ed down the turbid current, between the
low and marshy shores, the brackish water
changed to brine, and the breeze grew fresh
with the salt breath of the sea. Then the
broad bosom of the great Gulf opened on
his sight, tossing its restless billows, limit-
less, voiceless, lonely as when born of chaos,
without a sail, without a sign of life.” La
Salle, in a canoe, coasted the marshy borders

of the sea; and then assembled his com-
panions on a spot of dry ground, a short dis-
tance above the mouth of the river. In this
wild spot, on the ninth of the month, which
was the month of April, 1682, he planted
a column bearing the arms of France and an
inseription to Louis Le Grand. “On that
day,” says the writer already quoted from,
“the realm of France received on parchment
a stupendous accession. The fertile plains
of Texas; the vast basin of the Mississippi,
from its frozen northern springs to the sultry
borders of the Gulf, from the woody ridges
of the Rocky Mountains—a region of savan-
nahs and forests, sun-cracked deserts and
grassy prairies, inhabited by innumerable
warlike tribes—passed beneath the sceptre
of the Sultan of Versailles; and all by virtue
of a feeble human voice, inaudible at half a
mile.” Louisiana was the name bestowed by
La Salle on this new domain of the French
crown, which stretched from the Allegha-
nies to the Rocky Mountains ; from the Rio
Grande and the Gulf to the farthest springs
of the Missouri. '

Retracing his steps; he ‘founded on the
banks of the Illinois River a colony of
French and Indians, to answer the double
purpose of a bulwark against the Iroquois
and a place of storage for the furs of all the’
western tribes; and he hoped in the follow-

.ing year to secure an outlet for this colony,

and for all the trade of the valley of the
Mississippi, by occupying the mouth of that
river with a fort and another colony. The
site of the colony was near the spot now
occupied by the village of Utica, in the State
of Illinois. Early in the following autumn
he placed Tonty in charge of it, and made
the best of his way to Quebec, whence he
soon afterwards sailed for France. He had
an interview with the King, to whom he
unfolded his schemes. Louis, notwithstand-
ing the machinations of La Salle’s enemies,
took a favourable view of the latter’s enter-
prises, and in the month of July, 1684, we
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find him setting sail from Rochelle with a
fleet of four vessels and a small army of
. recruits, composed of soldiers, gentlemen,
artisans and labourers. Their destination
was not Canada,/ but the Gulf of Mexico;
La Salle having obtained the royal authority
for a vast scheme of trade and colonization
on the Mississippi, to which was tacked on
a wild and impracticable scheme of conquest
of the Spanish settlements in Mexico. One
of the vessels, laden with provisions and
other necessaries for the projected colony,
was captured by buccaneers. The other
three, after calling at St. Domingo, entered
the Mexican Gulf. La Salle, when at the
mouth of the Mississippi nearly three years
before, had taken the latitude, but for some
reason or other had no clue to the longitude,
and the consequence was that he now sailed
more than four hundred miles too far west.
He landed on the coast of Texas, and spent
some time in exploration before he became
convinced of his error. Meanwhile he was
constantly quarrelling with Beaujeu, his
naval commander, as well as with other
members of the expedition. Add to this
that he was repeatedly prostrated by attacks
of fever, and in constant expectation of be-
ing attacked by the savages of the neigh-
bourhood ; and it will be confessed that his
situation was not a very enviable one. To
add to his perplexities, one of his vessels
went aground, and a great part of the cargo
was lost. About this time Beaujeu set out
to return to France. He had accomplished
his mission, and landed his passengers at
what La Salle assured him to be one of the
mouths of the Mississippi. .His ship was in
danger on this exposed and perilous coast,
apd he was anxious to find shelter. After
some delay, La Salle erected a fort on Lavaca
River, in which he placed the women and
children and most of the men who formed
part of the expedition, and with the rest of
the men set out to renew his search for the
mouth of the Mississippi. He set out from

the fort—which he called Fort St. Louis—
with fifty men, on the 31st of October, 1685,
to find the mouth of “the fatal river "—by
which name it had come to be known among
the band of adventurers. Five months were
spent in wanderings through the wilds of
that region, during which the hardships and
sufferings were such as to baffle deseription,
but the object of their quest still seemed as
remote as ever. At last, weary and dispirit-

ed, the survivors returned to Fort St. Louis,’

where La Salle fell dangerously ill, and for
some time his life was despaired of. No
sooner had he recovered than he determined
to make his way by the Mississippi and the
Illinois to Canada, whence he might bring
succour to the colonists, and. send a report
of their condition to France. The attempt
was beset with uncertainties and dangers.
The Mississippi was first to be found, then
followed through all the perilous monotony
of its interminable windings to a goal which
was to be but the starting point of a new
and not less arduous journey. Twenty men,
including La Salle’s brother, the Abbé Cave-
lier, and Moranget, his nephew, were detailed
to accompany him. On the 22nd of April,
1686, after mass and prayers in the chapel,
they issued from the gate, each bearing
his pack and his weapons, some with kettles
slung at their backs, some with axes, some
with gifts for Indians. In this guise they
held their way in silence across the prairie.
They travelled north-easterly, and encoun-
tered a due share of adventures with wild
beasts and Indian savages. They traversed
a large extent of country, but the attempt
to discover the mouth of the Mississippi
proved wholly ineffectual. After several
months La Salle and eight of his twenty
men returned to Fort St. Louis. Of the rest,
four had deserted, one had been lost, one
had been devoured by an alligator ; and the
rest, giving out on the march, had probably
perished in attempting to regain the fort.
The journey to Canada, however, was
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clearly the only hope of the colonists, and
on the 6th of January, 1687, the attempt to
make it was renewed. The band of adven-
turers this time consisted of eighteen per-
sons. At their head was La Salle himself.
His brother and nephew, already mentioned,
were also of the party. Of the others the
only ones necessary to specify are Joutel, La
Salle’s trusty henchman, the second in com-
mand; Hiens, a German, formerly: a pirate
of the Spanish Main; Duhaut, a man of re-
spectable birth and education, but a cruel
and remorseless villain; and I’Archévéque,
his servant; Liotot, the surgeon of the ex-
pedition ; Teissier, a pilot; Douay, a friar;

. and Nika, a Shawnee Indian, who was a de--

voted friend of La Salle’s. They proceeded
northward. The members of the party were
incongruous, and did not agree one with an-
other. Duhaut and Liotot were disappoint-
ed at the ruinous result of their enterprise.
They had a quarrel with young Moranget.
Already at Fort St. Louis Duhaut had in-
trigued against La Salle, against whom
Liotot had also secretly sworn vengeance.
On the 15th of March they encamped with-
in a few miles of a spot which La Salle had
passed on his preceding journey, and where
he had left a quantity of Indian corn and
beans in a caghe. As provisions were fall-
ing short he sent a party from the camp to
find it. These men were Duhaut, Liotot,
Hiens the buccaneer, Teissier, I Archévéque,
Nika the hunter, and La Salle’s servant,
Saget. They opened the cagke, and found
the contents spoiled; but as they returned
they saw buffalo, and Nika shot two of them.
They now encamped on the spot, and sent
the servant to inform La Salle, in order that

he might send horses to bring in the meat.-

Accordingly, on the next day he directed
Moranget and another, with the necessary
horses, to go with Saget to the hunters’
camp. - When they arrived they found that
Duhaut and his companions had already cut
up- the meat, and laid it upon scaffolds for

*

smoking, and had also put by for themselves
certain portions to which, by woodland cus-
tom, they had a perfect right. Moranget
fell into an unreasonable :fit of rage, and
seized the whole of the meat. This added
fuel to the fire of Duhaut’s old grudge
against Moranget and his uncle. The sur-
geon also bore hatred against Moranget.
The two took counsel apart with Hiens,
Teissier, and I'Archévéque, and it was re-
solved to kill Moranget, Nika and Saget. All
the five were of one mind, except the pilot
Teissier, who neither aided nor opposed the
scheme. When night came on; the order of
the guard was arranged ; and the first hour
was assigned to Moranget, the second to
Saget, and the third to Nika.. Gun in hand,
each stood watch in turn. Dubhaut and
Hiens stood with their guns cocked, ready
to shoot down any one of the victims who
should resist. : Saget, Nika and Moranget
were ruthlessly butchered, and then it was
resolved that La Salle should share their
fate. La Salle was still at his camp, six
miles distant. Next morning, having heard
nothing of Moranget or the others, he set
out to find them, accompanied by his Indian
guide, and by Douay, the friar. “All the
way,” writes the friar, “he spoke to me of
nothing but matters of piety, grace, and pre-
destination ; enlarging on the debt he owed
to God, who had saved him from so many
perils during more than twenty years of
travel in America. Suddenly, I saw him
overwhelmed with a profound sadness, for
which~he himself could not account.. He

was so much moved that I scarcely knew

him.” He soon recovered his. usual calm-

ness, and they walked on till they ap-

proached the camp of ‘Duhaut, on the far-
ther side of a small river. Looking about
him, La Salle saw two eagles circling in the
air, as if attracted by the carcasses of beasts
or men. He fired his gun and his pistol asa
summons. The shots reachéd the ears of the

‘conspirators, who fired from their place of
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concealment, and La Salle, shot through the
brain, sank lifeless on the ground. Douay
stood terror-stricken. Dubaut called out to
him that he had nothing to fear. The mur-
derers came forward and gathered about
their victim. “There thou liest, great Ba-
shaw! There thou liest!” exclaimed the
surgeon Liotot, in base exultation over the
unconscious corpse. With mockery and in-
sult, they stripped it naked, dragged it into
the bushes, and left it there a prey to the
buzzards and the wolves. It is sad to think
that such was the fate of the veritable Dis-
coverer of the Great West.

“Thus,” says Mr. Parkman, “in the vigour
of his manhood, at the age of forty-three,
died Robert Cavelier de la Salle, ¢ one of the
greatest men,’ writes Tonty, ‘of this age;’
without question one of the most remark-
able explorers whose names live in history.
The enthusiasm of the disinterested and
chivalrous Champlain Wwas not the enthu-
siasm of La Salle; nor had he any part in
the self-devoted zeal of the early Jesuit
explorers. He belonged not to the age of
the knight-errant and the saint, but to the
modern world of practical study and action.
He was the hero, not of a principle nor of a

faith, but simply of a fixed idea and a deter-
mined purpose. It is easy to reckon up his
defects, but it is not easy to hide from sight
the Roman virtues that redeemed them.
Beset by a throng of enemies, he 'stands,
like the King of Israel, head and shoulders
above them all. He was a tower of adamant,
against whose impregnable front hardship
and danger, the rage of man and of the ele-
ments, the southern sun, the northern blast,
fatigue, famine and disease, delay, disap-

| pointment and deferred hope, emptied their

quivers in vain. - Never under the impene-
trable mail of paladin or crusader beat a
heart of more intrepid mettle than within
the stoic panoply that armed the -breast of
La Salle. To estimate aright the marvels
of his patient fortitude, one must follow on
his track through the vast scene of his in-
terminable journeyings, those thousands of
weary miles of forest, marsh and river, where
again and again, in the bitterness of baffled’
striving, the untiring pilgrim pushed on-
wards towards the goal which he was never
to attain. America owes him an enduring
memory ; for in this masculine figure she
sees the pioneer who guided her to the pos-

"session of her richest heritage.”
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THE RIGHT REV. JAMES W. WILLIAMS, D.D,

BISHOP OF QUEBEC.

ISHOP WILLIAMS is a son of the late
Rev. David Williams, who was for
many years Rector of Banghurst, Hamp-
shire, England. He was born at the town
of Overton, Hampshire, in 1825, and his
childhood was chiefly passed in that neigh-
bourhood. He was intended for holy orders
from his earliest years. In his boyhood he
attended for some time at an educational
establishment at Crewkerne, a town in the
south-eastern part of Somersetshire, whence
he passed to Pembroke College, Oxford. His
collegiate course was not specially note-
worthy, but was marked by considerable
diligence. He graduated as B.A. in 1851,

‘taking honours in classics. He in due course

obtained his degrees of M.A. and D.D. He
was admitted to Deacon’s Orders by the
Lord Bishop of ‘Oxford, and (in 1856) to
Priest’s Orders by the Lord Bishop of Bath
and Wells. He for a short time held cura-
cies ively in Buckinghamshire and
Somersetshire. His classical attainments
were of more than average excellence, and
seeing no prospect of immediate advance-
ment in England, he in 1837 came over to
Canada to assist in or a school in
connection with Bishop’s College, Lennox-
ville. Within a sliort time after his arrival
hé was appointed Rector of the College
Grammar School, and soon afterwards suc-
ceeded to the Classical Professorship of the
College, a position which he reba.med until
his elevation to the Episcopacy.

Upon the death of the late Rxght Rev.

- N
George Jehoshaphat Mountain, Bishop of
Quebec, in 1863, the subject of this sketch
was appointed his successor by the Synod ;
and on the 11th of June of that year he was
consecrated at Quebec by the Most Reverend
the Metropolitan, assisted by the Bishops of
Toronto, Ontario, Huron and Vermont. His
first Episcopal act was to advance three
Deacons to the Priesthood.

The " See over which his jurisdiction
extends was constituted in the year 1793,
and formerly comprised the whole of Upper
and Lower Canada. Its extent has since
been from time to tiine curtailed, and it is
now confined to that part of the Province of
Quebec extending from Three Rivers to the
Straits of Belleisle and New Brunswick, on
the shores of the St. Lawrence and all east
of a line drawn from Three Rivers to Lake
Memphremagog.

‘Bishop Williams is a plain.and unaffected
preacher, and a man of scholarly tastes.
He makes no pretence to showy or splendid
gifts of pulpit oratory, but is known as an
energetic and industrious ecclesiastie, care-
ful for the spiritual welfare of his diocese
and clergy. Several of his lectures and ser-
mons have been published, and -have been
highly commended by the religious press of

Canada and the United States. Among them

may be mentioned his Charge delivered to
the Clergy of the Diocese of Quebec, at the
Visitation held in Bishop’s College, Lennox-
ville, in 1864 ; and a lecture on Self-Educa-
tion, published at Quebec in 1865.
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STANISLAUS GZOWSKI,

CLUESTY QUEEN

i diavady: 3o
R VICTORLA,
: N
K T ' vo Brame wmast inevitably tave suceumbed leng
: L - o - veagns Nuch a Jife ac his comonly leaves
: BT - < ery oereenithie traces behind it In his
. - . . ; e et Y trrees are discernible. Neither
. ; 1 . RIFECHE e dide palt nor Dis o e oEn
k ) T et nered s mray e { © v alat
? ' . b o mans proe ' - - ©o.ITeWi
» ‘ CReTr. gl sRurenore T o~ oreet and
: 0 . oo bandodng thy Lo el . nomineas of step,
; S atvafeldn e L . oo clauer, ws he perainbn-
N W o Co : <o swould readily Lelieve rha
“ C . - } I oo T approgehing his wooro i
1 . ' . s ey Nabb dess wouhi o e vy ed
. - R <. Ll imifitures
; ' . i R vorud o juab he has
PN ’ | . SRR me srrggrgle {ora
i IR “o T froe b hie il
; . e D cta e e that he Das,
. . 4 TR S - oo and thab
ceeg bt seers f Ca o, are o La e weere nassed
’ ' - . cod - AT mmrnm Troel T s gernive g forelgn
L S Conr o Tart Yoe - oo oviow the alternating
- . - . ;-:," ol et e v Seem 0
' SO - almawvesy oon e e : paroerama of
‘ ,’ cocwsmmnes of o the swn T g o0 iieer than g veracious
% eo ot e sl samer,  chrenioa GEace stury of his life can
. ¢ CoT Atre i o -, BN B T B fedsntaind * AorTARND DY Ro other pen than
: adventure waoo - Sreodonowwiter ML Swn i - many vears past he has
taniliar with =i - o algn wery Domad orser protisable e.x*piovmenu for his
i el form t.hc g Crepedn | bt chamothe inditing of autobiograph-
v vl His elasticity &, Lt was werscdre. In the absence of any such
v and vigour of conas e owote mno'Ts e it ours to place on record such
R 3 him through an E e Layre 5 xhbnt points of his h‘"e as are
¢ " -and sui;ﬁ::riz*tr o wl R ascertainable.
3.

rie s descended from arp ancient Polish

s e e e 4o i s 8

.




A
\
<.
.
.
s

by i v s 3

-

DR
At
TEear




-

",

w8 ‘nk M_,g. mv. -c,* ‘.;.,4@“ “:;nwgﬂ‘ %&Jy #‘n,:{'“""

s

s mﬂ
FATS ~2’¢5;-'~
B B

w o,

LIEUT-COL.-CASIMIR STANISEAUS GZOWSK]I,

A}DE-DE-CAMP TO HER MAYESTY QUEEN VICTORIA.

N compiling the various sketches which
have appeared in the present series, the
editor has frequently been compelled to en-
counter the difficulty of constructing a read-
able narrative out of very sparse and prosaic
materials. A collection of this kind must
necessarily include the lives of many pro-
fessional and scientific men; and eminence
in literature, in science, and in the learned
professions, is commonly attained by means
which—however interesting to those most
immediately concerned—seem wonderfully
commonplace to the general public, when
reduced to plain, matter-of-fact narration.
As arule, stirring and romantic incidents are
incompatible with a successful professional
career, and in recounting the life of a learned
divine, Chief Justice, or man of science, it is

rarely necessary to deal with thrilling inei-,

dents or dramatic situations. The lives of
such men are usually passed within a nar-
row and restricted groove, and the salient
points may easily be comprised within a few
lines. In the life of Colonel Gzowski, on
the other hand, we have an instance of a
remarkably successful professional career,
combined with a chapter of vicissitude and
adventure which, in the hands of a writer
familiar with. all the details, might very
well form the groundwork of a sensation
novel. His elasticity of spirits, strength of
will, and vigour of constitution have sup-
ported him through an amount of labour,
fatigue and suffering to which a more feeble
mind and a more delicately-constructed

R
~

frame must inevitably have succumbed long
ago. Such a life as his commonly leaves
very perceptible traces behind it. In his
case no such traces are discernible. Neither
in his visage, his gait, nor his manner, can
the most observant eye detect any sign that
his pathway has not always been strewn
with rosés. No one remarking his erect and
firmly-knit figure, his jauntiness of step,
and his keenness of glance, as he perambu-
lates our streets, would readily believe that
he is rapidly approaching his sixty-eighth
birthday. Still less would it be supposed
that he has passed through adventures
enough for a knight-errant; that he has
fought and bled in the fierce struggle for a
nation’s existence; that he has had his full
share of -the horrors of war; that he has

languished in a patriot’s prison; and that

some of the best years of his life were passed
in a hard struggle for existence in a foreign
land. As we pass in review the alternating
phases of his chequered career wé seem to
be contemplating a shifting panorama of
the novelist’s fancy, rather than a veracious
chronicle of facts. The story of his life can
be adequately narrated by no other pen than
his own, and for many years past he has
found more profitable employment for his
talents than the inditing of autobiograph-
ical memoirs. In.the absence of any such
memoirs, be it ours to place on record such
of the more salient points of his life as are
readily ascertainable.

He is descended from an ancient Polish
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92 LIEUT.-COL. CASIMIR STANISLAUS GZOWSKIL

family which was ennobled in the sixteenth
century, and which for more than two hun-
dred years thereafter continued to exercise
an influence upon the national affairs. His
father, Stanislaus, Count (Hrabia) Gzowski,
was an officer of the Imperial Guard. He

himself was born on the 5th of March, 1813,

at St. Petersburg, the Russian capital, where
his parents were then temporarily sojourn-
ing. His childhood was spent as the child-
hood of most Polish children of his station
in life was passed in those days—viz., in
preparation for a military career. At nine
years of age he entered a military engineer-
ing college at Kremenetz, in the Province of
Volhynia, where he remained until 1830,
when he graduated as an engineer, received
a commission, and entered the army of
Russia. '

- .- The Russian 'Empire was at this time on

them“oﬁé‘cf‘thosefeﬁgdigal insur-

rections to which she had long been subject, |

more especially since the final partition and
absorption of Poland, and the annihilation
of the Polish monarchy. In 1825, Nicholas
I. succeeded his elder brother Alexander on
the throne of Russia. He had not long been
installed there before he gave evidence of
that aggressive policy which he pursued
through life, and which nearly thirty years
later involved him in the Crimean War.
Some years before his accession, his elder
brother Constantine, the heir-apparent to
the throne, had been entrusted with the
military government of Poland, and in 1822
héd resigned his right to the Russian throne
in Nicholas’s favour. Upon the latter’s ac-
cession he continued his elder brother in
his sovereignty of Poland. Constantine’s
administration of affairs in that unhappy
country was arbitrary and despotic in’ the
extreme, and little calculated to mollify the
heartburnings of the inhabitants. His op-
Ppressions were not confined to the serfs, but
extended to the nobility. The result of his
tyranny was the formation of secret societies

WiZh a view to striking one more blow for
Polish liberty. A widespread insurrection,
wherein most of the Polish officers in the
Imperial army were involved, finally broke
out in 1830—the year in which the sub-
ject of this sketch received his commission.
The success of the concurrent revolution in
France, and the forced abdication of Charles
X.,inspired the insurgents with high hopes.
In November of the year last mentioned
the Grand Duke Constantine and his Rus-
sian adherents were driven out of Warsaw,
the Polish capital. If the insurrectionary
forces had been thoroughly organized, and
if they had not been subjected to extraneous
interference, there is reason for believing
that their country might have been freed
from the hateful domination of the Czar.
Notwithstanding all the manifold disabili-
ties under which they carried on the con-
test, they achieved a temporary success.

i f Constantine, a pro-
visional government was formed under the

presidency of Prince Czartoryski, and a
series of desperate engagements was fought
in which the patriots had in almost. every -
instance a"decided advantage. Their des-
perate courage™and self-devotion, however,
were of no permanent avail, for Prussia and
Austria both lent their assistance to crush
them, and towards the close of 1831 Warsaw
was recaptured by the allied forces under
Count Paskevitch, who was forthwith in-
stalled as viceroy of Poland. The crushing
of the insurrection was of course marked '
by merciless severity and cruelty. In 1832
Poland was declared to be an integral part
of the Russian’ Empire, and all the impor-
tant prisoners were either put to death, ban-
ished to Siberia, or compelled to endure the
horrors of a Russian prison.

Throughout the whole .of this fruitless
insurrection Casimir Stanislaus Gzowski
played a conspicuous part. He cast in his.
lot with his compatriots from the beginning ;

was present at the expulsion of Constantine
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from Warsaw, in N ovember, 1830, and was
actively engaged in numerous important
conflicts that ensued. He was wounded,

and several times narrowly escaped cap-
ture. We have no meang of closely follqw-
ing him through the hazardﬁ exploxt@"ofa
that dark and sanguinary period. Persons
who are familiar with the history of Polish
insurrections will be at no loss to conjecture
the ¢ hair-breadth ’scapes, and moving acci-
'dents by flood and field,” which he encoun-
fered in that desperate struggle for a nation’s
freedom. After the battle of Boremel, Gen-
eral Dwernicki’s division, to which he was
attached, retreated into Austrian territory;
where the troops laid down their arms and
became prisoners. The rank and file were
permitted to depart whithersoever they
would, but the officers, to the number of
about six hundred, were placed in durance,
and quartered in several fortified stations.
There they languished for several months,
when; by an arrangement entered into be-
tween the governments of Russia and Aus-
tria, they were shipped off as exiles to the

United States. .

When Mr. Gzowski, with his fellow-exiles,
landed at New York in the summer of 1833,
he had no knowledge whatever of the Eng-
lish language. When the pilot came on
board at Sandy Hook, and saluted the cap-
tain of the vessel, he heard that language
spoken for the first time. Like most mem-
bers of the Polish and Russian aristocracy,
he was an accomplished linguist, and was
familiar with many of the continental lan-
guages; but it was a part of the Russian
policy in those days to exclude English
books from the public schools, and to pre-
vent by every conceivable means the spread
of English ideas among the people. During
his course of study at- the military college
at Kremenetz, one of the Professors had ex-
hibited an English book to him as a sort of
outlandish curiosity. He now found him-
self in a strange land, without means, with-

a

out any friends except his fellow-exiles—
who were as helpless in that respect as him-
self—and without any prospect of obtaining
employment. He possessed qualifications,
however, which, as the event proved, were
of more value than mere worldly wealth.
He had been a diligent student, and had
acquired what must have been, for a youth
of twenty years, a thorough knowledge of
engineering. He was, as has been remarked,
a good linguist, and had not merely a gram-
matical, but a practical knowledge of the
French, German and Italian languages. Bet-
ter than all these, he was endowed with an
iron constitution, which even the rigours
of an Austrian prison had not been able to
injure, and a strength of will which would
not admit the possibility of failure. Some
idea of his resolution may be formed from
the fact that, when he found that his want
of knowledge of English prevented him from
following the engineering profession with
advantage, he determined to study law as a
means of acquiring a mastery of the Eng-
lish tongue.’ After subsisting for some
months in New York by giving lessons in

French and German, he betook himself to -

Pittsfield, Massa;chusetts, where he entered
the office of the late Mr. Parker L. Hall,
an eminent lawyer of that town, and a
gentleman of high social position. The
facility displayed by the natives of Poland
and Russia in acquiring a knowledge of
foreign languages is well known, but the

achievements of Mr. Gzowski. at this time -

seem almost phenomenal. It must be borne
in mind that while he was studying law in
a tongue which was foreign to him, he was
compelled to support himself by outside
employment. He obtained his livelihood
by teaching modern languages, drawing,
and fencing, in two of the local academies.
He worked early and late, and was at first
obliged to study the commentaries of Black-
stone and Kent through the medium of a
dictionary. In nothing did he appear to
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greater advantage than in his invariable
readiness to adapt his mind, without dseless
repining, to the circumstances in which he
found himself. His indomitable industry,
. natural ability, and fine social qualities, com-
bined with his misfortunes to make him a
marked man in Pittsfield society. He gained
many warm friends, but was always wise
enough to remember that his success in life
must mainly depend upon his own exertions.
In the month of February, 1837, when he
had been studying his profession about three
years, he passed a successful examination,
and was only prevented from being admit-
ted to practice by:his not having become a
naturalized citizen of the United States.
A knowledge of the legal profession, how-
ever, was with him merely a means to an
end. He had no intention of permanently
devoting himself to legal practice, and had
always contemplated returning to his pro-
fession of an engineer. He had by this time
acquired a competent knowledge of the
English language, and had beO'un to look

exertions. The development of the coal
regions of Pennsylvania was attracting a
good deal of attention at this time, and it
occurred to him that he might not improba-
bly find employment there. A visit to that
State tended to confirm his views, and in
November Term, 1837, having submitted
the necessary proofs, and taken the oath of
allegiance, he was duly admitted as a citizen
of the United States, before the Prothono-
tary of the Court of Common Pleas, in
Beaver County, Pennsylva.ma. He had
brought with him from Pittsfielumerous
letters of introduction to persons of high
social position and influence, all bearing tes-
timony to his unimpeachable character and
wide attainments. The only obstacle to his
admission to practice having been removed,
he was enrolled as an advocate at the Bar of
the Supreme Court, and for a short time

however, was not the line of action for
which he considered himself best qualified,
nor did the prospect held out to him satisfy
his ambition. He soon obtained employ-
ment "as an engineer in connection with the
great canals and public works, and aban-
doned the law as a profession. He became
interested in several contracts, which were
faithifully and skilfully carried out; and
wherever he went he won the reputation of
a delightful companion and a thoroughly
honourable man.

Early in 1841 the project of widening and
deepemno the. Welland Canal began to be
diScussed with some vehemence in Upper
Canada. With a view to securing a con-
tract, Mr. Gzowski came over from Erie,
Pennsylvania (where he then resided), to
Toronto, and for the first time was brought
into contact with some of the leading public
men of Canada. The Government was then
administered by Sir Charles Bagot, a gentle-
man whose infirm state of health did not
&Mﬁﬁdkmg aywarm interest
in"the public 1mprovemegt( of the country.
Sir Charles formed a high opinion of M.
Gzowski’s talents, and sanctioned his ap-
pointment to an office in connection with
the Department of Public Works. This
appointment having ‘been accepted by Mr.
Gzowski, he bade adieu to his many friends
in the United States, and took up his abode
in Upper Canada.

* During the next six’ years Mr. Gzowski’s
life was entxrely occupied by his duties in
connection with the Department of Public

less important enterprises conducted by him
during this, the busiest period of his active
life. His reports of the works in connec-
tion with harbours, bridges and highways
alone occupy a conmsiderable portion of a
large folio volume. It will be sufficient to say
that every important provincial improve-

acted as an advocate in Pennsylvania. This,

ment came under his supervision; and that

Works. It is manifestly out of the ques-
tion to give even an epitome of the number-.
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nearly every county in Upper Canads bears
- upon its surface the impress of his great
industry and engineering skill In 1846
he obtained naturalization ‘and became a
British subject. Soon after the accession to
power of the Baldwin-Lafontaine Govern-
ment, in 1848, his services in an official ca-
pacity were brought to a close, and he began
to enter upon/large engineering enterprises
on his own account. Towards the end of
the year 1848 he published a report on the
mines of/the Upper’aCa.na,da. Mining Com-
pany Lake Huron. But his mind was
occupied by more important schemes. The
railfvay era set in. The Railroad Guarantee
_ Act, authorizing Government grantsto pri-
vate companies undertaking the construe-
tion of railways, having been passed in
1849, the public began to hear of various
railway projects of greater or lesser import-
ance. The first great enterprise of this sort
with which Mr. Gzowski connected himself
was the St. Lawrence and Atlantic Railroad

Company, from Montreal to Island Pond,”

which has since been amalgamated with the
Grand Trunk. Mr. Gzowskl was appointed
Chief Engineer of this undertaking, made a
survey of the greater portion of the line,
and superintended the actual construction.
When the line became merged in the Grand
Trunk he resigned his position of Chief
Engineer, and received the most gratifying
written testimonials from the Board of Di-
rectors as to his able administration of the
important duties which had fallen to his
share. Having formed. a partnership with
the present Sir Alexander T. Galt, the late
Hon. Luther H. Holton, and the Hon. D. L.
Macpherson, Mr. Gzowski for some years de-

voted himself entirely to the work of rail-.

way construction. On the 24th of March,

1853, the firm of Gzowski & Co. obtained

the contract for the construction of the line
from Toronto westward to Sarnia. This
great work was prosecuted to a successful
conclusion, and was attended with most

gratifying pecuniary results to the contrac-
tors. The firm was then dissolved, and has
since consisted of Messrs. Gzowski and Mac-
pherson only, who continued to carry on
large operations in the way of railway con-
struction. Among other railway works con-
structed by the firm were the line from Port
Huron to Detroit, in the State of Michigan

and the line from..London to St. Mary’s, in
this Province. In connection with their own *
enterprises, and for the purpose of supply-

ing railway companies with iron rails and

materials used in the construction of rail-

ways, Messrs. Gzowski & Macpherson in

1857 established the Toronto Rolling Mills,

which were carried on successfully for about

twelve xears. Steel rails having largely
superseded the use of iron ones, .the ne-

cessity for maintaining the establishment

ceased to exist, and the works were closed

up in 1869. ?

The excitement produced on two conti-
nents in 1861 by the Trent affair, and the
threatened rupture of amicable relations
between Great Britain and the United
States, led Mr. Gzowski to reflect seriously
on the defenceless condition of Canada. In
the event of hostilities between the two
nations, this country would of course be the
first pomt of attack ; and, in the absence
of any efficient means of defence, it would
manifestly be impossible to maintain a fron-
tier extending over thousands of miles. Tt
occurred to Mr. Gzowski that the establish-
ment of a large arsenal in Canadian terri-
tory, where every description of armament
and ammunition might be manufactured or
repaired, would be a very wise precaution.
He counted the cost, prepared elaborate

- plans, and even fixed upon what he believed

to be the most. appropriate site. Full of
this scheme, he proceeded to England, where
he submitted it to the War Secretary and-
other prominent members of the Imperial
Government. Its liberality created much
surprise among all to whom it was broached,
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for Mr. Gzowski proposed to provide capital
for the construction and equipment of the
entire establishment, subject to certain very
reasonable stipulations. The project was
taken into careful consideration by the Gov-
ernment, and for some time it seemed not
unlikely to be carried out. It was finally
concluded, however, that for certain diplo-

matic reasons, it would be undesirable to-
-proceed with it; but full justice was done

to Mr. Gzowski’s unbounded liberality and
public spirit, and he was assured that the
Government were not insensible to the mu-
nificence of his proposal. From this time
forward he began to interest himself in mili-
tary matters. He took a very active part
in developing the Rifle” Association of the

Provinece of Ontario, and erelong became its

President. He subsequently became Presi-
dent of the Dominion Rifle Association, and
was instrumental in sending the first team
of representative Canadian riflemen from
this Province to England in 1870, to take
part in the annual military operations at
Wimbledon. A team has ever since been
sent over annually by the Dominion, and
Mr, Gzowski has generally made a point of
accompanying them himself. In November,
1872, as a mark of appreciation of his ser-
vices in connection with the devélopment
of the Rifle Association, he was appointed

" Lieutenant-Colonel of the Central Division

of Toronto Volunteers; and in May, 1873,

. became a Lieutenant-Colonel on the staff.

His last and highest promotion came to’him
in May, 1879, when he was appointed Aide-
de-Camp to Her Majesty Queen Victoria. -

- For many years past Colonel Gzowski
has been the possessor of large means, ac-
quired by his own industry and talents, and
sufficient to enable him to indulge in a dig-
nified repose for the remainder of his life.
He is, however, possessed of a stirring ner-
vousness of temperament which impels him
to action, and has never ceased to engage in
engineering projects of greater or less mag-

-

nitude. This sketch would be very incom-

plete without some reference to an enterprise .

which is entitled to rank among the grand-
est public works of the Dominion ; viz., the
International-Bridge over the Niagara River
at Buffalo. The charters for the construc-
tion of this great enterprise were granted
by the Legislature of Canada and the State
of New York as far back as the year 1857,
but were permitted to lie dormant owing to
the difficulty of obtaining the funds neces-
sary to carrying out so gigantic a project.

The capital was at last raised in England

in 1870, and the contract was let to Colonel
Gzowski and his partner, the Hon. D. L.
Macpherson, who forthwith began the work
of construction. The engineering difficul-
ties to be encountered were very great, and
at certain seasons of the year the work had
to. be totally suspended. The bridge was
finally completed and opened for the passage
of trains on the 3rd of November, 1873,
and the entire cost of construction was
about $1,500,000. It stands as a perpetual
memorial of the great skill and enterprise
of the contractors. After its’ completion
Colonel Gzowski wrote and published a full
account of the enterprise from its inception,
accompanied by elaborate plans and illus-
trations. Sir Charles Hartley, in a work
published in England in 1875, bears testi-
mony to the fact that “the chief credit in
overcoming the extraordinary difficulties
which beset the building of the piers of
this bridge is due to Colonel Gzowski, upon
whom all the practical operations devolved.”
A still higher testimony comes from Mr.
Thomas Elliott Harrison, President of the
(British) Institute-of Civil Enéineers, who,
in an annual address read before the Insti-
tute on his election to the Presidency in the
session of 1873-4, referred to the Inter-
national Bridge as one of the most gigantic

engineering works on the American conti-_
nent, and made a special reference to the -

difficulties met with in subaqueous foun-
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dations, as described in Colonel Gzowski’s
volume. :

Colonel Gzowski’s career in Canada has
been one of extraordinary success, but any
one who has watched its progress will admit
that his success has been chiefly due to his
high personal qualifications. In politics he
has acted with the Conservative Party, but
he is known for the moderation of his views,
" and has never identified himself with any
of the purely party factions of the time.
Though frequently importuned to enter
public life he has hitherto refrained from
doing so, preferring to confine his attention
to professional and financial enterprises.
He has a luxurious home in Toronto, where
he occasionally dispenses a sumptuous hos-
pitality, and where he appears perhaps to
greater advantage than elsewhere. He has
entertained most of the .Governors-General

S—

of his time, all of whom have been num-
bered among his personal friends. Of late
years much of his leisure has been passed
in England, where several of his children
reside, and where he has many warm friends.
He has been honoured with special marks
of the royal favour, and might doubtless, if
so disposed, aspire to high dignities. Her
Majesty has not a more loyal subject than
Colonel Gzowski, and should occasion arise
he would, we.doubt not, buckle on his sword
in defence of British and Canadian rights no
less readily than he embarked his all, half a
century ago, on behalf of the nation to which
he belongs by right of birth.

On the 29th of October, 1839, he married
Miss Maria Beebe, daughter of an eminent
American physician. This lady, by whom

he has had five sons and three daughters,-
. still mﬁves.
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THEODORE HARDING RAND,

R. RAND, who has long been one of the
foremost educationists in the Maritime
Provinces, was born at the seaport town of
Cornwallis, situated on an arm-of the Basin
of Minas, King’s County, Nova~Scotia, in
the year 1835. His life has been passed in
educational pursuits, and affords but few in-
cidents for biographical purposes. His boy-
hood and early youth were spent in attend-
ing the common schools, whence he passed
to the Horton Collegiate Academy. After
spending some time as a student at the last-
named seat of learning he became a teacher
there. He also entered the University of
Acadia College, where he graduated in the

" honours course in 1860. During the same

year he was appointed to the Chair of Eng-
lish and Classics in the Provineial Normal
School at Truro, where he distinguished him-
self by his enthusiastic devotion to his work,
and by his mtelho'ence aptitude and zeal in
developing the best methods of instruction.
In 1863 he received his Master’s degree from
the University of Acadia College. His Doc-
tor’s degree is honorary, and was conferred
upon him by the same institution in 1874.

Upon the passing of the Educational Act

‘of 1864, the subject of this sketch was se-

lected by the Govgrnment of th& day for
the position of Provincial Superintendent of
Education. Up&h him accordingly devolved
the task of putting the new law into opera-
tion. The Act QI 1864 was one of the most
1mporta.nt meastires, bearing on the moral

A.M., D.C.L.

and material interests of the Province, that
was ever introduced there. “It struck at
the very root of most of the evils which

- tend to depressthe intellectual energies and
- moral status of the people.

It introduced
the-genial light of knowledge into the dark
recesses of ignorance, opened the minds of
thousands of little ones—the fathers and
mothers of coming generations—to a per-

ception of the true and the beautiful, and °

placed Nova Scotia in the front rank of
countries renowned for common school edu-
cational advantages.” * Previous to the
time when it came into operation the school
system of the Province was pitiably ineffi-
cient. Its inefficiency was startlingly de-
monstrated by the census of 1861, from
which it appeared that more than one-fourth
of theentire population of the Provinee
were unable to read. Of 83.000 children
between the ages of five and fifteen, there
were 36,000 who were unable to read. A
large majority of the children in the Prov-
ince did not attend school, and did not re-
ceive any educational training whatever.
Teachers were poorly paid and inefficient.
The schoolhouses were frequently unhealthy,
and were almost always uncomfortable and
unsightly. To Dr.—now Sir Charles—Tup-
per, belongs in great measure the credit of
having brought about a more satisfactory
state of things. It was by his Ministry that

* See “ Nova Scotia, in its Historical, Mercantile and
Industrial Relations ;” by Duncan’Campbell ; p. 427.
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I

the Educational Act of 1864 was passed, and
he himself, though well aware that he seri-
ously risked his popularity by promoting
it—for it introduced direct taxation—re-
peatedly declared that even if it should cost
him place and power he would regard its
introduction as the crowning act of his pub-
lic life. After some negotiation between
himself and Messrs. Archibald @nd Annand,
the leading members of the Opposition, it
was agreed that party differences should for
the nonce be laid aside, and that the Educa-
tion Act should become law.

Such was the state of affairs at the time
when Mr. Rand was appointed to the office
of Superintendent of Education: For some
time his task was no light one, for the law
was unpopular among the masses, who ab-
horred the idea of direct taxation. He ap-
plied himself o his duties with great energy,
and travelled the Province from end -to
end, disputing, arguing, and finally convin-
cing. He found, however, that some clauses

.-of the Act were impracticable, and others

unnecessary. He prepared a measure which
formed the basis of the amended Act of 1865.
His energy and vigour carried all before
them, and he soon had the satisfaction of
seeing opposition disappear. \%,Journal of
Education was established, a hew and uni-
form series of school books was introduced,
and commodious schoolhouses were erected.
A system of examination and of grading
was introduced by Mr. Rand,-and his plan
was s0 well thought of that its main features
have been adopted in other Provinces of the
Dominion.

He continued to fill the position of Super-
intendent of Education in Nova Scotia du-
ring five and a half busyyears. In 1870 he
was removed from office “apparently for
political reasons, and under circumstances
which created a great deal of dissatisfaction
at the time amongst the friends of education
in the Province.” After his retirement he
proceeded to Great Britain, chiefly with a

view to acquiring additional knowledge on
educational matters, and to familiarizing
himself by observation with the practical
working of the English school system. Du-
ring his absence he visited many important
schools in England, Scotland and Ireland,
and had conferences with some of the lead-
ing educationists of the realm. =
.In 1871 the New Brunswick Legislature
passed an Act, to come into operation on the
1st of January, 1872, introducing the Free
School system into that Province. The pro-
visions, of this Act were very similar to
those of the Nova Scotia measure, and Mr.
Rand’s success in introducing the system
into the adjoining Province had been such
that it was deemed desirable to secure his
services in New Brunswick. In Septem-
ber, 1871, three months before the Act came
into force, he Wwas offered the position of

Chief Superintendent of Edugation for New

Brunswick by the Government of the day.
He accepted, and entered upon his duties
with his accustomed energy. He has ever
since filled the position, and persons who
are entitled to speak with authority aver
that he has done for education in New
Brunswick all, and more than all, that he
had previously accomplished for education
in Nova Scotia. now enjoys the dis-
tinction of havingfg'zught into operation in
two Provinces an enduring and efficient
system of public educaticn.

He is President of the Educational Insti-
tute of New Brunswick, and a member of
the Senate of the Provimcial University.
The Baptist Convention of the Maritime
Provinces (of which, in 1875-6, he was Presi-
dent) elected him in 1877 one of the Gover-
nors of the University of Acadia College.
His time is entirely devoted to his educa-
tional duties, and he has reason for self-
gratulation at the satisfactory results which
have attended his efforts in the two Prov-
inces which have been the sceme of his
labours.
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THE HON. MATTHEW CROOKS CAMERON.

R. CAMERON was for many years the
best-known Nisi Prius lawyer at the
Bar of his native Province, and his personal
appearance is familiar to a greater number
of persons than is that of any professional
man in western Canada. For some years
prior to his elevation to the Bench he was
also prominent in political life, but it was
at the Bar that his greenest laurels were won,
and it is by his professional achievements
that he will be longest remembered. He
was born at Dundas, in the county of Went-
worth, on the 2nd of October, 1822. His
father, the late Mr. John MecAlpin Cameron,
was, as his name’ imports, of Celtic stock.
The latter emigrated from the Highlands of
Scotland to Upper Canada in 1819, and set-
tled at Dundas, where he engaged in com-
mercial pursuits. In 1826 he became Dep-
uty Clerk of the Crown for the Gore District,
and removed to Hamilton. He subsequent-
ly entered the service of the Canada Com-
pany, and remained in it for many years.
He died at his home in Toronto, at an ad-
vanced age, in 1866. His wife, the mother
of the subject of this sketch, was English
She was a native of the county of North-
umberland, and her maiden name was Miss
Nancy Foy. She died in' Toronto many
years ago. -

The subject of thls sketch was the young-
est of his family, and was the only mem-
ber of it born on this side of the Atlantic.
He was named after Mr. Matthew Crooks,

of Ancaster, a brother of the Hon. James
Crooks, and an uncle of the present Minister
of Education. At the time of the removal
of the family from Dundas to Hamilton he
was about four years of age; and he soon
afterwards began to attend his first school,
which was a small local establishment pre-
sided over by a Mr. Randall. Later, he
was placed at the Home District Grammar
School, on the corner of Newgate and New
Streets—now Adelaide and Ja.rvis Streets
—Toronto, where many boys who subse-
quently became distinguished in Canadian
public life received their early training.
In 1838 he entered Upper Canada College,
where he remained nearly two years. His
educational career was cut short in 1840 by
an accident which was destined to affect the
whole course of his future life. One day,
while out shooting with two of his school-
fellows in the neighbourhood of Toronto,
one of the latter, who does not seem to have
been a very skilful marksman, carelessly
fired off his gun at an inopportune mo-
ment, and young Cameron received the
charge in his ankle, part of the joint of
which. was completely blown away. He
was conveyed home, and was confined to
his room for months. It was out of the
question that he should ever recover the
perfect use of his disabled aikle, and it was
announced to him that he must never hope
to walk again without the assistance of a

crutch. It must have been a cruel blow to -
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him, for he was a boy of joyous nature, full
of activity and life, and by no means given
to injuring his health by close application
to his studies. From this time forward his
babits and train of thought underwent a
change. There were no more frivolity and
\ thoughtlessness, no more shooting expedi-
tions, no more of the active sports and pas-
times of happy boyhood. Life, thencefor-
ward, was to. be contemplated from its
serious side. He did not return to college.

»  His choice of the legal profession was largely
due to the fact that his two elder brothers,
John and Duncan, had already embraced
that calling. He entered the office of Messrs.
Gamble & Boulton, barristers, of Toronto,
and served the term of his articles there.
He studied with much diligence, and gave
evidence of great aptitude for his chosen
, profession. In Trinity Term, 1848, he was
F ‘ admitted as an attorney and solicitor, and
' in Hilary Term of 1849 he was called to

-

the Bar. .
1 He at once began to go on circuit, and he
had not been many months at the Bar be-
l fore he was in the very front rank. When
r - it is borne in mind that his competitors were
such men as Henry Eccles, Jobn Hillyard
Cameron, Philip Vankoughnet, and the pres-
© ent Mr. Justice Hagarty, it will be admitted
that a young man who could hold his own
against such rivals must have possessed
exceptional abilities. Mr. Cameron’s most
~ salient qualifications consisted of a com-
petent knowledge of his profession, a subtle
power of analyzing evidence, a ready com-
mand of language, an impressive utter-
ance and delivery, and—more than all—
a manner whicli was open and confiden-
tial without being familiar, and which to
most 